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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Star Plus Legend Holdings
Limited, | hereby present the first annual report of the Group for
FY2023 since the successful listing of the Shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange on 13 July 2023.

VALUE AND MISSION OF OUR COMPANY

We continue to revolve around the “IP-driven traffic + all-domain
marketing” dual-core business model. We are committed to creating
unique celebrity Intellectual Properties (IPs) and producing diverse
IP content to generate our own traffic. This approach allows us to
promote our own products through IP empowerment while leveraging
the popularity of our celebrity IPs and IP content to drive business
growth for our business partners and, at the same time, fully utilize
and monetarise the value of our celebrity IPs. This unique business
model has continued to be the driving force behind our growth in
the past years and we are committed to our strategies to solidify and
replicate the success of our business model.

MAJOR DEVELOPMENT IN 2023

During the Reporting Period, the Group has seen success with
further development of its IP creation and operation business.
Our IP creation and operation segment experienced rapid growth,
resulting in an impressive 82.9% increase in revenue compared to
the previous year. The achievement was mainly attributable to the
successful launch of J-Style Trip I (J& #% 2 2) which was aired on
Zhejiang Satellite TV (37T 748 ) and various online platforms. The
program received positive response as soon as it was launched. In
particular, the first episode of J-Style Trip 1l has achieved the highest
viewership rating among all TV programmes broadcasted during
the same timeslot on that day. We have also cooperated with China
Mobile to launch the digital human (2(%5 A ) of Mr. Jay Chou in the
China Mobile Metaverse Industry Alliance (71 B % h 7t 57 85 B 3 Bt
8). It marked our first step into the ecosystem of “metaverse” (7T
) and paved the way for the development of our IP programmes
and contents into a new dimension. We also developed a series of
artificial intelligence systems, which is expected to further enhance
the efficiency in our creation of IP content relating to the metaverse
and other aspects.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFREERE

Additionally, our collaboration with Mr. Liu Keng-hung has led to the
creation of several related IPs, including “Coach Liu (Z12(4k)” and
“Will & Vivi Girls & Boys (218 7= 5 1 2 B 2R 2 #%)". Leveraging
on the success of these IPs, we have also introduced various sports
products featuring IPs related to Mr. Liu Keng-hung and Ms. Vivi
Wang. Our success in creating the unique celebrity IPs have not
only boosted our product sales but also allow us to generate revenue
through collaborations with third-party brand owners. Furthermore,
our investments in sale and promotion through media platforms such
as Douyin have further driven our sales through public domain. All
of these achievements had showcased the success of our unique
business model.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

One of our key developments is our recent partnership with Migu
Music (B & £4) in launching our video ringtones (1% $8 %
$2) subscription channel on the China Mobile Integrated Media
Platform (9 B % ) it # 88 - &) where we will publish a range of
video ringtones featuring our celebrity IPs for subscribed users to
download. The digital human (&% A) of Mr. Jay Chou was also
appointed as the ambassador for promoting 5G video ringtones
on the platform. Through the establishment of our video ringtones
subscription channel and publishing of our unique video ringtones,
together with online and offline activities relating to our celebrity IPs,
we aim to enhance user engagement, generate additional IP licensing
income, and create sustainable income by promoting different IP
content to our subscribed users from time to time. Going forward,
we will consider collaborating with third parties to launch unique
video ringtones, with an aim to further monetise our celebrity IPs and
expand the reach of our brand and target audience.

In addition, we will continue to invest in the production of traditional
IP content, including the upcoming music-themed variety show,
namely, Yue Lai Yue Kuai Le (££3R 4418 %%) in collaboration with
Mr. Harlem Yu which is scheduled to air in the first half of 2024. We
also plan to participate in various online and offline concerts and
performance events, including Mr. Jay Chou’s Carnival World Tour,
fitness-related performance event (& & 3 4 %) featuring Mr. Liu
Keng-hung and Ms. Vivi Wang, as well as virtual concerts through the
metaverse JLF 5 .
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Building on our experience in comprehensive development and
operation of celebrity IPs, we continue to expand our portfolio of
celebrity IPs. We have recently entered into cooperation with Mr.
Eric Suen Yiu Wai and will be involved in originating and planning
of his public persona and performances through social media,
live-streaming, short videos and other offline activities. We are
also contemplating the launch of certain pet-related products in
collaboration with Mr. Eric Suen Yiu Wai and his related celebrity IPs.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my appreciation to our
dedicated team for their hard work and commitment in achieving the
outstanding results. We shall remain focused on creating value for our
shareholders and delivering exceptional products and experiences
to our customers and business partners. We are confident that our
strategic initiatives will drive continued growth and success for our
Company in future.

Ma Hsin-Ting
Chairperson and Executive Director
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEFWE S

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business operations of the Group consist of two major segments,
namely (i) the new retail segment, where the Group primarily
develops and sells health management and skincare products
through various online and offline channels; and (ii) the IP creation
and operation segment, where the Group creates and/or manages
celebrity IPs, provides planning and management services to the
production of media contents and events and licenses its celebrity
IPs and sells related products.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to record
significant growth in its IP creation and operation business. Revenue
generated from such business segment has increased significantly
from RMB104.1 million for FY2022 to RMB190.4 million for FY2023,
representing an increase of approximately 82.9%. One of the major
IP programmes of the Group, J-Style Trip || (JE#%52 2), a 12-episode
reality show starring Mr. Jay Chou, has been aired on Zhejiang
Satellite TV (37T 747 ) and various online platforms from November
2023 to February 2024. During its airing on Zhejiang Satellite TV,
J-Style Trip |l recorded an average viewership rating of 1.15%, with
its first episode achieving the highest viewership rating among all
TV programmes broadcasted during the same timeslot on that day.
On the other hand, as the first step to tapping into the ecosystem of
“metaverse” (JLF H ) — a virtual-reality space in which users can
interact with a computer-generated environment and other users,
during FY2023, the Group has cooperated with China Mobile to
launch the digital human (£0% A) of Mr. Jay Chou in the China
Mobile Metaverse Industry Alliance (F B B) L FHE X8 H)
and developed a series of artificial intelligence systems to support
the Group’s upcoming development in the metaverse and creation of
other content.
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In respect of new retail business, the Group continued to leverage
the empowerment of its unique celebrity IPs to enhance the sales
of its products. Based on the market research conducted by China
Insights Consultancy (%97 %& #), the Group’s flagship product —
MODONG coffee (& R W BF) continued to rank first (in terms of
sales and sales volume) in the bulletproof drink market in the PRC in
2023. Another featured product of the Group — Matcha Powder also
ranked first (in terms of sales and sales volume) among the natural
food powder products on Douyin online store. With respect to sales
and distribution of its products, the Group continued its cooperation
with Mr. Liu Keng-hung, Ms. Vivi Wang and other KOLs (key opinion
leaders) in, among other things, the promotion of products of the
Group in their livestreaming sessions, online short videos and/or
other online and offline performances, thereby boosting the Group’s
sales through online stores on various e-commerce platforms. The
revenue of the Group attributable to sales through other e-commerce
channels increased from RMB40.7 million in FY2022 to RMB49.4
million in FY2023. The Group believes that, with its quality products
and diversified distribution channels, as well as the promotional effect
of its celebrity IPs, it would be able to enhance the sustainability and
future growth of its new retail business.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Going forward, the Group will continue to commercialise its IP
portfolio by producing a variety of IP contents. For example, the
Group has recently entered into collaboration with Migu Music (&
= 44) the music platform under China Mobile, to launch a range
of video ringtones (18 #8 % §%) featuring its celebrity IPs such as
J-Style Trip || (JEi#E5C 2), whereby users may download and use as
his/her own ringtone. The Group also intends to create unique video
ringtones as part of the promotional services to be offered together
with its celebrity IP management business. The Group believes that,
by offering a wide range of IP contents from different dimension,
it would also create synergy effects in promoting its IP portfolio.
For celebrity IP management business, the Group has recently
entered into cooperation with Mr. Eric Suen Yiu Wai in respect of his
entertainment and performance business in the PRC, and will launch
the solo concert tour for him this year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In addition, the Group also intends to be involved in the investment
and/or planning of various online and offline events and
performances, including the Jay Chou Carnival World Tour 2024 in
certain cities in the PRC, fitness-related performance events (% &
324 %) featuring Mr. Liu Keng-hung and Ms. Vivi Wang and virtual
concerts through the “metaverse” (JTF &). In terms of media
contention creation, it is expected that Yue Lai Yue Kuai Le (%£7&
ZRE4) 3 music talk show centered around Mr. Harlem Yu, will be
aired in the first half of 2024.

For new retail business, the Group will continue to sustain its
business growth through upgrading its existing products and
diversifying its product offerings and to create promotional effect
through empowerment by its celebrity IPs. In particular, the Group
is contemplating to launch certain pet food and other pet-related
products in collaboration with Mr. Eric Suen Yiu Wai and his related
celebrity IPs. On the other hand, the Group will continue to promote
its brand awareness to drive product sales through online stores on
various e-commerce platforms. The Group has been expending the
operation team for its e-commerce operation and intends to further
devote in the promotion and sale of its products through e-commerce
livestreaming sessions and short videos on such online platforms.

In October 2023, the Group has entered into a long-term lease in
respect of a building located at Chaoyang district in Beijing with
a view to establish a base for the sale and promotion of its IP-
related products as well as the expansion of the collaboration with
its business partners through the empowerment by the Group’s
proprietary unique celebrity IPs. Going forward, the Group will
endeavor to enter into collaboration with different brands and
business and also utilise the marketing and promotion effect of
the Group’s celebrity IPs and the associated IP contents to create
synergies.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of RMB430.2 million for FY2023
(FY2022: RMB344.2 million), representing an increase of
approximately 25.0% as compared to the revenue of the Group
for FY2022. The increase was mainly attributable to the revenue
generated from the IP creation and operation business of the Group
from RMB104.1 million for FY2022 to RMB190.4 million for FY2023.

New retail business

The new retail business continued to be the largest business
segment of the Group during the Reporting Period. Revenue from the
Group’s new retail business remained stable at RMB239.8 million
in FY2023 (FY2022: RMB240.1 million). The new retail business of
the Group continued to benefit from the Group’s effort in expansion
of distribution channels particularly, the expansion into sales through
e-commerce livestreaming sessions and online short videos since late
2021. The revenue of the Group attributable to sales through other
e-commerce channels increased from RMB40.7 million in FY2022 to
RMB49.4 million in FY2023. On the other hand, the Group continued
to pursue its strategy in upgrading and expanding its product
offerings. For example, during FY2023, the Group has launched an
upgraded version of some of its major products, including MODONG
herb beverage and MODONG probiotics lyophilized powder.

IP creation and operation business

The Group recorded a significant increase in the revenue from its
IP creation and operation business from RMB104.1 million for
FY2022 to RMB190.4 million for FY2023, representing an increase
of approximately 82.9%. Such increase was primarily attributable to
revenue generated from (i) the license fees and advertising income
of RMB84.1 million generated from the airing of J-Style Trip |l (JE#%
7C2) on Zhejiang Satellite TV (47 )Z#&74% ), Netflix and other online
platforms; (ii) the cooperation with China Mobile in relation to the
launch of digital human (% A) of Mr. Jay Chou in the amount
of RMB11.3 million; and (iii) e-commerce livestreaming sessions
conducted on the Group’s Douyin account for the promotion of
products of third party brand owners (including sale commissions,
publication fee ($LfiZ£) and tips from audience (3T U A) in the
amount of RMB22.1 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Cost of revenue

The Group recorded a cost of revenue of RMB153.9 million for
FY2023 (FY2022: RMB121.3 million), representing an increase of
approximately 26.9% as compared to that of FY2022. Such increase
was primarily due to the increase in (i) cost of TV programme right
from nil in FY2022 to RMB30.6 million in FY2023, mainly due to the
cost attributable to the airing of J-Style trip Il (JE#5 52 2); and (ii) cost
of goods sold from RMB76.6 million in FY2022 to RMB81.1 million
in FY2023 primarily due to the increase in the proportion of revenue
attributable to sale through online channels as the pricing of the
products sold through such channels are relatively competitive.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of RMB276.3 million (FY2022:
RMB222.8 million), representing an increase of approximately
24.0% from that of FY2022. Such increase was primarily attributable
to the increase in revenue generated from IP creation and operation
business. Gross profit margin of the Group remained stable at 64.2%
in FY2023 as compared to the gross profit margin of 64.7% in
Fy2022.

Selling and marketing expenses

For FY2023, the selling and marketing expenses of the Group was
RMB112.3 million (FY2022: RMB72.4 million), representing an
increase of approximately 55.1% from the corresponding period
in 2022. Such increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase
in advertising and marketing expenses from RMB17.6 million in
FY2022 to RMB43.6 million in FY2023 primarily arising from (a)
marketing events organized during FY2023 including a five-day
conference tour in Malaysia and the distributors’ annual event and
listing celebration event in Beijing, (b) advertising expenses for the
sale of products through public channels, and (c) sponsorship of
the concert of Alan Walker; and (ii) the increase in employee benefit
expenses from RMB19.3 million in FY2022 to RMB32.3 million in
FY2023 as the Group has increased the headcounts for the operation
of online and e-commerce platforms such as the e-commerce
livestreaming sessions conducted on the Group’s Douyin account.
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General and administrative expenses

The Group recorded general and administrative expenses of
RMB106.6 million for FY2023 (FY2022: RMB64.1 million),
representing an increase of approximately 66.3% from the
corresponding period in FY2022. Such increase was mainly
attributable to (i) increase of listing expenses from RMB10.1 million
in FY2022 to RMB31.9 million in FY2023; (ii) increase in employee
benefit expenses from RMB32.2 million in FY2022 to RMB38.2
million in FY2023; and (iii) increase in other administrative expenses
due to expansion of the Group’s business.

Profit for the year

For FY2023, the Group recorded profit of RMB41.4 million (FY2022:
RMB64.9 million) and a net profit margin of 9.6% (FY2022: 18.9%).
The decrease in net profit was mainly attributable to the increase in
listing expenses and selling and marketing expenses as discussed
above.

Adjusted net profit (non-HKFRS financial measures)

In addition to the consolidated financial results of the Group, which
is presented in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”), the Company also uses adjusted net profit
(non-HKFRS measures) to evaluate its operating performance.
The adjusted net profit of the Group is defined as net profit for
the year as adjusted by adding (i) listing expenses; and (ii) share-
based compensation expenses incurred by the Group. The following
table sets forth the adjusted net profit of the Group for FY2023 and
FY2022:
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ARETFIT AREFr

Profit for the year FERRF 41,411 64,898
Add: -

Listing expenses sl 31,930 10,059

Share-based compensation expenses VAR5 75 FL B8 A9 27 BN R 2 1,058 2,216

Adjusted net profit for the year FREREHMT 74,399 77,173
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THB WS Hh

The adjusted net profit of the Group for FY2023, after excluding
listing expenses and share-based compensation expenses
incurred, amounted to RMB74.4 million (FY2022: RMB77.2
million), representing a slight decrease of 3.6% as compared to the
corresponding period of FY2022. The adjusted net profit margin of
the Group for FY2023 was 17.3% (FY2022: 22.4%).

The Directors believe that the above non-HKFRS measures help to
identify underlying trends in the business of the Group and provide
useful information to investors and others in understanding and
evaluating the results of operation of the Group. However, the use
of non-HKFRS measures has material limitations as an analytical
tool. The presentation of non-HKFRS measures by the Group may
not be comparable to similarly named measures presented by other
companies. When assessing the operating and financial performance,
investors should not consider non-HKFRS measures in isolation
from or as a substitute for any financial performance measure that is
calculated in accordance with HKFRS.

Capital structure, liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued Shares was
801,887,500 Shares (31 December 2022: 542,914,624 Shares) of
US dollar 0.00001 each.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of RMB145.8 million (31 December 2022: RMB182.6 million), which
were mainly denominated in Renminbi. The management of the
Group would continuously monitor the cash and financial resources
available to the Group in order to support its operations. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings in the
amount of RMB10.0 million (31 December 2022: RMB15.0 million),
which was arising from a five-year mortgage loan entered into in 2021
for the purchase of office premises with a fixed interest rate 5.7% per
annum. Such mortgage loan is repayable by monthly installments.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a current ratio of 3.6 times
(31 December 2022: 1.3 times) and gearing ratio of 0.02 times (31
December 2022: 0.84 times).

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: same).
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Significant investment held
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
investments (31 December 2022: same).

Charges on the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2023, interest-bearing bank borrowings of the
Group of RMB$10.0 million (31 December 2022: RMB15.0 million)
was secured by certain properties of the Group.

Material acquisitions and disposals of assets, subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of assets, subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in Renminbi. The management of the Group considers that
the business is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk as it has no significant financial assets or liabilities that are
denominated in currencies other than the respective functional
currencies of its operating entities. The Group did not hedge against
any fluctuation in exchange rates of foreign currency during the
Reporting Period.

During FY2023, the Group recorded foreign exchange losses of
RMB3.2 million (FY2022: foreign exchange losses of RMB9.9
million), which was mainly arising from bank balances held by
offshore subsidiaries of the Company denominated in Renminbi as a
result of the devaluation of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars during the
Reporting Period.

Subsequent events after the reporting period

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no material event
affecting the Group since 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFEAEREEREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting, aged 48, joined the Group in November 2015
and is one of our founders. Ms. Ma was the chief executive officer
of Star Plus Cultural (Kunshan) Investment Company Limited (“Star
Plus (Kunshan)”) from November 2015 to August 2018. Ms. Ma was
appointed as the executive Director and chairperson of the Board
in September 2021, and has also been the chief executive officer
of Kunshan Star Plus Action E-Commerce Company Limited and
Beijing Star Plus Legend Cultural Development Company Limited
since March 2016 and June 2020, respectively. Ms. Ma is primarily
responsible for overall business strategy, daily management and
operations of the Group and has been responsible for overseeing the
sales function of the Group and the branding of our products. She
has also been heavily involved in the establishment of the distribution
system and network for MODONG coffee. Ms. Ma has more than
20 years of working experience in cultural, media and financial
industries.

Prior to founding the Group, Ms. Ma served in Taiwan Eastern
Broadcasting Co., Ltd. (EHREBERBEXER M B R A F)) from
December 1997 to April 2007, with her last position as news
producer, Ms. Ma served as consultant in a company held by IDG
Capital from August 2008 to March 2020, where she was primarily
responsible for providing investment-related advisory services. In May
2022, Ms. Ma was appointed as an expert of the Brand Committee
(A EZEER) of the New Retail and Livestream E-commerce
Expert Committee N EE M EEBEH ER L 8 €) established
by the Development Research Center of the State Administration for
Market Regulation.

Ms. Ma obtained a master’'s degree in marketing and distribution
management from National Kaohsiung University of Science and
Technology (formerly known as National Kaohsiung First University
of Science and Technology) in June 2003 and a college degree in
Japanese language from Wenzao Ursuline University of Languages
(formerly known as Wenzao Ursuline College of Languages (#.37 X
ERHNEFE X ERIEA)) in June 1995.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan, aged 60, joined the Group in April 2017
as a consultant of Star Plus (Kunshan) and was appointed as the
strategy officer of Star Plus (Kunshan) in August 2018. Dr. Qian was
appointed as the chief executive officer of Star Plus Development
Limited (“Star Plus Development”) in October 2020. Dr. Qian was
appointed as the chief executive officer and executive Director
in September 2021. Dr. Qian is primarily responsible for overall
business strategy and corporate finance strategy of the Group.
Dr. Qian has over 20 years of experience in financial market and
management of public companies.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Qian served as an associate in the
strategic trading division of Chase Manhattan Bank from December
1993 to July 1996; assaociate director in the risk finance group of
Barclays Capital, an investment bank, from July 1996 to February
2000; vice president in Sohu.com Limited (formerly known as Sohu.
com Inc.), the shares of which are listed on the Nasdaqg Stock
Market (NASDAQ: SOHU), a company principally engaged in brand
advertising and online games, from March 2000 to March 2004,
where he was in charge of strategising business plans. Dr. Qian
served as the president and chief financial officer of China Finance
Online Co., Ltd, the shares of which are listed on the Nasdaqg Stock
Market (NASDAQ: JRJC), a web-based financial information/service
company, from April 2004 to June 2006, where he supervised
works relating to finance, investors relations and administration. Dr.
Qian also served as the chief financial officer of Allyes Information
Technology Company Limited (% BB {5 B 5 1i7 ( £)8) BR A F)), a
company principally engaged in online marketing, from June 2006
to April 2007, where he supervised the financial operations of the
company; and the managing director of ExaByte Capital Management
(HK) Limited, an asset management company, from April 2012
to December 2016, where he participated in the formulation of
strategies.

Dr. Qian has served as an independent non-executive director of
Yoho Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2347) since May 2022.

Dr. Qian obtained a Doctor of Philosophy degree in astro-physics
from Columbia University in the United States in February 1991 and
a bachelor’s degree in physics from the University of Science and
Technology of China in June 1985.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREREBEE

Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki, aged 59, joined the Group in November
2015. Mr. Lai was appointed as the executive Director and chief
financial officer in September 2021. Mr. Lai is primarily responsible
for overall financial management and corporate finance strategy
of the Group. Mr. Lai has over 30 years of working experience in
accounting and financial advisory.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lai served at Citibank, N.A. from
October 1989 to September 2000, with his last position as vice
president of the worldwide securities services department; and
JPMorgan Chase & Co. from September 2000 to February 2008,
with his last position as executive director of the treasury & securities
services department, where he was responsible for providing
investment-related advisory services. Mr. Lai served as chief financial
officer of Net Movie Limited from March 2008 to March 2015, where
he was responsible for formulating the financial strategies; and the
general manager of each of Kunshan Dream World Commercial
Management Company Limited (R L2 R EEEHR A A)
from April 2015 to December 2017, and China Dream World (HK)
Limited from January 2018 to February 2021, respectively, which
were both engaged in cultural project management where he was
responsible for formulating financial strategies.

Mr. Lai served as an executive director of China Digital Culture (Group)
Limited, a company previously listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8175) from July 2016 to March 2020.

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor’s degree in computing studies from

Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1989.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung, aged 60, is one of our founders. Mr. Yang
was appointed as the non-executive Director in September 2021.
Mr. Yang is responsible for advising on the overall development
of the Group. Mr. Yang is an established music professional with
more than 30 years of experience in the music industry and artiste
management.

Mr. Yang has been the chief executive officer, director and
controlling shareholder of JVR Music International Ltd., the artiste
management company of various celebrities including Mr. Jay
Chou, since April 2007, where he is responsible for the provision of
artiste management service to celebrities and acted as the manager
of celebrities including Mr. Jay Chou. He also assists celebrities in
relation to the creation and production of songs and music albums.

Mr. Yang has been a non-executive director of G.H.Y Culture &
Media Holding Co., Limited since November 2020, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (SGX: XJB).

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in agricultural promotion from
Taiwan University in June 1987.

Mr. Chen, Chung, aged 63, is one of our founders. He was appointed
as the non-executive Director in September 2021. Mr. Chen is
responsible for advising on the overall development of the Group. Mr.
Chen has over 15 years of working experience in artiste management.

Mr. Chen has served as the general manager of Juicy Music Co Ltd
(EZE 418258 H R A R)), a company principally engaged in
artiste management, since 2005, where he has been responsible
for the negotiation of endorsement agreements for various artists,
including Mr. Jay Chou, and execution of concerts.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREREBEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Xue Jun, aged 49, joined the Group as the independent non-
executive Director in April 2023. Dr. Xue is responsible for providing
independent advice on the operation and management of the Group.
Dr. Xue has considerable professional experience in the legal field, in
particular, e-commerce related laws in the PRC.

Dr. Xue has been working at the Peking University since 2005 and
is currently a professor at the Law School of Peking University (1t 5=
K &) and the director of e-commerce law research center of Peking
University. In July 1996 and June 2000, Dr. Xue received a bachelor
of laws degree and master’s degree in civil and commercial laws from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (7 & B1 &8 BUA A 22)
(previously known as Zhongnan University of Political Science and
Law (AR B3 BOA 2B ) and Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law (71 5 Bf 48 BUSA K 2 respectively. In October 2005, Dr. Xue
obtained his doctorate in Roman law from Universita degli Studi di
Roma Tor Vergata.

Dr. Xue served as an independent non-executive director of Sino-
Ocean Service Holding Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6677) from
November 2020 to August 2022.

Mr. Yang, Dave De (former name: Yang Dezhi), aged 58, joined the
Group as the independent non-executive Director in April 2023.
Mr. Yang is responsible for providing independent advice on the
operation and management of the Group.

Mr. Yang served as the regional finance director for the North Asia
region of Reckitt Benckiser Group PLC, the shares of which are listed
on the London Stock Exchange (LON: RB), a company providing
hygiene, health and nutrition products, from September 2012 to
September 2016; and partner and chief financial officer of Dalton
International, from January 2017 to February 2019.

Mr. Yang served as an independent director and chairperson of the
audit committee of ChangYou.com Limited, a company previously
listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market (NASDAQ: CYOU) from April 2009
to April 2020; and has been an independent director and member of
the audit committee of Sohu.com Limited (formerly known as Sohu.
com Inc.), the shares of which are listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market
(NASDAQ: SOHU) since April 2017.
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Mr. Yang obtained a master’s degree in science from the City
University of New York in June 1995, a master’s degree in
management engineering from the University of Science and
Technology of China (9 B &I 2 £ 17 K &) in August 1989, and
bachelor’s degree in geophysics from the University of Science and
Technology of China in July 1986.

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee, aged 53, joined the Group as the
independent non-executive Director in April 2023. Ms. Chung is
responsible for providing independent advice on the operation and
management of the Group.

Ms. Chung is currently the chief executive officer and executive
director of Brillink Bank Corporation Limited and a director of Brillink
Fintech Limited. Prior to that, she was appointed as an executive
director and the chief executive officer of China Brilliant Global
Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8026) on 18 May 2018, and appointed as chief executive
officer and executive director of Paganini Milano (SG) PTE Limited
in 2017, responsible for brand positioning, strategic planning,
and business development. Ms. Chung was an employee of BOCI
Securities Limited and HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Limited from
April 2003 to April 2017. Ms. Chung has been appointed as a non-
executive director of InvesTech Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1087) since 3
January 2023.

Ms. Chung obtained a bachelor of science degree from Rutgers, The
State University of New Jersey in October 1994.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Please refer to “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management —
Executive Directors” for the biographical details information of Ms.
Ma, Hsin-Ting, Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan and Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai
Franki.

Ms. Zhou, Peimin, aged 46, joined our Group in April 2017 as a
consultant of Star Plus (Kunshan) and was appointed as the chief
operating officer of Star Plus (Kunshan) in April 2019 and director
and general manager of Beijing Star Plus Legend in August 2020.
Ms. Zhou was appointed as our chief operating officer in September
2021. Ms. Zhou is responsible for developing IP strategy and IP
licensing business and related daily management and operations
of our Group. Ms. Zhou has approximately 20 years of working
experience in retail industry and intellectual property related work.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Zhou worked in Shanghai SEB Electric
Appliances Co., Ltd. ( £/ EIEE [ G R A 7)), from July 2000 to
June 2003 and Adidas (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (B EHT (BRM) BR A
al), from October 2003 to December 2005. Ms. Zhou also served as
a senior manager of the Digital Business Development department in
The Walt Disney Company (China) Limited (¥4t (R ) BR
~8]) from January 2006 to March 2018.

Ms. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in computer science from
Shanghai University of Engineering Science ( /& T2 T A2 ) in
July 2000.

Mr. Chang, Chih-Peng, aged 55, joined our Group in April 2017
as a consultant of Star Plus (Kunshan) and was appointed as the
director and general manager of Beijing Star Plus Master and our
chief programme officer in December 2017 and September 2021,
respectively. Mr. Chang is responsible for developing entertainment
IP strategy and related daily management and operations of our
Group. Mr. Chang has more than 25 years of working experience in
program production.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chang was a producer of
entertainment programmes including The Fantastic Brothers ({(# 7
2 5)), which was aired from 1993 to 2000, and Hello Jacky ({45
FEfE)). Mr. Chang served as the general manager in Beijing Master,
a company principally engaged in production and distribution of
television and online program, from June 2012 to November 2017.
Mr. Chang also served as general manager in Shanghai Bright
Culture Broadcasting Company Limited ( B/ X EX /LEEER A
A]) from January 2008 to November 2017.

22 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

mRRERR
ABSLELLT B LT KRR LR
B BEM S FRSAEREE - HITEE -

ARkt 465 R2017F4ANMALER
REZEXA (BIL) EEER - XHR2019%4 8
BZEAEZEXAI(EWHNEREZE  UER
2020 F 8 R ELZ T AL REEETNERRAL
o FztR2021 FOA ST ARMNEREE
BE BAXTEBEMNTAEERNIPEEE XIPFFA
EBURBEHEETERREE BAREINEET
ERAEERAEIEAFBERO20F 8 TIEL
%ﬁo

RMAREEZ Al &2 720004 7 A 2 2003
FOATERRN LBBBERARLQF LN 2003F
10 A 220054 12 A {E B F e & 8 (BR M) B IR
NAE e R2006F1 A E2018F3 A AR LG
RERFEBELTE (FE) BRARETHFEBER
BB AR AL o

A5 2000 7 A S L8 TIR BT KB4 B
CLE R

REBRSESE - 5558 0 12017 F4 AMNAREE L
REZXAI(BIL) #EREM - R2017F12 5%
ZERLEREERRBEMNESTRAKLE - ¥ 12021
FOREZERKMMNAEFRHBEE - RELRR
HEAREBHREIPEIALEEAEEELE
B oSRSTAEEN R EWE T MR B 25 FH TR o

RIMAREE 2/ - REEETBRNI993FE
2000 F #& M (BB LR ) R AR B JH M) £ A EY
IREEET B RUEA - REAN 201256 FE2017 4
INNAEEERBE (—HIERERERETE
BEREE B R RF)) BEIE - R FE AN 2008F
IAE2017F 1 ATEFELEEXEXLERAR
NRIABEIE -



Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chang obtained a diploma in radio and television from National
School of Arts (now known as National Taiwan University of Arts (El
M EEBMARE)) in June 1990.

Mr. Fang, Wenshan, aged 55, joined our Group in February 2021 as
the chief cultural officer of Star Plus Development and was appointed
as our chief cultural officer in September 2021. Mr. Fang is
responsible for marketing and advertising the Group’s products and
creative strategy planning of our Group. Mr. Fang has approximately
20 years of working experience in songwriting and cultural creation.

Mr. Fang is a lyricist of Chinese pop music and a music producer.
Mr. Fang joined JVR Music in April 2007, where he was responsible
for songwriting; has served as the chief executive officer in Fang-
Wen-Shan Cultural Media Limited (FE X IIRAIE B R A A))
since August 2007, a company principally engaged in providing art
performance agency services, where he has been mainly responsible
for management and operations; the chairman of the board of EIf
Village Creative Land Company Limited (B EZEN HAIZEHEH
[R 2 A]) since March 2017, a company principally engaged in
manufacturing cultural and creative products and execution of art
exhibitions, where he has been mainly responsible for managing the
operation of the company; and the chief executive officer in Beijing
Fang-Wen-Shan Cultural Media Limited (b3 77 & 3 1L S b E 1
AR 2 7)) since February 2011, a company principally engaged in
providing artiste management services, where he has been mainly
responsible for managing the operation of the company. Mr. Fang
was involved in the creation of lyrics and cultural products at these
companies.

Mr. Fang received the best lyricist award for the 13th and 19th
Golden Melody Awards in 2002 and 2008, respectively.

Ms. Jiang, Xiuhong, aged 45, joined our Group in November 2017
as a consultant of Kunshan Star Plus Action and served as Kunshan
Star Plus Action’s operation director since March 2019 and was
responsible for the operation of its new retail business operations.
Ms. Jiang was appointed as our operation director in September
2021 and is responsible for managing product marketing and sales
strategies of our Group. Ms. Jiang has approximately 15 years of
working experience in sales industry.
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Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Jiang served as an assistant to the
operation director in Shenzhen Sanda Cosmetic Co., Ltd (GEIJIITH1IL
b M SRR B R A &), a company principally engaged in sales
of cosmetic products, from August 2007 to May 2010; the marketing
director of Guangzhou Cating Cosmetics Co., Ltd. (& M < 21t Ak
&h 8 FR A B1) from June 2010 to February 2017, where she was
responsible for handling the marketing activities; and the marketing
director of Guangzhou Qingcong Trading Co., Ltid. (BEMNSEEZE 5B
B2 72 &), a company principally engaged in social e-commerce, from
February 2017 to February 2019, where she was responsible for
handling promotion activities.

Ms. Jiang graduated from Shantou Nanhai Vocational High School in
July 1997.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lai, Ying Tung, was appointed as our company secretary on 28
December 2023. She is currently a manager of corporate services
of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited. Ms. Lai has approximately
eight years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and has
been providing a full range of corporate and compliance services.

Ms. Lai obtained a master’s degree in corporate governance from
Hong Kong Metropolitan University. She has been an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom since 2021.
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The Board presents the directors’ report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 3
January 2020 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company acts as an investment
holding company and the Group are principally engaged in new
retail business and IP creation and operation business in the PRC.
The principal activities of the Group are also set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The results of the Group for the FY2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 79 to 80.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on
page 200. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the FY2023, which includes
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the FY2023
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairperson’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance
using financial key performance indicators is included in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group is included in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. The business review forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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Environmental policies and performance

The Group strives to minimize its environmental impact by reducing
its carbon footprint in order to fulfill its social responsibility to
promote a sustainable environment. During the FY2023 and up to
the date of this annual report, the Group has not been subject to any
fines or other penalties due to non-compliance with environmental
regulations.

Details of the environmental policies and performance of the
Company can be found in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group is subject to applicable laws and regulations in the PRC in
respect of its business operations, including but not limited to those
relating to food production, sale and safety, cosmetics, e-commerce
activities and online livestreaming marketing. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, the Group has complied
in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for the
FY2023.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success depends on the support from its key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and suppliers.
The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring
relationship with its employees, providing quality services to its
customers and enhancing cooperation with its suppliers and business
partners.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets
of the Group. The Group has invested significant resources in
recruitment in order to attract suitable personnel the join the Group.
To reward and recognize high-performing staff, the Group offers
competitive remuneration package to its employees and provide
internal training programmes in order to promote career development
and progression.

As required by the laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group
participates in various government statutory employee benefit plans,
including social insurance funds, namely a pension contribution
plan, a medical insurance plan, an unemployment insurance plan, a
work-related injury insurance plan, a maternity insurance plan, and a
housing provident fund.
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Customers

The Group’s customers include distributors and end consumers for
its new retail business, and brand owners, TV stations, IP licensing
partners and online platform operators for its IP creation and
operation business. The Group is dedicated to providing quality goods
and excellent customer service in its cooperation with its customers.

Suppliers

The Group’s suppliers include selected third-party manufacturers
for its new retail business and event planning and management
companies for its IP creation and operation business. The Group
strives to maintain a stable relationship with its key suppliers in order
to derive cost effectiveness and long term business benefits.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the FY2023, less than 30% of the Group’s revenue were
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate.

For the FY2023, the percentage of cost of the Group attributable
to largest supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate were
approximately 30.6% and approximately 48.9%, respectively.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors, their close associates or
any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the number of Company’s issued shares) had an interest
in the five largest customers and five largest suppliers of the Group.
Close associate refers to the close associate of the Director not the
Shareholder.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 353 employees (31
December 2022: 250 employees), a majority of which are located
in the PRC. As required by the laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Group participate in various government statutory employee benefit
plans, including social insurance funds and housing provident funds.
The Group is required under the PRC laws to contribute to employee
benefit plans at specified percentages of the salaries, bonuses and
certain allowances of our employees up to a maximum amount
specified by the local government from time to time.

During FY2023, the Group incurred employee benefit expense
of RMB70.5 million (FY2022: RMB51.5 million). The Group’s
remuneration policy rewards employees and Directors based on
individual's performance, demonstrated capabilities, involvement,
market comparable information and the performance of the Group.
The Group has also adopted a share option scheme and may grant
options thereunder to, among others, its Directors, officers and
employees. In addition, the Group provides regular internal training
program to its employees, which covers topics on its business
operations, corporate culture, products and the industry trends etc.,
which will allow the employees to envision their career paths and
growth potential with the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plants and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the FY2023 are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital are set out in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities since the Listing
Date to 31 December 2023.
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DEBENTURES IN ISSUE
The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the FY2023.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the FY2023 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 26 of the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserve as at 31 December 2023 as
calculated under the Companies Act (As Revised), Cap 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to RMB338.5 million (FY2022: RMB136.8 million).

DIVIDENDS

Pursuant to a passed resolution of the Company on 13 June 2023,
special dividends of HK$60.0 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB54.0 million) out of the share premium account were declared
and paid to the Company’s shareholders.

The Directors do not recommend any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares during the
FY2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or
the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 25 June 2024 to Friday, 28 June 2024 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the right to attend and vote
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In order to be qualified
for attending and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
unregistered holders of Shares should ensure that all share transfer
documents accompanied by the corresponding share certificates are
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road
East Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
(Hong Kong time) on Monday, 24 June 2024.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the FY2023, the Group has made charitable contributions
in an aggregate amount of approximately RMB2.8 million (FY2022:
approximately RMBO.5 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 13 July 2023 by way of global offering (the “Global
Offering”). After deducting the underwriting fees and expenses
payable by the Company in connection with the Global Offering,
the net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering
amounted to approximately HK$252.8 million.
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The proceeds from the Global Offering are and will continuously be
applied in the same manner as set out in the Prospectus, namely:
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ERBEMFHRBRAR RSEBRARERME
BRI T S A - B

Net proceeds Net proceeds

utilised as at  unutilised as at
Amount of 31 December 31 December
Item net proceeds 2023 2023
2023 2023 F
12A31H 12A31H
FrifRIE CEBAMMRE XBEMKRE
HE p:3 ) RIEBE RIABE
(HK$ million)
(B&E¥%¥r)
Diversification of product portfolio ETILERES 60.2 6.9 53.3
Research and development of food HERmME S
and beverages 21.8 0.2 21.6
Research and development of skincare  fiff 2% & &
products 20.0 0.6 194
Research and development of other B B 0 37 E R AR
new product lines 10.5 4.2 6.3
Research and development of e = PR E MW
products associated with
proprietary IPs 79 19 6.0
Increase brand exposure and product BIMES RENK LBORE
sales on multi-channel network BAERERHE 774 10.1 67.3
Cooperation with selected key opinion  E2HkiE#IEASR = B 48 1
leaders (“KOL”) and/or placement of  ([KOLJ) &{ER sk #&
sale-based advertisement in KOL's KOLME A EHRILNK
e-commerce livestreaming sessions HERES 44.2 6.6 376
Development of proprietary MEERFEEME MES
livestreaming programmes and KOLMBERE R BEES
cultivation of KOLs and key opinion (KOC)
consumers (KOCs) 33.2 3.5 29.7
Creation of unique celebrity IPs and FEBSENHEIPRERIP
associated IP contents AE 70.2 47.8 22.4
IP content creation IPAARIE 46.8 345 12.3
Event planning EEIEE] 23.4 13.3 10.1
Upgrade of IT infrastructure and increase F+#R IT £ % 3% i R 1B N IT
the investment in IT development BARMBE 31.1 14.0 171
Working Capital BEEX 13.9 6.6 7.3
Total mit 252.8 85.4 167.4
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As at the date of this annual report, the Company does not anticipate
any material change to the above plan of use of the net proceeds
from the Global Offering. The Company anticipates that the remaining
unutilised net proceeds as at 31 December 2023 are expected to be
fully utilised on or before 31 December 2025.

DIRECTORS

The Directors since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting (Chairperson)

Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung
Mr. Chen, Chung

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Xue Jun

Mr. Yang, Dave De

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee

In accordance with Article 109(a) of the Articles, all Directors will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and all of them, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company and each of
the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company, all for an initial fixed term of three
years from 18 April 2023. The service contracts and the letters
of appointment are subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed in
accordance with our Articles of Association and the applicable Listing
Rules.

There was no service contract entered into/appointment letter signed
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any Directors to be re-
elected at the forthcoming AGM which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Directors nor entities connected with a Director had material
beneficial interest, directly or indirectly in any transaction and
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting as at 31 December
2023, or during FY2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective close associates had
any interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with
the Group’s business, which would require disclosure pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to 31
December 2023.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

On 29 May 2023, each of the Controlling Shareholders has entered
into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-competition”) in
favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries)
under which each of the Controlling Shareholders has, warranted and
undertaken to our Company that he/she/it shall not, and he/she/it
shall use his/her/its best endeavors to procure that none of his/her/its
close associates (other than any member of the Group) shall, directly
or indirectly as principal or agent, either on his/her/its own account or
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, or through any entities
(except in or through any members of the Group), compete with the
business of the Group as disclosed in the Prospectus.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company
of their compliance with the non-competition undertakings under
the Deed of Non-competition since the Listing Date and up to 31
December 2023. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the Deed of Non-competition and based on the information
and confirmations provided by or obtained from the Controlling
Shareholders, confirmed that they were not aware of any non-
compliance of the non-competition undertakings under the Deed of
Non-Competition.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the FY2023.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles, the Company has a permitted indemnity provision
(as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) in force for
the benefit of the Directors since the Listing Date and as at the date
of approval of this Directors’ report, pursuant to which the Company
shall indemnify any Director against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or
any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices,
except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their
own fraud or dishonesty. The Company has not taken out and may
take out and maintained appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its Directors and officers. During the
FY2023, no claims were made against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the FY2023, other than the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan
and the Share Option Scheme, which are set out in the sections
headed “Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan” and “Share Option Scheme”,
respectively in this Directors’ report, the Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’

REMUNERATION

In compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules, the Company has established the Remuneration
Committee to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives, make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for remuneration of all directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policies concerning such remuneration.
In determining the emolument payable to the Directors, the
Remuneration Committee shall consider the salaries paid by
comparable companies, the time commitment and responsibilities of
such position, the employment conditions elsewhere in the Group,
as well as the performance and contribution of the relevant Director
to the Company. Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the
five highest paid individuals are set out in note 8(c) and note 8(b),
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.
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SHARE SCHEMES

Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Shareholders on 3 August
2020, the Company approved and adopted the Pre-IPO Stock
Incentive Plan to grant awards to Directors, employees and other
service providers. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan is
to attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentives to the eligible persons under the plan and to promote the
success of the Company’s business. Up to the Listing Date, options
in respect of 33,217,009 Shares (as adjusted after the capitalization
issue on the Listing Date) were granted to 34 grantees under the Pre-
PO Stock Incentive Plan. The Company has not and will not grant
further options under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan after the
Listing Date. The terms of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan are not
subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does
not involve the grant of options or share awards by the Company after
the listing of the Shares on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan is to attract
and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentives to eligible persons and to promote the success of our
Company’s business. The participants of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive
Plan include (a) any person, including a director, who is in the
employment of the Company or any related entity, subject to the
control and direction of the Company or any related entity as to
both the work to be performed and the manner and method of
performance; (b) a member of the Board or the board of directors of
any related entity; and (c) any person (other than those mentioned
above, solely with respect to rendering services in such person’s
capacity as an employee or director) who is engaged by the Company
or any related entity to render consulting or advisory services to
the Company or such related entity. There is no restriction on the
maximum entitlement of each participant under the Pre-IPO Stock
Incentive Plan.
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No consideration is payable on acceptance of the grant of the
options under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan. The options granted
under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan shall vest in four (4) years.
The options representing 25% of the Shares shall vest on the first
anniversary of the vesting commencement date, with remaining
portions vesting in equal annual installments over next three (3)
years. Any option granted under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan
shall be exercisable at such times and under such conditions as
determined by the designated Director under the terms of the Pre-
IPO Stock Incentive Plan and specified in the award agreement.
The exercise or purchase price, if any, for an award granted under
the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan shall be determined by the
Administrator, subject to the terms of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive
Plan and the relevant instrument evidencing the agreement to the
grant of such award.

The Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan shall continue in effect for a term
of ten (10) years after the date of adoption by the Board. As at the
date of this report, the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan had a remaining
life of approximately 5 years and 5 months. No further option is
available for grant under the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan after the
Listing Date and as at the date of this annual report. Please refer to
the Prospectus for further details of the Pre-IPO Incentive Plan.
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The particulars of the outstanding options under the Pre-IPO Stock X /A 53 & i B0 B Bh 5t 81 T i AR 17188 BB AR 4

Incentive Plan are as follows: RIFEIBNT
Outstanding Number of options Outstanding
asat REsA asat
1 January Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 31 December Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant 2023 during the year  during the year  during the year 2023 Vesting period  Exercise period (HKS)
R2023F R2023F
1R1H 12R318 TR
EEA RHAM RETHE  FAEAE  FAEEH  FAEKY RETHE BEMH TR (87T
Director
]
Ms. Ma Hsin-Ting 3 August 2020 6,640,004 - - - 6,640,004 (Note 1) (Note 3) 143
(“Ms. Ma")
SLERT 2020%873A 1) (H#3)
([Hxt))
Employees 3 August 2020 26,311,005 - - (1995000 26,111,505 (Mote 1) (Note 3) 143
&5 2020%873A (1) (Hi3)
16 November 2020 266,000 - - - 266,000 (Note 1) (Note 3) 143
20205117168 (Hit1) (H#3)
Total 33,217,009 - - (1995000 33,017,509
a3
Notes: Hiat -

1. The options granted to each grantee shall be vested in four instalments, 1. BTFSARANBREES NGRS FIELE
25% of the option granted shall be vested on 3 August 2021, 2022, % HE ) 25% #5 7 B 2 2021 4 ~ 2022 4 ~ 2023 &
2023 and 2024, respectively. K 2024 F8 A3HERE -

2. The options granted to the grantee shall be vested in four instalments, 2. BTEABRANBEREESNEREE - FIELER
25% of the option granted shall be vested on 16 November 2021, B9 25% 1 5 B B2 2021 4F ~ 2022 4F ~ 2023 F K&
2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. 2024F 11 A 16 B8 -

3. The exercise period of the options shall commence from the end of the 3. BRENTEHEAEEEBEBHERERBESR

respective vesting period until the 10th anniversary of the date of grant, BREBHMETAFAIL WEBTHERAHAEE
subject to terms of the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Plan and the grant RTRRD BN AT SRR R A FIR A E R R @A -

notice given to the grantees.
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Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Shareholders on 19
June 2023, conditional upon the listing of the Shares on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and effective from the Listing Date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivize and
reward the eligible persons under the scheme for their contribution
to the Group and to align their interests with that of the Company as
so to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company. Persons eligible to participate the Share Option Scheme
are (i) any director and employee of any member of the Group; (ii)
any director or employee of any of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Group; and (iii) any
person (including an entity) that provides services to the Group on
a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of
business which are in the interests of its long term growth (the “Service
Provider(s)”).

The Share Option Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the Listing Date and shall expire on 12 July 2033. As
at the date of this report, the Share Option Scheme had a remaining
life of approximately 9 years and 4 months.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as of
the Listing Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Within the Scheme
Mandate Limit, the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted to the Service Providers
must not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue on the
Listing Date (the “Service Provider Sublimit”).
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As at the Listing Date and 31 December 2023 and the date of this
report, the number of options available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limited and Service Provider Sublimit were 80,000,000
Shares, and 8,000,000 Shares, respectively, representing
approximately 10% and 1%, respectively, of the total number of
Shares in issued as at the date of this report. The Company may
refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit
with Shareholders’ approval once every three years provided that the
total number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshment of the
Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, no options shall be granted
to any person eligible to participate the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company, which, if exercised,
would result in such person becoming entitled to subscribe for
such number of Shares as, when aggregated with the total number
of Shares already issued or to be issued to him under all options
granted to him (including exercise, canceled and outstanding
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of offer
of such options, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date or
such higher limit as the Stock Exchange may allow pursuant to a
waiver granted at the Stock Exchange’s discretion.

An offer of options shall be open for acceptance for such period
(not exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and from, the date of offer) as
the Board may determine and notify to person eligible concerned
provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after expiry
of the duration of the Share Option Scheme. An offer of options
not accepted within this period shall lapse. An amount of HK$1.00
is payable upon acceptance of the grant of an option and such
payment shall not be refundable and shall not be deemed to be a
part payment of the option price.
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Any option shall be vested on the grantee immediately upon his
acceptance of the offer of options, subject to any vesting schedule
and/or conditions specified in the offer of the option.

Any vested option under the Share Option Scheme which has not
lapsed and which conditions have been satisfied or waived by
the Board in its sole discretion may, unless the Board determines
otherwise in its absolute discretion, be exercised at any time from
the next business day after the offer of options has been accepted.
Any option which remain unexercised shall lapse upon the expiry of
the option period, which period shall be determined by the Board
and shall not exceed 10 years from the offer date of the option or
such longer period as the Stock Exchange may allow pursuant to a
waiver granted at the Stock Exchange’s discretion. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of
options to a grantee, there is no minimum period required under the
Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised.

The offer price of the Shares under the Share Option Scheme will
be a price determined by the board, but shall not be less than
the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of offer of the
option; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.

Since the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, no share options have

been outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules were as follows:

(A) Long positions in the Shares
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EFERE

ESREETHRAEBRETLAFIREM
BEEZRD HRERGHREEEZ
HERRE

B ZE2023F12H31H  ARAIEFR&E®ITH
ABRARBHEEBEE (EXRBFLYE
fERBIEXVER) Z Befn - AR R EEE R RE
B RHEHRIEXNVEE7 RSN RAMEAR
AR (BRRRERES KB GRIIERE KX
BEREFRRIERB 2BEPRE) HIREE
7 M HIE R 01 5 352 1R B & i O a% I Pt B e
FHARIE LT AR RIS CIAFTEIR TR E AR
A MR Pz s FOR BT -

(A) MBBBFE

Percentage of
issued share

Number of capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held (Note 6)
HEBT
58 & =R 054
EFENR BaKE Bin®E (H1ate)
Ms. Ma (Notes 1 and 5) Interest in controlled corporation 199,302,054 24.85%
Bzt (MiF1k5) REE LB
Interest of party acting in concert 265,736,072 33.14%
—BITHATHER
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan (“Dr. Qian”) Beneficial owner 9,965,103 1.24%
(Note 2)
SEhLiET (T8ET]) (#iE2) EmHAA
Interest of spouse 13,206,742 1.65%
[T ey
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Percentage of
issued share

Number of capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held (Note 6)
HERT
Fri5H BEBESL
EENR i k=331 2 4= (Htite6)
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki (“Mr. Lai") Beneficial owner 99,651,027 12.43%
FEREE A ([FE5EED) EnBBA
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung (“Mr. Yang”) Interest in controlled corporation 199,302,054 24.85%
(Notes 3 and 5)
Bk EE ([BEE]D (B3 K5) REEEE O S
Interest of party acting in concert 265,736,072 33.14%
—BITHATHER
Mr. Chen Chung (“Mr. Chen”) Interest in controlled corporation 66,434,018 8.28%
(Notes 4 and 5)
BRA S (TR AL (a4 K 5) REEEE O S
Interest of party acting in concert 398,604,108 49.71%
—BITHATHER
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee Beneficial owner 150,000 0.02%
EEHEL T EnMAA
Notes: Kiaz -
1. In accordance with the SFO, Ms. Ma has total interest in 1. BEBHEREBEEGHN BLLtadHER

465,038,126 Shares, of which 265,736,072 Shares are held by
other parties acting in concert and 199,302,054 Shares are held
by Harmony Culture Investment Limited (“Harmony Culture”)
which is wholly owned by Ms. Ma. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Ma
is deemed to be interested in the Shares which Harmony Culture

has interest in.

2. In accordance with the SFO, Dr. Qian has total interest in
23,171,845 Shares, of which Ms. Zhang Jing who is interested
in 13,206,742 Shares. Dr. Qian is the spouse of Ms. Zhang Jing.
By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Qian is deemed to be interested in the

Shares which Ms. Zhang Jing has interest in.

3. In accordance with the SFO, Mr. Yang has total interest in
465,038,126 Shares, of which 265,736,072 Shares are held
by other parties acting in concert and 199,302,054 Shares are
held by Legend Key International Limited (“Legend Key”) which
is owned as to 50% by Mr. Yang and 50% by Ms. Yeh Hui-Mei
(“Ms. Yeh”). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yang is deemed to be

interested in the Shares which Legend Key has interest in.
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465,038,126 Rk P HE A = - A H
265,736,072 g f& 0 (R E b — B ITE) A 3%
A 199,302,054 kRN BIEEFE 2+ 2 &
% & # Harmony Culture Investment Limited
(' Harmony Culture 1) 5 5 - 1B & & % & 5
B A&H - 55 2 348 A K Harmony Culture
HEERORDTHEEER -

BEEELBEEN BEBLAHER
23,171,845 B 1 o B A5 #E 25 ﬁﬂiﬂ?ﬁﬁé
12+ 174 13,206,742 B B 1D R B RES o
Bt RS o $E%§—m%&ﬁ;@‘b
fEh - BEETER AN RS LA ER
RIS AD R B HE2E o

BEEFEHFRBAEGN HEEEHR
465,038,126 kR P HE A= - A4
265,736,072 & IR fh BB B fth — B 178 A L
A 199,302,054 A% % 1 Bll B8 45 5% 4 #
Bo0%EmEEEEL T ([EXLDHEAR
50% #E 7z B Legend Key International Limited
(l'Legend Key ) A - R#BFEH KB E K
Bl - 15 5 £ 3018 B 7 Legend Key A =
RGO R IEE R



(B)
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Culture and Legend Key; and 8.28% by Max One.

The percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital
of the relevant associated corporation as at 31 December 2023.

In accordance with the SFO, Mr. Chen has total interest in 4. RBEJBHERAEKRO BREEEGHER
465,038,126 Shares, of which 398,604,108 Shares are held by 465,038,126k kA P HE A @ - A H
other parties acting in concert and 66,434,018 Shares are held 398,604,108 % i 7 F B fth — B ITB) A T35
by Max One Ltd. (“Max One”) which is wholly owned by Mr. A Mm66,434,018 M BIMFRELEEE
Chen. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested A M) Max One Ltd. ([Max One ) 55 ° iR
in the Shares which Max One has interest in. BEH R EE KRG - PR R A R Max
One B RER MM B #EE -
Pursuant to the concert party agreement dated 13 September 5 REBHA2021F9A13EMN—HITE A
2021, Ms. Ma, Mr. Yang, Ms. Yeh and Mr. Chen agreed, among WiE - BrLt HBhE ELETEBRELE
other things, that they should act in concert in respect of their BEEPER FEARESRERE W
voting rights and actively cooperate to consolidate control over TR E EARE AR QR A 16
voting rights of the Company. Accordingly, each of Ms. Ma, Mr. 1o Bt RIBEFESRBEKRN St
Yang, Ms. Yeh and Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in all BEE BELTRREESBRER/RE
the Shares in which each of them is interested under the SFO. BEERENMBERD T HEEER -
The percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital 6. ZEOHIRARAN2023F12A31HK
of the Company as at 31 December 2023. BEITIRAE -
Long positions in the shares of associated corporations (B) REBEERMHHOTE
Percentage
Number of of interest in
shares held associated
Name of associated in associated corporation
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest corporation (Note 2)
{G4A 5= E
R EER BEEa%H
EElg AR EERB ESHH"E RSB & H (H&t2)
Ms. Ma (Note 1) Harmony Culture Beneficial owner 1 100%
Bt (HaF1) Em#EAA
Mr. Yang (Note 1) Legend Key Beneficial owner 500,000 50%
B A (1) EmERA
Mr. Chen (Note 1) Max One Beneficial owner 2,000,000 100%
RS (BaF1) Em#EAA
Notes: Biat -
The Company is owned as to 24.85% by each of Harmony 1. ZK A & # Harmony Culture & Legend Key &

%75 24.85% : N Max One % A 8.28% °

Z B LR AR EER2023F 12 A
31 AMBHITIRARH -
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Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company
under equity derivatives

(C) BREEBRFEFTEIANRFTATHRMKGE
L3

Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

Shares the issued

(under equity share capital

derivatives  of the Company

Name of shareholder Nature of interest of the Company) (Note 2)

LELH

HEKZ B E BERTRE

(€::3: & 3/ ] Bhaatt

BRRR Eatg BEHFEIR) (H1at2)

(@) Ms. Ma (Note 1) Beneficial owner 6,640,004 0.83%

Bt (Hi71) EnBAA

Notes: Biat -

1. 6,640,004 options were granted to Ms. Ma under the Pre-IPO
Stock Incentive Plan.

2. The percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2023.
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1. 6,640,004 10 fE BB R IR 8 X AR 2 & AT
DR R T B L -

2. ZAEDLEARFR2023F12A31HW
BEITRAGH -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND FEBRRREFLT KB RHERERGL
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING XZHEEZRKE

SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as the Directors or the chief 20234 12A31H BEEH AR HZ= TR
executive of the Company were aware, the Substantial Shareholders, AEBFFER  FERF (BEEFH AR T HZSTH
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had A EBR M) AR sk BRI 10 A BIRE & 5
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as  RHIEIEM E 36 KELENBEHEAR A FENE
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under st ABIEZR S AR WOT ¢

Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

(R)

Long positions in the Shares

(A) MBERBZHE

Percentage of
issued share

Number of capital
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares held (Note 6)
HERT
%8 BEFES L
BERME BB RNy BinE (Hiete6)
(a) Harmony Culture (Note 1) Beneficial owner 199,302,054 24.85%
Harmony Culture (#7:£ 1) BEomEE A
Ms. Ma (Notes 1 and 4) Interest in controlled corporation 199,302,054 24.85%
B+ (HiE1k4) REEEB MR
Interest of party acting in concert 265,736,072 33.14%
—BITBATHER
(b) Legend Key (Note 2) Beneficial owner 199,302,054 24.85%
Legend Key (#7:£2) EmEAA
Mr. Yang (Notes 2 and 4) Interest in controlled corporation 199,302,054 24.85%
GBEE (MiF2K4) REEEBM R
Interest of party acting in concert 265,736,072 33.14%
—HITEALHERS
Ms. Yeh (Notes 2 and 4) Interest in controlled corporation 199,302,054 24.85%
B+ (Wizok4) REEEBM R
Interest of party acting in concert 265,736,072 33.14%
—HITEALHERS
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Percentage of
issued share

Number of capital
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares held (Note 6)
EERT
Ri5HE BEES L
BERME BB HaKH 3778 4| (M&t6)
(c) Max One (Note 3) Beneficial owner 66,434,018 8.28%
Max One (#77£3) EmlEA A
Mr. Chen (Notes 3 and 4) Interest in controlled corporation 66,434,018 8.28%
BRoCHE (B3 % 4) RE LB
Interest of party acting in concert 398,604,108 49.71%
—HITEALHERS
(d) Mr. Lai Beneficial owner 99,651,027 12.43%
B A& EmERA
(e)  Mr. Ho Chi Sing (“Mr. Ho") (Note 5) Interest in controlled corporation 45 513,546 5.68%

sk s A (AR & 1) (a2 5) REEEE S

Notes: Wit -

1. In accordance with the SFO, Ms. Ma has total interest in 1.
465,038,126 Shares, of which 265,736,072 Shares are held by
other parties acting in concert and 199,302,054 Shares are held
by Harmony Culture which is wholly owned by Ms. Ma. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Ma is deemed to be interested in the Shares
which Harmony Culture has interest in.

2. In accordance with the SFO, each of Mr. Yang and Ms. Yeh has 2.

total interest in 465,038,126 Shares, of which 265,736,072
Shares are held by other parties acting in concert and
199,302,054 Shares are held by Legend Key which is owned
as to 50% by Mr. Yang and 50% by Ms. Yeh. Mr. Yang is the
spouse of Ms. Yeh. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yang and Ms. Yeh
are deemed to be interested in the Shares which Legend Key
has interest in.

3. In accordance with the SFO, Mr. Chen has total interest in 3.
465,038,126 Shares, of which 398,604,108 Shares are held by
other parties acting in concert and 66,434,018 Shares are held
by Max One which is wholly owned by Mr. Chen. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
Max One has interest in.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

BEEFHFLABEEN BELxtsdER
465,038,126 M A m - £
265,736,072 B D B Efh —BITE A L
# A - 199,302,054 8% i% 1 Bl B 5 % +
% & ¥ A My Harmony Culture 5 5 ° 1R 15 35
FHNEEED - 52z £ 3R A% Harmony
Culture E BBV P HE A % ©

RIBEEHRBEKRN BSEEREZLTA
H 465,038 126 X (P EA - B
265,736,072 B B E b —BITEA L
A 0 ™199,302,054 i I 17 Bl A1 Legend
Key (45 % &£ R E 2 4+ 5 Bl # B 50% 1
H)EBE - BEENELTHER - RIBE
HEREEGRG  BEEREZLEWEAR
Legend Key ¥ B #a MRR (0 B #E%5 ©

BREEHSLMBAEGEN RLEdER
465,038,126 kA H AR - H
398,604,108 B A% 1H R Ef — B ITE) A L85
B M66,434,018 M AIAELELE
AR Max One#548 ~RIEEF LHAEES) -

[ 5% A4 1 48 5 7 Max One E B #E 25 BN A% 1D

PHEE R ©



(B)

4. Pursuant to the concert party agreement dated 13 September

2021, Ms. Ma, Mr. Yang, Ms. Yeh, and Mr. Chen agreed, among
other things, that they should act in concert in respect of their
voting rights and actively cooperate to consolidate control over
voting rights of the Company. Accordingly, each of Ms. Ma, Mr.
Yang, Ms. Yeh and Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares in which each of them is interested under the SFO.

5. In accordance with the SFO, Mr. Ho has total interest in
45,513,546 Shares, of which 35,042,523 Shares are held by
Lake Ranch Limited (“Lake Ranch”) and 10,471,023 Shares
are held by Kai Le Investment Holdings | Ltd. (“Kai Le"). Lake
Ranch and Kai Le are wholly owned by Mr. Ho. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Ho is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
Lake Ranch and Kai Le has interest in.

6. The percentage is calculated based on the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2023.

Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company
under equity derivatives
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4. BEBEHA2021F9AI3EN—HTHH
WE Sut BhE ELTREAE
BEEPER FEAREEREE X
T FER A VEA R E AR R R AY 3% =
o E  RIEBFRBERD St
BEE ELITEBREESAERRANRS
BHEEESNITARDPEEER -

5. BREZBHLABEGH fiEsd xR
45513 546l PEEER - EF
35,042,523 % % {7 A Lake Ranch Limited
(I'Lake Ranch]) # % - if1 10,471,023 fix I%
5 BI| Kai Le Investment Holdings | Ltd. ([Kai
Le]) #H ° Lake Ranch [ Kai Le ¥ fa{a] £ 4
2EWYE - REFHFRBERD - FEE
% 48 & 7 Lake Ranch X Kai Le B #£ 25 &)
IR R B o

6. ZADLEARENR2023F12A31RK
BEITRAGE -

(B) HMEEFHTETIARARFTLTFIHMKIGH
L

Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

Shares the issued

(under equity share capital

derivatives  of the Company

Name of shareholder Nature of interest of the Company) (Note 2)

HFENT

HERGEE BERITERE

(REFLTH #BiHhaastt

BEERME i k=331 BEGFETR) (Htez2)

(a) Ms. Ma (Note 1) Beneficial owner 6,640,004 0.83%

Bt (H71) EnMAA

Notes: Bia

1. 6,640,004 options were granted to Ms. Ma under the Pre-IPO
Stock Incentive Plan.

2. The issued share capital of the Company for calculating the
percentage in this column refers to the issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 December 2023.

1. 6,640,004 10 B BUER IR 8 X AR & AT
DR SR T Bt -

2. REARZBEALZARREBITRAE
M2023F 12 A31 A2 A RBIEBEITIRA ©
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. None of the
related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction which was subject to any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The related party transaction of the Group during FY2023 include
(a) a service fee of RMB4.1 million payable to Archstone Co., Ltd.
(“Archstone”), in connection with Mr. Jay Chou’s performance in
J-Style Trip 1l (JA #2352 2); and (b) a service fee of RMB4.4 million
payable to JVR Music International Ltd. (“JVR Music”) in relation to
the digital human (2% A) of Mr. Jay Chou. Each of Archstone and
JVR Music is controlled by a controlling shareholder of the Company
and thus a connected person of the Company. On the basis that
(i) the shooting of 11 out of 12 episodes of J-Style Trip || (& #2352
2) were conducted prior to the Listing Date; and (ii) the relevant
agreement with JVR Music was entered into prior to the Listing Date,
the above transactions do not constitute connected transactions
of the Company which are subject to any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2023, the Group has
not conducted any continuing and connected transactions which
were required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing
Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the current information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed minimum public float under the Listing
Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
of the Company, the accounting principles and practices, financial
reporting process, internal control adopted by the Group and the
audited annual results for the FY2023, with no disagreement by the
Audit Committee.

48 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

B X5

AREE BRI R S FERNGA P RE
P 536 © 3 4 B 05 52 55 A R X 5 s 4 Y
EX 5 WAET EMRRIEHIASETE
A EsR - AERIBLMRAIARTE -

REER 2023 FHBE SR 5 BE@KAN
LR TEBERE2 ] H 5 & A Archstone Co., Lid.
([Archstone |) T ARE41EHETHRISE :
MO ARG EENEEARNANBBSELERA
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[AEg 2 mlceEm a1l 2% Em BRI
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FTHAZEETHEMER A5 B R E
ERTERRERS -
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BErmBMRREE2023F12H310 - A& H
FEmETEAHERBERSMARE TR
Fi 8% D2 F LB R
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the FY2023 have been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire, and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the AGM. A resolution
for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s
auditor is to be proposed at the upcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited
Ma Hsin-Ting

Chairperson and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the FY2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group is dedicated to implementing high standards of corporate
governance in order to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders
and enhance its corporate value. The Company has adopted the CG
Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of corporate governance.

The Board is committed to the Company’s objective of consistent
growth and increase in Shareholder value. The Board has the
collective responsibility to formulate the Company’s business
strategies and monitor its operational and financial performances
in order to promote the Company’s success and achieve long-term
financial stability and return.

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and their principal role and
function in relation to corporate governance is to formulate and review
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance,
to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company,
to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, to formulate,
review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to employee and
Directors, and to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company
under the annual report of the Company.

To the knowledge of the Directors, from the Listing Date until 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Company has
complied with all applicable code provisions set out in Part 2 of the
CG Code. The Directors will use their best endeavours to procure the
Company to continue to comply with the CG Code.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has devised its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ and employees’ dealings in the Company’s securities
(the “Securities Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and they all have
confirmed their compliance with the Securities Dealing Code from
the Listing Date until 31 December 2023, and up to the date of this
report. In addition, No incident of non-compliance with the Securities
Dealing Code by the employees was noted by the Company from the
Listing Date up to the date of this report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contribution of the Board
and management

The Board is committed to enhancing the Company’s long-term value
and maximizing the return on investments for the Shareholders. It
is responsible for the overall management of the Company and is
authorized to formulate business strategies and management policies,
as well as to establish effective corporate governance and internal
review mechanisms. The Board is well balanced with Directors
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The executive Directors, the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of experience
and expertise to the Company. In particular, the independent non-
executive Directors are responsible for bringing effective independent
views and judgement on matters such as corporate performance,
accountability, key appointments and code of conduct, and to take
lead where potential conflicts of interest arise. The Board has also
established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, and has
delegated to the committees various duties. All the Board Committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference.
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All Directors shall at all times ensure that they carry out duties
in utmost good faith, in compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders. In particular, all Directors shall fulfil the fiduciary
duties and duties of skill, care and diligence to a standard at least
commensurate with the standard established by Hong Kong law and
set out under the Listing Rules. All Directors have full and timely
access to all the information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND CHANGE IN BOARD
COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, two non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting (Chairperson)

Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki (Chief financial officer)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung
Mr. Chen, Chung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Xue, Jun

Mr. Yang, Dave De

Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee

The brief biological information of each Director is set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and senior management”
in this report. Save as disclosed therein, there are no other material
relationships (whether financial, business, family or others) among
the members of the Board.

On 18 April 2023, each of the Directors have entered into a service
contract or a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three years subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms.

b2 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

PREERARBREYERBITHRE - A
BEANEERER UHEEARBIRBREHNFE -
HRIE 2REEEROTIAETREE BE
HEMER ELOEETEBAGI R ETRAAE
ZE2EBREYA2EMMEESAARME
B UAREEBRT BREFTESKBELE
¥2R GEBUYHARRBENHEEERARN
NP

EEeHAREFEHsER

ARl - EFEH=-RHUTEE MBEIUTES
R=Z2BIIFNTESHEX - BEFSEKRMT :

BITESE:
FoErt(EE)
BERILELE (BEHTTE)

VEELE (BEYHE)
FERITESE -

15 & 88 50 A=

PR A S A
BIUERTES
BT LT

Yang, Dave De 5t 4
SRR T

EEFH2EABHIRAREEEZRSAE
BERE|—# BETREEN BEFENEZ
MY ELMBABER(ERBTE X KEX
HBERER) -

20234 A18H - FEFE ARG RS
BRREZER NFRBA=F RESBHXA
FHIE-



CHAIRPERSON AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairperson (“Chairperson”) and the chief executive
officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”) of the Company are held
separately as required by code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Chairperson and the Chief Executive Officer have separate
defined responsibilities. The Chairperson is responsible in forming
the Company’s overall strategies but is not involved in the day-to-
day business operation of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer
is authorized by the Board to directly handle, with the support
of the senior management, the Company’s daily operations and
management. Their respective roles and responsibilities are set out in
writing, which have been approved and adopted by the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since the Listing Date and until 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report, the Board at all times met the requirements under
Rule 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing no less than one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Since the Listing Date until 31 December 2023 and to the date of this
report, the Board has not been informed by any of the independent
non-executive Directors indicating a change of circumstances which
may affect his or her independence. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third,
shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring Director shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election
and re-appointment. Any Director with unexpired term of office may
be removed by an ordinary resolution in a shareholders’ general
meeting. In addition, any new Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and be eligible for re-election
and re-appointment.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Each Director is provided with the necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under all applicable laws and regulations. Directors
are also provided with updates on the regulatory developments and
changes from time to time so as to ensure effective performance of
the Directors’ responsibilities and ensure that their contributions to
the Board remain informed and relevant.

The Directors are committed to complying with the code provision
C.1.4 of the CG Code in relation to Directors’ training. Since the
Listing Date and until 31 December 2023, all Directors attended
training sessions on the respective obligations of the Directors and
senior management. In addition, relevant reading materials including
compliance manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts
have been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors since the Listing Date until 31
December 2023 is as follows:

ESREERER
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2ERT.
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Reading relevant

Attending training news alerts,
sessions, including newspapers,
but not limited to, journals,
briefings, seminars, magazines
conferences and relevant
Name of Directors and workshops publications
HEEAIRRE - FRERA R
BIFEEFRRE FHEETR ®RE-
HRE oy BT - MER
EFEERE RiE R T LS HHEH R
Executive Directors BITEF
Ms. Ma B4t v v
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan LB v v
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki FEEI B S A4 v 4
Non-executive Directors FHITEF
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung Sk &L 5 A v v
Mr. Chen, Chung BRA %A v/ v
Independent non-executive Directors BUFERITEE
Mr. Yang, Dave De Yang, Dave De %t 4 v v
Dr. Xue, Jun EEEL v v
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee EREL T v v/
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BOARD MEETINGS

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, at least four
regular Board meetings should be held in each year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of majority of directors,
either in person or through electronic means.

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly. Notice of not less than 14 days is given of all regular Board
meetings to provide all Directors with the opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda. The agenda and accompanying board
papers are sent to the Directors or Board committee members at
least three days before meetings to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review these documents and be adequately prepared.

From the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, the Company convened
two Board meetings and had not convened any general meetings.
The below table sets forth details of the attendance at these Board
meetings:
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Meetings attended/
number of meetings

HEG®EXE
BERE

Name of Directors Board meeting
EFENERE EFZER
Executive Directors HITEF
Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting BBzt 2/2
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan el 2/2
Mr. Lai, Kwok Fai Franki TREIB 2 A4 2/2
Non-executive Directors FHRITEF
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung 15k & 5 A& 2/2
Mr. Chen, Chung PR A SE A 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors BUFRITEF
Mr. Yang, Dave De Yang, Dave De 5t & 2/2
Dr. Xue, Jun EEEL 2/2
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee B EL T 1/2
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Each of the Board committees has specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their respective authority and duties. The
Board Committees operate in accordance with their terms of
reference established by the Board.

Audit Committee
The Company established the Audit Committee on 19 June 2023
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yang, Dave De, the chairperson, Dr. Xue, Jun
and Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.

The Audit Committee shall serve as a focal point for communication
between other directors, the external auditors and the internal
auditors regarding their duties on financial and other reporting, risk
management, internal controls, and external and internal audits.
The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to provide
an independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by
satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal controls of the Group and adequacy of the internal
and external audits. Such responsibilities shall include, among the
others, (i) managing the relationships between the Company and the
Company’s internal and external auditors, such as the review of the
external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of audit process; (ii) reviewing the financial information of the
Company; and (iii) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee convened two meetings during the FY2023.
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The table below sets forth the details of the attendance at these — ZE €A HFEIS -
meetings:
Number of meetings
attended/number
Name of committee member of meetings
HEE®EXE
ERERENA FERE
Mr. Yang, Dave De Yang, Dave De %t 4 2/2
Dr. Xue, Jun EEEL 2/2
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee EEHEL L 172
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the FY2023 and confirmed that
it has complied all applicable accounting principles, standards and
requirements, and made sufficient disclosures. The Audit Committee
also discussed the matters of audit and financial reporting. It had
also reviewed the significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems and connected transactions, and have discussed with the
auditor of the Company about the tasks they performed.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the remuneration of the auditor
for the FY2023 and has recommended the Board to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company for the year
ending 31 December 2024, subject to approval by the Shareholders
at the AGM.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the FY2023
included, among others, the following:

° reviewed the unaudited condensed consolidated interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2023;

° reviewed the Company’s cash flow and monitoring the
Company’s overall financial condition;

° reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company and
recommended improvements of such systems to the Board;

° reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of the
internal and external audit functions of the Company and
recommended improvements of such functions to the Board;
and

° reviewed the arrangements which employees can raise
concerns on possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters, and investigating such matters
(where necessary).
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 19 June
2023 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Ms. Ma Hsin-Ting, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee and Mr. Yang,
Dave De. The chairperson of the Remuneration Committee is Ms.
Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policies on such remuneration; (ii)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;
(iii) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management; (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors; (v) considering salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group; (vi) reviewing and approving compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct; (vii) ensuring no Director or any of his or her associates
is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration; and (viii)
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

From the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee convened two meetings during the FY2023. The table
below sets forth the details of the attendance at these meetings:
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PERMEFMPEOBEZS  VDERES R
HEABMBEANS2EEEEAS O & (vii)
BELTRNEL7ERMR SR BRAE
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BEMHEMEE2023F12A31H  HFHEESR
R2023 M FARMAEHE - TRH}IZFEHN
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Number of meetings

attended/number
Name of committee member of meetings

HEG®EXE
ERERENA BERAE
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee EEHEL L 2/2
Ms. Ma Hsin-Ting FoEzt 2/2
Mr. Yang, Dave De Yang, Dave De 4t 4 2/2
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The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
FY2023 included, among others, the following:

° reviewed and recommended to the Board the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company and the remuneration
packages of all Directors, Supervisors and senior management.

Compensation of the Directors and senior management

The Directors and senior management receive compensation
in the form of salaries and bonuses, contribution to retirement
scheme, medical insurances and other social insurance. The
Company regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and
compensation packages of the Directors and senior management.

The aggregate amount of remuneration paid by the Company to
the Directors (including salaries, allowances and contributions
to retirement benefit scheme) for the FY2023 was approximately
RMB3,985,000 (FY2022: RMB4,462,000).

The aggregate amount of remuneration paid by the Company to
its five highest paid individuals (including the Directors and senior
management) (including salaries, allowances and contributions
to retirement benefit scheme) for the FY2023 was approximately
RMB7,254,000 (FY2022: RMB7,753,000).

None of the Directors had waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the FY2023.

The Board will review and determine the remuneration and
compensation packages of the Directors and senior management
and will receive recommendation from the Remuneration Committee
which will take into account salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group.

For additional information on the Directors’ and senior managements’
remuneration for the FY2023 as well as information on the highest
paid individuals, please refer to note 8 to consolidated financial
statements.
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Further, and pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
the annual remuneration of members of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band for the FY2023 is set out below:

Remuneration band

s E

s RIBEFREATRTAEXFELS R &
MEREXRE (TEREES) R2023 FRIZE
B o0 FEHMET 0T

Number of persons

A®

HK$1 million and above
HK$500,000 to HK$1 million

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 19 June
2023 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Ms. Ma Hsin-Ting, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Xue, Jun and Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee.
The chairperson of the Nomination Committee is Ms. Ma Hsin-Ting.

The primary responsibility of the Nomination Committee is to
make recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to
fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior management. Such
responsibility includes, among others, (i) reviewing the structure, size
composition and diversity of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board; (ii) developing the
criteria for identifying and assessing the qualifications of and
evaluating candidates for directorships; (iii) identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board on selection of individuals nominated;
(iv) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; (v) making recommendations to the Board on appointment
and re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors; and (vi) reviewing the Board’s diversity policy.
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From the Listing Date to 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee convened one meeting. The table below sets forth the
details of the attendance at these meetings:
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Number of meetings

attended/number
Name of committee member of meetings

HESRRY
ZRERRNS BERY
Ms. Ma Hsin-Ting BhEzt 11
Dr. Xue, Jun BEEL 1/1
Ms. Chung, Elizabeth Ching Yee ER R L 1/1

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
FY2023 included, among others, the following:

° reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board;

° assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
nomination policy.

Director nomination policy

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board on selection of individuals nominated.

The Company has adopted a Board’s nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”), which sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning considerations in relation
to nomination and appointment of Directors. It aims to ensure that
the Board has a balance of talent, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company in order to promote
the Board’s decision-making ability and overall effectiveness.
The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

° compatibility with the characteristics and structure of the
Board, taking into account the talent mix and needs of the
Board at the relevant time;

° qualifications including professional knowledge and experience
relevant to the Company’s business and/or being a board
member;

° willingness, ability to devote adequate time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
Committee(s);

° integrity; and

° requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the
Board and independence of the proposed independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes the importance and benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element
in achieving the Company’s strategic goals and sustainable
development. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
expertise, skills, experience, independence, age, culture, ethnicity
and gender. The Company will select potential Board candidates
based on his or her potential contribution to the Board while taking
into account the board diversity policy and other factors. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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The Board comprises eight members, including two female Directors,
with a mix of cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry experience. They
obtained degrees in various majors including but without limitation
to marketing and distribution management, science and law. Taking
into account the Company’s business model and specific needs
as well as the presence of two female Directors out of a total of
eight Board members, the Company considers that the Board has
achieved gender diversity.

The Company is also committed to adopting a similar approach to
promote gender diversity within the management (including but
not limited to the senior management) of the Company to enhance
the overall effectiveness of corporate governance of the Company
and that it will have a pipeline of female senior management and
potential successors to the Board going forward. It is the Company’s
objective to maintain an appropriate balance of gender diversity with
reference to the stakeholders’ expectation and international and
local recommended best practices. The Company would put greater
emphasis on gender balance and equality in future recruitments and
in identification of potential candidates, so that sufficient potential
candidates of different genders are in place to fill the vacancy of the
Board and management of the Company, when necessary. As at 31
December 2023, the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) was approximately 38.4% male and 61.6% female.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the implementation
of the board diversity policy and compliance with relevant codes
governing board diversity under the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee will review the board diversity policy and the Company’s
diversity profile (including gender balance) annually to ensure its
continued effectiveness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code
Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations” above, at no time during the FY2023 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements which enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under 18 years of age was granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any
other body corporate nor had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the FY2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 71 to 78 of this annual
report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, were engaged
as the Company’s external auditor for the FY2023. Save as disclosed
above, there were no other changes in auditor of the Company since
the Listing Date.

An external auditor may provide certain non-audit services to the

Group as long as these services do not impair its independence or
objectivity.
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Before any engagement with external auditor for non-audit
services, external auditor must comply with the independence
requirements under Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report of this annual
report. During the FY2023, the remunerations paid or payable to
PricewaterhouseCoopers regarding the audit and non-audit services
are set out as follows:
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Audit and related service
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IR B RTS
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the
design and implementation of internal controls and risk management
which cover financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk
management of the Company, as well as continuous monitoring the
effectiveness of such internal controls and risk management.

The Company has established risk management and internal control
systems consisting of policies and procedures that it considers
to be appropriate for its business operations. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Audit Committee has been authorised by the Board, to monitor the
implementation and to review the risk management and internal
control systems on an on-going basis, with the assistance of the
senior management of the Company. During the Reporting Period,
the Board has conducted one review on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control of the Group. In conducting the
review, the management of the Company discussed with department
heads and other employees and reviewed the relevant documentation
(if any) in relation to any actual or potential risks and non-compliance
and the implementation of the internal control procedures and/or
policies. No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, and risk management functions
of the Group have been identified. Results of the review have been
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reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee. In particular, the
Company has adopted and implemented the following:

(1)

internal control mechanisms to timely identify any connected
transactions and ensure compliance with the applicable rules
and regulations including the Listing Rules;

an internal accounting policy with guidelines in relation to the
revenue recognition, bookkeeping, account settlement and the
preparation of financial statements;

internal policies setting out procedures of how to handle
counterfeit products and infringement incidents in order to
prevent and tackle counterfeit products and infringement of the
Group’s intellectual property rights;

internal policies, procedures and measures in relation to data
protection; and

a set of internal control measures for the new retail segment
of the Group addressing different stages of the Group’s health
management products (e.g. raw materials procurement,
research and development, manufacturing, advertising, sale
and distribution, etc.) to ensure compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations in each stage, such as to request of
internal quality control reports from third party manufacturer to
ensure compliance of the relevant laws and regulations during
the manufacturing process.

The Group has identified the following risk categories and adopted
relevant risk management policies:

Financial reporting risks

(1)

66

adopting comprehensive accounting policies and procedures
in connection with financial management, budget management
and financial statement preparation;

offering ongoing trainings to finance staff in relation to the
abovementioned accounting policies and procedures to ensure
that they are well-observed and effectively implemented; and

delegating the finance department to review the Company’s

management accounts in accordance with the accounting
policies and procedures adopted;
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Operational risks

(4) adopting measures to ensure products under the Group’s
new retail segment will comply with all applicable laws and
regulations;

(5) adopting measures such as closely monitoring the behaviors
of the celebrities and KOL whom the Group has a working
relationship with to ensure that the Group’s operations under
its IP creation and operation segment would comply with
the relevant regulations in the livestreaming, marketing and
entertainment industry of the PRC; and

Human resource risks

(6) adopting internal policies in relation to recruitment, trainings,
work ethics and legal compliance, including handing out of
guidelines containing best commercial practices and work
ethics.

Based on the aforementioned systems and functions implemented
by the Company, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s has
adequate and effective internal control procedures in place.

The Company does not have an internal audit function for FY2023.
The Board has discussed and reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and is of the view that in light of the size and complexity
of the operation of the Group, the Board considers that there is
no immediate need to set up an internal audit function as the
existing supervision of the management could provide adequate risk
management and internal control for the Group. The Audit Committee
would regularly review the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group. The Board will regularly
review the need to set up an internal audit function or engage an
external service provider to review the Group’s internal control and
risk management system.

The Group’s management will continuously monitor and improve
the procedures to ensure that the effective operation of its risk
management and internal control measures is in line with the growth
of its business and good corporate governance practice.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company takes seriously
of its obligations under Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
The Company has adopted a continuous disclosure compliance
policy which sets out guidelines to the Directors and officers of the
Group to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated
to the public in equal and timely manner.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Law Kwok Wing (“Ms. Law”), delegated by an external service
provider, Acclime Corporate Services Limited, was the company
secretary of the Company from 13 September 2023 to 28 December
2023. Following Ms. Law’s resignation, Ms. Lai Ying Tung (“Ms. Lai”),
delegated by Vistra Corporate Services Limited, an external service
provider, has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company on 28 December 2023. Please refer to the announcement
published by the Company on 28 December 2023 and the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and senior management” for the
biographical details of Ms. Lai. Ms. Law and Ms. Lai’s primary contact
person of the Company is Mr. Lai Kwok Fai Franki, the chief financial
officer of the Company.

Both Ms. Law and Ms. Lai have attended sufficient professional
training for the FY2023 as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. All Directors have access to the company secretary’s advices
and services.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

Communications with Shareholders

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with the
Shareholders as well as to provide timely disclosure of information
concerning the Company’s material developments to its Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders.

The Board considers the annual general meetings of the Company
as an effective forum for communication between the Shareholders
and the Board. To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions will be proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for
Shareholders’ consideration and voting. In addition, the Company
regards annual general meeting as an important event, and the
chairperson of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, as well as the external
auditor of the Company, shall attend the annual general meeting of
the Company to address inquires from the Shareholders (if any). If the
chairperson of any such Board committee fails to attend the annual
general meeting, other members of the relevant Board committee
or any other person whom the chairperson authorized will attend
the annual general meeting. In addition, all resolutions proposed at
general meetings will be voted on by poll. The voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (http://www.splegend.com) on the same day of the
relevant general meetings.

68 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

NI

KONEBAR S IE R R IE L ERF BR R AIEE -
ZEWEk T ([#E2ZET]) R2023F9A13H &
20235 12 A28HERAAR R R AIWE - NE
T EH 1% - 459 EB AR 7 i 8 7F Vistra Corporate
Services Limited % # - M 2+ ([BLZ L+ E
R2023F 12 A28 HEZEARRFI R ME -
BHERZTHERFE  B2HEARFN2023F
I2A28B BN AER[EEREREEENE
Fl—fi- BL L RBELTHARAREBEHALZ A
BARNEGEREMEEBEELAE -

R EMARRAE329RHO R E - W20230 F - &
HERBULHERIRINEREI - 2687
FHEMBERAMEZE R RHE) -

BEREREREERR

5B R 0 i
ARTBNREREEEBE - L R ARE B
GEREMBHERBEMARTEARROER -

ETEeRARANBRERFASARRHEEETS
ZENBREBYS ARERRESRER -
RARKBRIREARE LR EHEERNEE (BIEE
HENER)REBLREZE UHEBEEREER
BWEoWIN RRRAERERFAEAEES
" EETTFRF BEZRLZES FHZETRK
REZEERARBIINEZEMHEHELARD
AIRFERAEFRE  UBERROHER (WE) -
WERNEBESEZES IR AELBERRASF
Ag AP E=EZESNHMKEXEETR
RENEAEMATBEERREAEF RS -1t
G FTBERKRREARS EREZRERBEURE
FRARR - BELEZBENAEREAZE AR
B 32 P 48 i (www.hkexnews.hk) & 7K A 7] 48 uf
(http://www.splegend.com) TII& -



To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website (http://www.splegend.com), where the latest information
and updates on its business operation and development, corporate
governance practice, contact information of investor relations and
other information are published for the public’s access.

The Company will continuously review the abovementioned
shareholder communication policy to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

Procedures for Shareholder(s) to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”) and to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Any one or more Shareholders (the “Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, in aggregate not less than 10% of
the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the share capital
of the Company shall have the right to make a requisition to convene
an EGM and/or add resolutions to the agenda of a meeting by writing
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company. The Board
shall convene such EGM within two calendar months after the deposit
of the written requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the Requisitionist(s)
himself or themselves may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Procedures for directing Shareholder’s enquiries to the Board
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the investor relations, whose
contact details are as follows:

Address: Room 2310-11, 2nd Floor, 3rd Floor,

Block 1, Dream Star Garden, 68 Jinjie Road,
Huagiao Town, Kunshan City, PRC

Rooms 2310-11, 23/F, Tower 2, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong

Email: ir@splegend.com
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company meets the Shareholders at the annual general meeting,
publishes interim and annual reports of the Company’s website
(http://www.splegend.com) and the Stock Exchange’s website
(http://www.hkexnews.hk), and releases press releases on the
Company’s website to keep the Shareholders and potential investors
abreast the Group’s business and development.

As such, the Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY

In preparation for Listing, the Company adopted the Articles, which
became effective on the Listing Date.

There has not been any other changes to the Articles from the
Listing Date until 31 December 2023. The Articles is also available
on the Company’s website (http://www.splegend.com) and the Stock
Exchange’s website (http://www.hkexnews.hk).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the principles and guidelines in relation to the
declaration, payment and distribution of dividends. In recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall take into account, among
other things, the Group’s operating results, financial position, any
legal and regulatory restrictions on dividends, working capital
requirements and other relevant factors that the Board considers
appropriate from time to time. The proposed payment of dividends
must also be at the discretion of the Board, and any declaration of
final dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval. Any dividend
unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The Board will conduct review on
the dividend policy as appropriate from time to time and does not
guarantee any declaration or payment of dividends in any specific
amount for any specific period.

By Order of the Board

Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited
Ma Hsin-Ting

Chairperson and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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To the Shareholders of Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Star Plus Legend Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 79 to 199, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matters identified in our audit are related to:
° Revenue recognition of new retail business

° Revenue recognition of IP creation and operation business
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Key Audit Matter

MEFIER

Independent Auditor’s Report
I BEN RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EMmERREE =R

Revenue recognition of new retail business

MTEREHBA R

Refer to notes 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
BLHGRE Y BHRERMEES -

One of the Group’s major sources of revenue is derived from
the new retail business, which focused on the sale of low-
carb health management products and skincare products.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
revenue from the new retail business amounted to RMB240
million, representing 56% of the Group’s total revenue.
BEEEEP —EEZZRARFREFZEEEDS TER
HEEBRKEEERREEEMRESER - #HZE2023F
12A31BILFEE - EEEREHTEEBHNRARA
R¥E2408 8T 16 EXEHRANS6% o

Revenue from new retail business is recognised at a point in
time when control of the underlying products is transferred
to the customers.

MEEEBNRARBRERN TG RERETRPNK
BE RS

We focus on revenue from new retail business due to the
high volume of sales transactions, and significant audit time
and resources were devoted in this area.
BMEFREFZEEEBNRARHRHER S ERAR
REEEBRARERTTHEREIR

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition of new
retail business included:

HPANHTERTORAER ZEFEHE

o We understood, evaluated and tested, on a
sample basis, management’s key controls over
revenue recognition in respect of the Group’s sales
transactions, from initiation of customer orders, all
the way to settlement of trade receivables or advance
payments.

e i BERENHEHEXZIWMEELERME TG
THBEEEREFERITEEZHEFTEFEUN
TR TR R A FE R H BA SR 12 ) o

o We performed matching of the Group’s records of
sales and cash receipts for the year, to the delivery
records of the Group’s logistic service providers to
assess the completeness of the revenue recognised.

e EMKE EXEFANHEERRSRARZEH &
SEYRIRGEERON NS ETZE - U
PR AR TTEM -

° We checked, on a sample basis, the sales transactions
during the year, to the sales orders, delivery records
and cash receipts of the selected transactions.

e HfMEREFANHEERS  FAEXZHNHEER]
BRI EA -

o We tested sales transactions that took place before
and after the balance sheet date to assess whether
the transactions were recognised in the appropriate
reporting period based on the supporting documents
obtained.

e HRMUEEAEXRAHFNRETNHERZHET
AR - ARBABESXHITARIREREE W
HHAEIRER

o We performed confirmation procedures on selected
customers’ receivable or advance payment balances
at the balance sheet date.

e HZMHEHBETEFPNEEAMGBRBEBNEKFIAS
T RRAE BRIETT PR 8 FERR o

Based on the procedures performed, we found the revenue
recognition of new retail business tested to be supported by
the evidence we obtained.

REBRMMITOREF  BMER  RMEROE R X FH
AR T E X B BARER -
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I BB R E

Key Audit Matter
RREHER

Revenue recognition of IP creation and operation business
IPEEREEXHIKR AR

Refer to notes 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
BLHGRE Y BHRERMEES -

Another major source of the Group’s revenue is derived
from the intellectual property (“IP”) creation and operation
business, including producing and licensing TV programmes
and entertainment videos, planning and managing events,
licensing celebrity proprietary intellectual properties,
creating media contents and managing IP of celebrities,
etc. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
revenue from IP creation and operation business amounted
to RMB190 million, representing 44% of the Group’s total
revenue.

EEENS —FERARIREE MBERE ([IP]) BIE R
EIEXET  BIEERE A RIRERBRERTA - KE
REREE HAEZFIPHA  RWEEBATRERNR
EIPE - #HZE2023F12A31HILFE - EEEBERBEIP
BIEREEXEBHRARARKIOEET & &
B AW AR 44% ©

Revenue is recognised either when at a point in time
upon delivery and acceptance of the TV programmes and
entertainment videos by the customers, or on a straight-line
basis over the contractual licensing or broadcasting period.
WARE PR REREREH B RIRER 5E& 8 K (@R
BIEHER » R A KRR B AR B AR TERR ©

We focus on this area due to the magnitude of the revenue
from IP creation and operation business, variety of services
offered by the Group, management’s judgments on the
assessment of acting as principal or agent, and significant
resources spent on auditing this area.

BMETH A EDDERIPEIEREEEBTHBAR
R BEEERHAOBRBEEN EEEHERTEAL
RIBABRH A HIET A REBTT A EEENAREEIR ©

74 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN EMmERREE =R

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition of IP
creation and operation business included:

BPRARIPRIER L EXBHBABRZIEFEIE

° We understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample
basis, management’s key controls over revenue
recognition in respect of the Group’s IP creation and
operation business, from approval of contracts, all the
way to settlement of trade receivables.

e  HfH EEEMNIPAIEREEXEHEBMEEER
R AT REEEERIESNEZEEEE IR
TIEH WA TR RS -

° We obtained, on a sample basis, the Group’s IP
creation and operation contracts with customers, and
assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s revenue
recognition policies based on the key terms and
conditions of the contracts, including the identification
of performance obligations, the timing upon which
control of the products or services is transferred,
and the assessment of acting as principal or agent
with reference to the requirement of the prevailing
accounting standards.

e HMMEENR SEREHEETP HENIPEIEREE
EBERNWERENNARERRIGHETE &S
ERABRARENEST  SEINEHER &
BEmNRBZEGENFRALTEEREEA
FRIBARITR  EFHEL2ERTEAEANRE -

o We tested, on a sample basis, revenue transactions
to ensure the occurrence of the performances and
accuracy of revenue recognised by (i) checking the
key terms and conditions of the underlying contracts;
and (ii) recalculating the revenue amounts.

o  HMHWARSGETHEANR  BBOBRERES
AR EZHRRRGH : RMEFFAERACHE
REBOEE RIFAREMREM

o We performed confirmation procedures on selected
customers’ receivable balances at the balance sheet
date.

e HMHBTREFNEEAGBRHBNERAESRE

P 2
TR FERR ©

Based on the procedures performed, we found the revenue
recognition of IP creation and operation business tested to
be supported by the evidence we obtained.
BIEFATHRER - RN BMERNERA X
FRIE 1P Bl | 2 B TS M AR ©



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
I BEN RS

Htifz B
BEARESAHAMERAR - RELREF
BANMARES BT REFRAMBREREM
i GIE

PIB AV BERERNBER L NREEMER
1F’37TT%TM#/J&1* = ?%&ﬁﬁiﬁ’]%:ﬁr
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report
I BEN RS
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We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is DOU Wang, Angel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FeZaliax

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A318IEFE

Year ended 31 December
HEF12A3HILLEE

2023 2022
—E-=H% B &
Notes RMB’000 RMB000
Wi AREFIT AREFT
Revenue KA 5 430,213 344,157
Cost of revenue SHE KA 7 (153,880) (121,329)
Gross profit EF 276,333 222,828
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAX 7 (112,317) (72,447)
General and administrative expenses —BRITRAX 7 (106,633) (64,094)
Provision for impairment losses on financial 4 & & & A {E B 18 5 &
assets 3.1(b) (3,192) (745)
Other income Hepdg A 6 9,563 21,844
Other expense HifEx 6 - (5,798)
Other gains/(losses) — net Hip ezt (E518)— %8 6 763 (9,553)
Operating profit EEAH 64,517 92,035
Finance income A 3,590 2443
Finance costs B RS R AR (1,249) (1,340)
Finance income, net MBWA - FEE 9 2,341 1,103
Profit before income tax B PSR & 7 66,858 93,138
Income tax expense FSHAX 10 (25,447) (28,240)
Profit for the year FERRF 41,411 64,898
Other comprehensive income Hip2mEUMbA
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified ~— B2 AJfEE# 18z a1 7E H
to profit or loss
Currency translation differences BEmnEEs 13,488 1,803
Total comprehensive income for the year FREZEAKAEE 54,899 66,701
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEZEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

Year ended 31 December
HEF12A3HILLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bz AR%TiT ARETFT
Profit for the year attributable to: DFATEEERNRT :
— Owners of the Company —ARNRHEEA 34,515 60,389
— Non-controlling interests — IR E S 6,896 4,509
41,411 64,898
Total comprehensive income attributable to: LI F& A EGE 2 EUG A 43 :
— Owners of the Company NG 2PN 48,093 62,105
- Non-controlling interests — PR R A 6,806 4,596
54,899 66,701
(Restated)
(geE75)
Earnings per share for profit attributable FoRHBARERFOBRET
to owners of the Company (UEBBAR®IIT) :
(expressed in RMB per share):
- Basic /N 1] 0.05 0.08
- Diluted —#E 11 0.04 0.08

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should iR e 2mEmK

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBERKAR

As at 31 December 2023
M20234F12A31H

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
—E-= —E-oF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Vi3 ABR®FT AREFT
ASSETS =&
Non-current assets FERBFE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 12 67,542 69,086
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 13 21,511 1,878
Intangible assets B EE 14 19,969 3,878
Investments accounted for using FREREARNEE
the equity method 15 5,004 -
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABZHNEREE
profit or loss 16 2,641 -
Deferred income tax assets RIEMEREE 31 10,564 4,186
Other non-current assets EMIERBEE 17 52,641 59,638
179,872 138,666
Current assets mENEE
Inventories FE 18 20,482 28,828
TV programme rights BAREN B MR 19 108,287 89,602
Trade and other receivables B o5 NH M EWFRIA 21 327,396 62,066
Prepayment and other current assets FENREREMRSEE 22 66,634 53,070
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABZHNERHEE
profit or loss 16 25,913 -
Restricted bank deposits SR HIERITIF X 23 28,167 =
Cash and cash equivalents BeMBESEEY 23 145,823 182,633
722,702 416,199
Total assets BE#E 902,574 554,865
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES RErR&afr
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AL TFIHBAEEES
Share capital &7 24 57 38
Reserves Gk 26 459,737 33,343
Retained earnings IR BT 224,420 200,161
684,214 233,542
Non-controlling interests R ER 1,375 569
Total equity HEs 691,589 234,111
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMERRE
As at 31 December 2023
72023412 A31 H

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
—E-= —E-oF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
i3 ABR®FT AREFr
LIABILITIES ai®
Non-current liabilities ERBDAEAR
Borrowings RN 28 5,000 10,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 2,173 220
Contract liabilities AHEE 30 - 38
71,173 10,258
Current liabilities mEBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 KEMENFRIA 27 117,677 69,010
Borrowings EE 28 5,000 5,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 3,704 1,872
Contract liabilities EHEaE 30 33,147 31,385
Current income tax liabilities BIERFT SR aE 44,284 24,575
Financial instrument with redemption rights ~ Ff#siERIER NS R T A 32 - 178,654
203,812 310,496
Total liahilities BERE 210,985 320,754
Total equity and liabilities HaRAEES 902,574 554,865

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 79 to 199 were approved by the
Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf:

Qian, Sam Zhongshan

gl

Director

EF
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Lai, Kwok Fai Franki
HEE
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GeEEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12 A31 HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2SN
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
capital  Reserves  earnings  Sub-total interests equity
R

[:EN @& REBN e Ba  AES

Note  RMB0O00 ~ RMB0OOO  RMBO0OO ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEE  ARE ARE ARE ARK AEK

it FT FT FIT FT FT FIT

Balance at 1 January 2022

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with shareholders in their
capacity as shareholders

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Appropriation to statutory reserves

Total transactions with shareholders in
their capacity as shareholders

Balance at 31 December 2022

120226 1 B 1 BEhiEeR 38 24970 144213 169,221 (4,027) 165,194
2EKA
EREF = - 6038 60,389 4509 64,898
EMBEED = 1,716 = 1,716 87 1,803
2EBAESE = 1,716 60389 62,105 4596 66,701
HER(LBERSH)

ETZRH
BREER D AERMN

NHR 5 25 = 2216 = 2,216 = 2216
ERTLTRE = 4,441 (4,441) = = =
HEX(LBERSR)

ETCXAHE = 6,657 (4,441) 2,216 = 2,216
7202212831 A

fi 38 33343 200,161 233,542 569 234111
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 12 A31HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FOEHE AR
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
capital  Reserves  earnings  Sub-total interests equity
300
B* #iE HREEN It g #Ea
Note  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARY AR® AR¥ ARB AR¥ AR
Mzt ¥ FT ¥ ¥ FT ¥
Balance at 1 January 2023 ®2023F1 B 1 BposEeR 38 33,343 200,161 233,542 569 234,111
Comprehensive income 2EKA
Profit for the year F R A - - 34515 34515 6,896 41,411
Currency translation differences EMBEED - 13578 - 13578 (90) 13,488
Total comprehensive income 2EGARE - 13,578 34515 48,093 6,806 54,899
Transactions with shareholders in their ~ BBER (MIRESF7)
capacity as shareholders ETZXS
Capitalisation issuance B BT 24 13 (13) - - - -
Equity-settled share-based payment B EUARN AER
transactions AR5 25 = 1,058 = 1,058 = 1,058
Issuance of ordinary shares upon REREERETLTAR
global offering, net of listing expenses (k% FmEX) 24 6 288,701 - 288,707 - 288,707
Appropriation to statutory reserves BRELTRE 26 - 10,256  (10,256) - - -
Dividends declared and paid by the ARAREIR RIS
Company 33 - (54,029) - (54,029) - (54,029
Derecognition of financial instrument 42 |- R S Bt 45 & o] 4 1 £
with redemption rights SRIA 32 - 166,843 - 166,843 - 166,843
Total transactions with shareholdersin BB R (LIRS )
their capacity as shareholders ETZRANE 19 412,816  (10,256) 402,579 - 402,579
Balance at 31 December 2023 2023 12A31HE
fe 57 459,737 224420 684,214 1,375 691,589

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SARERER
ReBeRE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12 A31 HIEFE

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLEEE

2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
sz AR¥FT ARETFT
Cash flows from operating activities RBETDFRBRERE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & () /B E s 34 (110,308) 23,025
Interest received B U F 8 3,590 2443
Income tax paid B PTER (12,116) (19,973)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating EEITDELENRS
activities (FeH) TN BE (118,834) 5,495
Cash flows from investing activities BRETDMBRSTE
Payments for property, plant and equipment ~ #13 « BB M R & X (5,074) (6,339)
Payments for intangible assets M| EEMNK (8,320) (3,397)
Payments for investment in a concert SEIBE IR EN R (3,599) -
Payments for other non-current assets EMIERBEENK - (15,127)
Payments for investment in a wealth VA SHRN A GT E M IR B E
management product measured at AR
amortised cost (72,496) =
Proceeds from redemption of wealth BB B DA SE R N ET 2 Y
management products measured at B EMABREIA
amortised cost 72,496 -
Payments for investment in a wealth AFEEF ABREN
management product measured at B EMITE MR
fair value through profit and loss (18,124) =
Payments of deposit for investments THERENES (84,548) -
Payments for long term lease RHABAEMNR (15,000) -
Payments for investment in an associate REEE R RINIRE K (5,000) -
Net cash outflow from investing activities BREEFBHRHRE&EE (139,665) (24,863)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

%T o = iﬂﬁ”ll;i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLEEE

2023 2022
—E-=% —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bz AR¥FT ARETFT
Cash flows from financing activities E!?‘fihﬂiﬁﬁﬁb’ﬁ‘.i
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares IRFETHREEITL B
upon global offering Fﬁ?ﬁ% RIA 24 288,707 =
Dividends paid to shareholders RS TR R B AR S (54,029) -
Payment for listing expenses EmRAZAH (4,902) (2,230)
Repayments of borrowings EEER (5,000) (5,000)
Interest paid EF B (727) (1,035)
Lease payments HERH (5,470) (3,122)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing MEEFBREAL (HEH)BR&
activities B8 218,579 (11,387)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEEMRLBHE (39,920) (30,755)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FURERIBEEEFEY
of the year 23 182,633 211,873
Effect of exchange rate changes on ERFHURE MRS EEY
cash and cash equivalents r 2 3,110 1,515
Cash and cash equivalents atend of the year FHREERAELEED 23 145,823 182,633
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  Filt4r A IR 47 & & FE BBERT M s — GBI E -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Star Plus Legend Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 3 January 2020 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is P.O.
Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205 Cayman Islands. The business
address of the Company is 2/F, Block 1, Dream Star Garden,
68 Jinjie Road, Huagiao Town, Kunshan, China.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in new retail business and IP creation
and operation business in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The Company is controlled by Ms. Ma, Hsin-Ting (“Ms. Ma”),
Mr. Yang, Chun-Jung (“Mr. Yang”), Ms. Yeh, Hui-Mei (“Ms.
Yeh”), Mr. Chen, Chung (“Mr. Chen”) through their investment
holding companies. Ms. Ma, Mr. Yang, Ms. Yeh and Mr. Chen
have entered into a concert party agreement and therefore
are collectively referred as the controlling shareholders of the
Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”).

The Company successfully completed its initial public offering
during the year and its shares were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 13 July 2023.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 are presented in Renminbi thousands
(“RMB’000"), unless otherwise stated. The consolidated
financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board
of Directors on 27 March 2024.

fn e M5 H R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A318IEFE

—REH

EEFEFTEEERAR ([EAR7R]) R 2020
FLAHBREREHSEANE2E(RA
E) (1961 F E3FIERE - K426 RIBF]) -
RASHSAMK I AEREER AR -
HSE M ¥ = EE ik A P.O. Box 31119 Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205 Cayman lIslands °
AAREFEMMU AFEE LT EBHESE
FRESTHREEE 1 E2HE o

ARBB—FREER AR » AR E REMH
BAR (BEIAEE]) TERPEARHK
ME (B REHRTEXBARIPAIE
K EEE

ARAABLERE (Bl HBKE
FE(HEE]D EFEXxL ((Ext))
RERAxRE(REE]D) BREEREZERR
BIES e BAL  HEE  ERERRELE
BRI —BITBALHZ RSB AAR
BIHOFRAR AR (T4 AR ) o

REFARRBRINTRERAREE - R
MR2023F7AIBRERBMERZMA
PRAE LT e

BRIERTTRIRR - BAIE ZE2023F 12 A31H
LTFEAGEMBREUARET L (TA
RETITDINR AR EUBERREHES
S 20243 A 27 BHEAETIE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31HIEFE

2.1

2.2
(a)

88

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap 622 and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
consolidated financial statements has been prepared on a
historical cost basis except for certain financial assets and
financial liabilities which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4
below.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new and amended
standards for its annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2023:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

° Definition of Accounting Estimates — amendments to
HKAS 8

° International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules —
amendments to HKAS 12

o Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction — amendments to HKAS 12

° Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

2.1

2.2
(a)
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2.2
(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Continued)
New standards and amendments to existing standards not yet

adopted

The following new standards, amendments and interpretation
to existing standards that have been issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and have not been early

adopted by the Group:

Effective for
reporting periods

Standards and beginning
amendments on or after
HKAS 1 Classification of 1 January 2024
(Amendments) Liabilities as Current
or Non-current
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities 1 January 2024
(Amendments) with Covenants
HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a 1 January 2024
(Amendments) Sale and Leaseback
HKAS 21 Lack of 1 January 2025
(Amendments) Exchangeability in
currencies
Hong Kong Classification by the 1 January 2024

Interpretation 5
(2020)

HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
(Amendments)

HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains
a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture

Supplier finance
arrangements

To be determined

1 January 2024

The Group will adopt the above new standards and
amendments to standards when they become effective. The
Group has commenced an assessment and does not anticipate
any significant impact on the Group’s financial position and
results of operations upon adopting these new standards and
amendments to standards.

2.2
(b)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

(a)
(i)

90

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance
department under the supervision of the board of directors.
The board provides principles for overall risk management.

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets and liabilities are denominated
in a currency that is not the Group entities’ functional currency.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.
Cash repatriation from the PRC are subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC government. The Group did not have other significant
exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
respective dates of consolidated statements of financial position
are as follows:

3
3.1

(a)
(i)

MERREER

R 355 B2 3R
AEEXBHRSEMERAR  mHRR (2
EIMER L - IR e IME KA FEN B IA
LEBRER) FEERRBREABDEZRAR -
AEENERRAREBRAESZINSRT
SRAAIEAGE  YSRKEEREHANEE
MBRIBA BN TREE

MBEREEEEESEE TAMBEANT -
ExeflFIRERREEMNRA -

e mEE

i B R B
ERRBAERSGHEBREERBEUR
SEEREEB AN EEHER - SMNE
RV EEL

AEEEBTINERINEERNBEHE T
HOME R o 7 BIE B H R & R8T E
BT 28 A 1 SN EE I AR B B AR B - KRB AP
HH K HME R o

AEBEIINEHENEEEERER AR
RiRE MR RAE B M REEENT

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR®FT AR Fr

Assets =E

RMB AR 924 109,558
USs$ ETT 6,323 599
HK$ BT 2,239 =
TW$ = = 4,562
9,486 114,719
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(a)
(i)

(i)

(iii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s entities with functional
currency of HK$ had aggregate US$ net monetary assets of
RMB6,323,000 (2022: RMB599,000). Under the Linked
Exchange Rate System in Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to US$,
management therefore considers that there is no significant
foreign exchange risk with respect to US$.

The Group’s entities in the PRC have RMB as the functional
currency. As at 31 December 2023, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against HK$ with all other variables held
constant, the pre-tax profit would have been approximately
RMB46,000 lower/higher (2022:RMB5,478,000 lower/higher)
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets except
for cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits,
the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from borrowings.
Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest-rate risk. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The Group’s
borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were all at fixed
interest rate and their fair value approximated their carrying
value due to short-term maturity. Thus the interest rate risk is
insignificant.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of the financial
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, including
investments in wealth management products (“WMPs”). To
manage its price risk arising from the investments, the Group
diversifies its investment portfolio. The sensitivity analysis
performed by management is set out in Note 3.3(ii).

3.1
(a)
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

3.1
(b)
(0

92

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk of
the Group mainly arises from financial assets, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank deposits and trade and other
receivables. The carrying amounts of these balances represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
these assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Before
accepting any new debtor, the Group assesses the potential
debtor’s credit quality and defines credit limits by debtor. Credit
limits granted to debtors are reviewed regularly. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the bank deposits were
deposited in or managed by state-owned or reputable banks
which are all high-credit-quality financial institutions without
significant credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to
HKFRS 9's expected credit loss model.

- Trade and bills receivables
- Other receivables

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the invoice dates.

Management has assessed the expected credit losses on
individual basis or grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The assessment is
based on the background and reputation of the customers,
historical settlement records and past experience. Management
also considered the default rates and loss given default from
external rating agency report and forward-looking information
that may impact the customer’s ability to repay the outstanding
balances. Trade receivables with known financial difficulties
or significant doubt on collection of receivables are considered
to be subjected to higher risk of default and are tested
individually.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 was determined for trade receivables, and the
expected credit losses below have incorporated forward-looking
information.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 12 A31HILEE

3.1
(b)
(i)

94

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 the expected credit loss
provision for the trade receivable was determined as follows:

3 MERBRER 2

3.1 MERBER 2

(b) (EEmBE(E)

(i) SMEEREGE)
B 5 2B (8)
R2023F K2022F 12 A31 8 B 5 EW
HEMEREYERREETNT

Overdue Overdue Overdue Overdue Overdue
Not 1-30 31-60 61-90 91-120 over 121
overdue days days days days days Total
e i i bk bp i
F8H 1E30H 31FE60H 61FE9AH 91E1208 121HHE #it
Trade receivables EARKE®RE
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31H
Expected loss rate HHBEX 1.28% 0.18% - - - 28.19%
Gross carryingamount  BREEE
(RMB’000) (AREFTT) 160,144 1,761 2,445 - 3,557 5,470 179,377
Loss allowance provision &5 18 & Rt 4
(RMB'000) (AREFTT) (2,046) (14) - — - (1,575) (3,635)
At 31 December 2022 #2022 12A31H
Expected loss rate BHEEE 0.51% 5.80% 11.57% 16.43% 21.02% 26.09%
Gross carryingamount  BREEE
(RMB'000) (AR&FT) 26,630 9,365 2,144 414 628 23 39,204
Loss allowance provision 5B E R &
(RMB'000) (AREFTT) (137) (543) (248) (68) (132) (6) (1,134)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are separately
presented as “Provision for impairment losses on financial
assets” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income. Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and indicators of severe financial difficulty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other receivables

Other receivables mainly include amounts due from related
parties, deposits receivables, loans to third parties and staff
advances. The management of the Group makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experiences. The Group
measures credit risk using Probability of Default, Exposure
at Default and Loss Given Default for deposits and other
receivables. This is the approach used for the purposes of
measuring Expected Credit Loss under HKFRS.

° Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition are classified in ‘Stage 1’ and have their credit
risk continuously monitored by the Group. The expected
credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis.

° If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically,
when the debtors is more than 30 days past due on
its contractual payments) since initial recognition
is identified, the financial instrument is moved to
‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.
The expected credit loss is measured on lifetime basis.

o If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. The expected
credit loss is measured on lifetime basis. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° the debtor is more than 90 days past due on its
contractual payments,

° actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations,

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of individual property owner or the
borrower.

The average loss rate applied as at 31 December 2023 was
0.58% (2022: 0.85%).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12831 BILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMERBERER»
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBRAKREARZ)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (h) EEmREE)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) &mMEIEREE)
As at 31 December 2023, the loss allowance provision for trade R2023% 12831 H 5 K EMEKRFRIE
and other receivables reconciles to the opening loss allowance HESIEEBRERZBENRVEEEE
for that provision is as follows: AR
Trade Other
receivables receivables Total
BEHEKHE HMUEKHRE - H
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT AR TT

At 1 January 2022 M2022%F1H1R 400 186 586
Provision for impairment losses & B & 2 i (B 55 18 B

on financial assets 734 11 745
At 31 December 2022 R2022% 12 A31 H 1,134 197 1,331
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 1,134 197 1,331
Provision for impairment losses <& @ & 2 o (B 55 18 1 1

on financial assets 2,501 691 3,192
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 A31 H 3,635 888 4,523
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

3.1
(c)

To manage the liquidity risk, management monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve and cash and cash
equivalents on the basis of expected cash flow. The Group
expects to fund the future cash flow needs through internally
generated cash flows from operations.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the statement of financial position date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

On
demand

BEX

RMB000
ARBTFT

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

MERKBER »)
MERBER 2

ABELEE

AEEADECRER  SRENEHESR
EARRERAEERHELEBEURE
SRESEBYNMEDTEN - AEEEDAE
BABELNCLESREARKES R
ETRIBHES o

TREEMBIRARABRESOIHEDN
MNAPRZEHEIBENSTAEEN S
BAG RTPAERBENSERBHOARMEAR

N1
EnE °

Between Between

Less than 1and2 2and 5
1 year years years Total
-8 —E@AFE @WELE st
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000

AEETT ARETT AEETT ARETT

As at 31 December 2023
Trade and other payables

(excluding salaries and staff welfare
payable and other taxes payable)
Borrowing and interest payables

Lease liabilities

As at 31 December 2022
Trade and other payables

(excluding salaries and staff welfare
payable and other taxes payable)
Borrowing and interest payables

Lease liabilities
Financial instrument with
redemption rights

R2023F12A31H

B 5 REMENHKER
(TREEMFERET
1R o E At B A LR

fiE KB BB

HERE

®2022% 128318
BHREMENRIE
(TeREENESRET
BN R EMTE)
B R ERFE
HEAE
Pt 75 8 B ) Y
i

= 97,611 = = 97,611
= 5,441 5,156 = 10,603
— 3,911 1,779 573 6,263
= 106,969 6,935 573 114,471
= 45,952 = = 45,952
= 5,734 5,447 5,156 16,337
= 2,059 231 = 2,290
178,654 - - - 178,654
178,654 53,745 5,678 5,156 243,233
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings, financial instrument
with redemption rights, lease liabilities, amounts due to related
parties and amounts due to third parties less cash and cash
equivalents and restricted bank deposits. Total capital is
calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as
follows:

MERKBER »)

EXRBEE
AEBTEELMAEEERBAEER
18 T EOR I OB IO AL ) 0 DA BIRER2S
B4R - [ RS 3 BE H A R 25 A8 R 5 (0 3% -
A e 15 o M) R AN R DURUE B AR A o

RERNAREARRE  AEEAEHAER
BERXMOBRESHE MRREEDER - #
THROIEEEE - TR ET

AEBBRBEEAABLLREREER - ZHE
BEGFERABENTE - B FRIRE
R MEEDEMNNERTA BHEAR
18 - AT BARE 77 SRR R B 36 =75 SR IRRR
& RN FEYMARZRBIRITERS
BENIRERE M BSIR R FTR B [#E 2 ] b0
B FRAE -

MR20234F K2022E 12 A31AMAKRAE
ELRIT -

As at 31 December

®12A 318
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT AE#TFr
Net (cash)/debt (Be) /B FHE (158,113) 13,113
Total capital FEE =N 533,476 247 224
Gearing ratio BEAREEL = N/AFiE F 5.30%

The Group turned into net cash position due to the increase
in cash and equity as a result of proceeds from initial global
offering.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation

This section explains the judgments and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of
the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has
categorised its financial instruments into three levels as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives
and equity securities) is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation
technigues which maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for investment
in certain WMPs without observable market data.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

MERKBER »)

AT EEN
AGRMABETRIBREFRERARIZAF
EEHEMNS R T AN TEMEL LR
fht o BEHABET A TER R ARE
AT SEMIEE  AEEEESMIAS A=

B

3
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ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z = =FFH

EERTS LEENSRIA (1
AREENITETAERBAES)
MR FEDERREHROTES
BEET AKEMAFETHE
EXRANMERESERERE -
ZETAFHAEE -

AEERMSEEN SR TA ()
WBIMTET R) A FENMA
HERMEE  ZFHERNE
ENAABEMSHE YEE
B KFBE R EMLE o Wt E
TARFEMBEMBEERE AR
BHRBE  AZITAFAFE
°

fiti — Bk % 1A 8 K 8 A SRIE I IF
BRIBEATBERMISEES L - 1%
THAFAEZE - SR WEATE
RMGHRENE TEVERKRE
mE M2t ©

oL



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

(i)

100

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had the following financial
assets at FVPL (Note 16) that were measured using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items
including investment in a wealth management product,
investment in Fuzhou concert, and derivatives generated from
investments in an associate and a subsidiary for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

(i)

MERKBER »)

DFEEGE (2)

R2023F 12 A31H  REBEEA L TEZER
FTEFABENEMEE (Hikle) &£f&E
AEATERGABE(E=B)£ -

FEHEXFATHEEGABIENL FEHE
(E=F)
TREVNEHE2023F12A31HIEFEE=
EBHEE (REEVERKRE RBMNEEBEER
BERRBERAFRNBARREEENT
ETER)MEE (2022F : ) o

Financial assets at FVPL

BROAFEARSHEMEE
Current Non-current
B JEREN
Investment
in a wealth Investment
management in Fuzhou
product concert  Derivatives Total
BMES iiE M
B’E HAEERSE IEIR #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TIT AR¥TT AR¥TT AR¥TT
As at 1 January 2023 202361 A1H = = = =
Purchase of financial assets at B B iR A F(ET ABH
FVPL ZEMEE 18,124 7,197 - 25,321
Change in fair value through BATEFABRELZ
profit or loss (Note 6) ) (Hi16) 592 = 2,641 3,233
As at 31 December 2023 MR2023%F 12 A31 H 18,716 7,197 2,641 28,554
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The fair value assessment methods and related key assumptions
and judgments adopted by the Group’s management is income
approach (specifically, discounted cash flow method): Uses
valuation techniques to convert future amounts (specifically,
cash flows based on the expected rate of return) to a present
amount.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
purchased certain wealth management product with floating
returns from a licensed financial institution.

The investment in a concert represents the investment in Jay
Chou Carnival World Tour 2024 in Fuzhou (the “Concert”).

The derivatives represent put options in relation to the
investments in Beijing Star Plus Fu’an Business Management
Co., Ltd. and Beijing Star Plus Jia Hui Business Management
Co., Ltd. (Note 16(b)).

The following table summarises the information about the
significant unobservable inputs used in the level 3 fair value
measurement of investment in a wealth management product,
Fuzhou concert, and derivatives.

3.3
(ii)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

BERBRER 2

DEEG (2

3 EMA BiE R 5 2 F B BIR
AEBEEBREBHAFETIGTEUR
R ES R A A% (ARARS
REBRIR)  RAMERNEARSE (A
BAENENERRENESHE) BiRAR
g

HE2023F12A31BILEE  AEFE A
MR BEEE T YRV ER -

RIBE R E I8 BN AN R 2024 32 FF FE it
FUEEEE (DEIEE ) MKRE -

TETAERREILREZAERAHEESR
RARIMILR 2RI ERHEREERAR (M
it 16(b)) A B Ay 304 A -

TRBAESER  BIMNREERERITE
TEANFE=ZEATFEFEFEANERT
AERBABBNER -
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FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMEBERRER 2
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 LFEMEEHE)
(ii)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (Continued) (i) fAEBHASERHELTFERHRHE (E)

Fair value as at Significant

Description 31 December 2023 observable input
72023 12A31H
il 5t BAFEE EXTHRGBASE
RMB’000
AR #TFiT
Wealth management product (a) 18,716 Expected future cash flows are discounted at rates

that reflects the internal rate of return of the
underlying investments.

EHEMITE (a) FEHARRREMERREAEEERNISEREY
AES TR
Investment in Fuzhou concert (b) 7,197 Future cash flows are estimated based on expected

return, and the contracted investment costs,
discounted at rates that reflects the internal rate
of return of the underlying investments.

BIEEERE (b) RRREMEENTBERI W KR & LI E KA EET -
I ¥ [ AR AR A 4% B 1A B 1B e R A R R BE3R o

Derivatives (c) 2,641 The risk-free interest rate of periods within the
contractual life of the derivative is based on
the market yield of the Chinese sovereign bond
with a maturity life equal to the expected life to
expiration. Expected volatility is estimated based
on the average of historical volatilities of the
comparable companies in the same industry as at
the valuation dates.

PTET A () PTHETESHNFHANSHNERRNEAZIEB
BN ERAENPBEEEN TSNS ER
it o HHIR S ERBEEBRITER LA F]
[ELRBERFHEME -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)
Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (Continued)

(a)

(c)

The Group subscribed participating shares in a fund
managed by a commercial financial institution who
determined the valuation of the fund periodically. The fair
value was determined by a combination of observable
and un-observable inputs.

Regarding the Fuzhou concert investment, the Group has
determined that the cost of acquisition during the year
approximated their fair values as at 31 December 2023
given the short time period in between.

Regarding the derivatives, the Group has engaged an
independent valuer to determine the fair value of the
put options. The fair value was determined by Binomial
Option Pricing Model with a combination of observable
and unobservable inputs.

A change in the expected rate of return or the discount
rate by 1% does not have significant impact on the fair
value as at 31 December 2023.

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 of fair
value hierarchy classifications during the year ended 31
December 2023.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

3 MHERRBRER 2

DEFEEMSGE (B
5 EMA BIER L FEAMHEFE (E)

(a)

(b)

(c)

AEERBE-—AHEESREEEE
MESHZER ZBXESRBET
HETZEENEE 2 FEHATER
ERTABEHABBHESETE -

HEBMNEEEREMS AEEHEE
EF AU RS B 7020234 12 A
BIEMAFERE  RER/ME ZMHE
E@E%Faﬁ@%:"

BOTETAME  AREEREBEY
fREMEERTHENAFE 2F
BNEARABELTAERSABE
m_AANREERAETE -

20234 12 A31 A - 78 8 B 4 % o
BEIREE) 1% HATELHEALE -

HZE2023F12H31HIEFE A F
BEGAENE— —R=E ML
TS o
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

(a)

(b)

104

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

Revenue derived from IP creation and operation business
Revenue from provision of event planning and management
services, and licensing services is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the terms agreed on the contracts. Revenue from
celebrity IP management services is recognise on a straight-line
basis over the show or broadcasting period.

The Group is considered as an agent or principal for its
celebrity IP management services taking into the consideration
indicator such as whether the Group control specified services
provided by another party before the services is transferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which
it expects to be entitled in exchanging for arranging for the
specified services to be provided by the other party.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group management determine the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the expected credit losses of these receivables.
The assessment is based on the historical loss experience,
adjusted to reflect the effects of current market conditions
and forward-looking information, which requires the use
of judgments and estimates. Management reassesses the
provision at each reporting date. Details of the expected credit
loss assessment are set out in Note 3.1(b).

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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(a)

(b)

EX &5 H & FIER
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BEEMAZRMEL  BEREREEFIEL
RAREERBEATEAREMNEY -

AREEERFAEL BT RIRR - MEEE -
PrEmastba RO ERBERER —
B FHEEKNRERAEEZHAS T @M BF
ENEEMABREEFELEEAFABENG
AR BREREwANTE o

REIPEIEREERHAOBRA

AU B KB N E R RS AT AT RIS B U A
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ARIS YU AT R H SR AR IR B AR RERR ©
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AEBWEEEREHE S REMEKER
TR I8 B 15 B B 1B A AT 4 R E 5% 5 B UK IR
HURE RS - FHE DERBERRLRIEDL
3 77 58 B A RBR E B T 35 4K 0 e A RE 1
EMOTE G2 RERHE KGR - 12
BRN&RE BMENTGHEME - AHREEES
BRHEFIBHNHE3.1Db)



(c)

(d)

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGMENTS (continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in consumer
preferences and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management reassesses these estimations at
each balance sheet date.

Net realisable value of TV programme rights

The Group’s management determines the impairment for the
Group’s TV programme rights with reference to the estimated
future economic benefits derived from the use of these assets.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of the economic benefits derived from
the assets of similar nature. The Group takes into consideration
both internal and external market information, for example,
the sales forecasts, sales and distribution costs budget and
the general economic condition of the relevant markets.
Management reassesses these estimations at each balance
sheet date.

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC and other
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the provision
for income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are
transactions and calculations during the ordinary course of
business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the period
in which such estimate is changed.

(c)

(d)

(e)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

BEXgsHAsTRAE 2

FRMTESHRBE
FENAERFENEREEHBERDN
A EERGFATINAREERS - 2%
BEFDERENMSRNARRERHE
BUTEERABEERIFL - AXNEES
RO LR REFH T REABRIRNTE
BEMEREHTTE) - Al b @ RAESAEH -
EEEREEEERABRAMENFHEZ
Ffhat e

EiRENEH R T2 5 R E
AEEEEE2EERAKRBEMNERAR
REMEENGBARRECENZEEZS
BEMRE - ZERHTHERE R MR KA
FHEEEMELRBEN S BERLR &
SEeZEAINEHHEM  flm - HEFR
Al SHE R DK ATEE LR M ISR EE
REVS ERERNSEEARKRAYEN
BEEEA A i

BDRA B & 5 FFr 18 1
AREBARTBEREMBEDERRFAE
Bio MEEZF AR EBHAEHEBE
RHEEELHE - RNAEERBRET 74
RERABTELENEENR S MFTE - fH
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 KARSEEE
The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as FERERAREEBHATRAIEETE - F
the Board of Directors of the Company. Management has BEDNRELARAREETSENANSE
determined the operating segments based on the information BREERBNEREELE DS -
reviewed by the Board of Directors of the Company for the
purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance.
The Board of Directors of the Company considers the business AARESSRRINHIRENE MR
from perspective of types of goods or services delivered or ARAEERER RBZE2023F 12 A31
provided. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the HIEFE  AEERKEERAIREDINAT
Group’s operating and reportable segments are as follows:
New retail: Retail of health management products and other TS AEREEREEMREMERNET
products in the PRC €
IP creation and operation: IP creations, media content creation, IPRIE N &8 : IPAIE - IEBAREIE - F
event planning and celebrity IP management FREIRAEIPER
(a) Segment revenue and results (a) PEHBAREE
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and AEBREREBRREREREATIEE
services over time and at a point in time in the following major EBENEREREEZHESIA
business lines:
IP creation
New retail and operation Total
HEE IPRIEREE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR FT ARKEFT
Year ended 31 December 2023  # E 20235 12A31H
ILEE
Segment revenue FEUA
— recognised at a point in time —REREIER 239,808 86,239 326,047
— recognised over time —RERBEER - 104,166 104,166
Total segment revenue SEEUTA 239,808 190,405 430,213
Year ended 31 December 2022  #ZFE2022%12A 31 H
ILEE
Segment revenue ST
— recognised at a point in time —REREER 240,099 2,600 242,699
— recognised over time —RERBERER = 101,458 101,458
Total segment revenue FEMEKRA 240,099 104,058 344,157
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(a)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The segment revenue and results and other segment

information are set out below:

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

5 WARSEEH 2

() PEUAR KM (=)
DEMAREEA RIS BERBFINT :

IP creation
New retail and operation Total
MEZE IPRIEREE #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFiT ARETFIT AR®TFiT
Year ended 31 December 2023  #E2023%F 128 31H
ILEE
Segment revenue FEUA
— recognised at a point in time — R R 239,808 86,239 326,047
— recognised over time — N EEEERER = 104,166 104,166
Total segment revenue SEEUTA 239,808 190,405 430,213
Segment results DEELE 145,838 130,495 276,333
Selling and marketing expenses  $H% & & #55 (112,317)
General and administrative —MREITHAX
expenses (106,633)
Provision for impairment losses & Bl & & BB BT 1B B &
on financial assets (3,192)
Other income H i A 9,563
Other gains, net Hfhlies - FEE 763
Finance income, net AU A+ FE8 2,341
Profit before income tax BR FT1S LR % A 66,858
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12831 BILFE

5
(a)

108

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

5 WARSEEH 2

(a) SEBUWARRERE)

IP creation
New retail and operation Total
NEE  IPREREE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR FT ARBFr AR For
Year ended 31 December 2022  # ¥ 20225 12A 31 H
IEEE
Segment revenue SEUA
— recognised at a point in time — R E R 240,099 2,600 242,699
— recognised over time — AR EERER = 101,458 101,458
Total segment revenue SEMEUA 240,099 104,058 344,157
Segment results DEELE 150,746 72,082 222,828
Selling and marketing expenses ~ $5%5 & & #57 % (72,447)
General and administrative — B RITEH
expenses (64,094)
Provision for impairment losses <& B & 2 5l B /&5 18 B
on financial assets (745)
Other income H AU A 21,844
Other expense HEhF X (5,798)
Other losses, net HibfEsia - F5E (9,553)
Finance income, net FIEUWA - FEE 1,103
Profit before income tax B P15 354 A1 5 1) 93,138
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(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all of the segment
revenue reported above was from external customers and there
were no inter-segment sales (2022: same).

Segment results represent the gross profit generated by each
segment. This is the measure reported to the Board of Directors
of the Company for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessments.

Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly reported to the
Board of Directors of the Company and therefore information of
separate segment assets and liabilities is not presented.

Geographical information
Most of the Group’s revenues are derived from the PRC except
for certain revenue from the IP creation and operation segment.

The amount of the Group’s revenue from external customers
by geographical locations and revenue presented based on
the location of the operations of the relevant business units are
detailed below:

(a)

(b)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

WARSEEHE 2

SEBUT A B SRR (&)

B ZE2023F12A31BIEFE " EXRAER
ZFE DRSS REINEBES - BBED
EBREEHE (2022 4F - M) °

DRI IEE D HEE 2 EFE - U ARA
FEERRATELRTALAANEFEL
SRR -

SHAEREBLTEHAAADESS
B ALLTRFIBISBEEREEE
%o

HwESH
BRORE IPRIE R &N BOETIRAIN - &
SERID WAZRRAE -

AEBZMWIBUEZ DONINBEFP WA R
BRMRAEEBELREMEL 25 8%
AR

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 5 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TFiT AREFr

Revenue A
China mainland AR P 428,140 344 157
Others HAith 2,073 =
430,213 344 157
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products or service is as follows:

(c)

5 WARSEEH 2

A 5%
BEREMARBAENTFLAHWADT :

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFir ARETFT
Sales of health management products and ~ $HERFEEIEE 7 N EE @
skincare products 237,440 232,308
Revenue from production of TV programmes E4% & B & /EUL A 84,142 =
Revenue from production and licensing of 1R 2445 48R4 [ 45 S REURA
entertainment videos 15,840 5,660
Revenue from event planning and EBREI R BB A
management 6,957 47,658
Revenue from celebrity IP management BHEIPERIA 71,239 41,708
Licensing and royalty income RERFTEERBIA 9,941 8,473
Sales of other products fHE HAE M@ 4,654 8,350
430,213 344,157
(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (d) WARREERTBE

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of goods or
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, revenue
may be recognised over time or at a point in time.

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if the
Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on time-based measure of
progress that best depicts the Group’s performance in satisfying
the performance obligation.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance
obligations. For such arrangements, the Group allocates
revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative
standalone selling price. The Group generally determines
standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to
customers. If the standalone selling price is not directly
observable, it is estimated using expected cost plus a margin
or adjusted market assessment approach, depending on
the availability of observable information. Assumptions and
estimations have been made in estimating the relative selling
price of each distinct performance obligation, and changes in
judgments on these assumptions and estimates may impact
the revenue recognition.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending
on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods and services that the Group has transferred
to a customer. A receivable is recorded when the Group has
an unconditional right to consideration. A right to consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of the consideration is due.

(d)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

(d)

(i)

112

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the Group presents
the contract liability when the payment is made or a receivable
is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the
Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer
for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due from the customer).

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the
principal revenue streams of the Group:

Revenue from new retail business

Sales of health management and skincare products

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally upon the acceptance of the products. The Group
recognises revenue in an amount equal to the contract sales
prices less value-added tax, estimated sales allowances
for sales returns, volume discounts and incentives paid to
distributors. Estimated sales allowances for sales returns,
volume discounts and incentives paid to distributors are made
based on contract terms and historical patterns.

The Group is regarded as the principal in the sales transactions
since in combination, that (a) the Group is the primary obligator
to provide the specified good or service to distributors; (b) the
Group keeps all the inventory risk and is responsible for delivery
of products; (c) the Group has discretion in establishing
the pricing policy for the health management and skincare
products and pre-determine the discounts, incentives and
fees required to promote the sales. Thus revenue from sales of
health management and skincare products is recognised on a
gross basis.
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(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from IP creation and operation

Revenue from production of TV programmes

Where the Group undertook the role of investor for the
production of TV programmes, it either:

o licenses the copyright and ancillary rights of such TV
programmes to customers for a fixed fee in a period
of time in designated geographical region. Revenue
is recognised at the point in time upon delivery and
acceptance of the final product by the customers as
control of the TV programmes is transferred so that the
customers can direct the use and obtain the associated
benefits; or

o sells the copyright and ancillary rights of such TV
programmes to customers in exchange for cash
consideration calculated based on an agreed
mechanism, e.g. advertisement income for each episodes
in designated geographical region. This constitutes
a variable consideration and such revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that
there will be no significant reversal when the uncertainty
is resolved.

Revenue from production and licensing of entertainment videos

The Group produces and licenses entertainment videos for
customers’ specific events with fixed considerations. Revenue
is recognised at the point in time when the videos are available
to the customers, generally on delivery and acceptance of the
videos when the customers are provided with rights to use the
videos.

Revenue from event planning and management

Revenue from event planning and management where
the Group undertakes the role of concert or Internet live
broadcasting management, is recognised over the show or
event period of a project as customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group’s
services. Revenue is recognised using a straight-line basis over
the term of the contract.

(d)
(ii)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

5

(d)
(ii)

114

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from IP creation and operation (Continued)

Licensing and royalty income

The Group licenses proprietary celebrity intellectual properties
and created media content to third parties. Any agreed upfront
licensing fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the license agreement. Royalty income from the
licensing arrangements is recognised in accordance with the
terms of agreements.

Since the Group has the ability to determine the pricing of
the TV programmes and entertainment videos licensing and
the concerts or internet live broadcasting, and negotiate the
service terms, and bear the relevant costs including the self-
production costs of TV programmes, entertainment videos and
concerts, and take responsibility for managing the licensed
libraries, the Group is regarded as the principal and recognises
revenue from the above revenue streams on a gross basis and
recognises production costs and other applicable fulfillment
costs as cost of revenue.

Celebrity IP management income

Revenue from celebrity IP management arises from the service
fee earned by the Group by managing IP of certain celebrities
and is recognised on a straight-line basis over the show or
broadcasting period.

Considering that the celebrities whose IP currently is managed
by the Group has the discretion to determine the basis of
performances measurement and the service prices in the
contract with advertisers and bear majority of the service costs,
the Group is regarded as an agent in such an arrangement and,
therefore, recognises revenue from Celebrity IP management
on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

6 OTHER INCOME, OTHER EXPENSE AND OTHER 6 HtgA HMtBAXZREMKES
GAINS/(LOSSES) — NET S (E548) 38

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR TT

Other income Hfthlg A
Government grants (a) BT B (a) 7,643 16,471
Additional deduction of input VAT EIRIRETINEHER 344 289
Investment income from wealth management 32 Bf & fh #& & Y 25
products 1,363 -
Income from other activities H R E U A 213 5,084
9,563 21,844
Other expense HMBAX
Expenses from other activities HiEEMx - (5,798)
Other gains/(losses) — net Hue R (6518) 828
Net foreign exchange losses PE W B 18 F 5 (3,165) (9,855)
Gain from fair value changes in financial BAVFEFABRZEHEERN
assets at FVPL (Note 16(b)(iv)) RNEEE WS (W 16(b)v)) 3,233 =
Others Hb 695 302
763 (9,553)
(a) Governments grants for the years ended 31 December (@) B ZE2023F k20229 12A318 IE&F
2023 and 2022 primarily comprised financial subsidies EMERSMEEERIEMH BN AR
received from the local government for maintain B T 136038 E W EUAY B B 40 B
stability of employees and business and one-off awards VAR SLAS 52 B 4 B LU TE RS R M A 0
for the Group’s contribution to Kunshan Huagiao F 2@ E D A BB — IR 48R -
and Hangzhou Economic Development Zone. These ZEMPRERREAE 2HEKER
grants were recognised in the consolidated statement R o Z MBI R RWm R G MY
of comprehensive income upon receipt. There are no s H A E M -
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to
the grants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 EBEEERSRIAE
Expenses included in cost of revenue, selling and marketing FTASHENAE HEREHASIUAR—R K
expenses and general and administrative expenses are TBRZHAITOT

analysed as follows:

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARET T

Cost of goods sold (Note 18) BEEEMKA (HE18) 81,083 76,590
Cost of TV programme rights (Note 19) EREEREER (7 19) 30,643 =
Advertising and marketing expenses EEREHEAYS 43,646 17,655
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) EERNHZ (KiL8) 70,505 51,504
Commissions B 25,815 32,309
Travelling and entertainment expenses Z IR R EER 2 13,787 4,176
Legal and professional fees FREREEER 6,591 6,202
Cost of event planning and management BRI M E BRI

services 27,568 29,529
Other tax and surcharges H b # I8 M hn & 2,317 2,008
Provision for impairment of inventories FERERE (KiL18)

(Note 18) 197 6,725
Transportation and logistics expenses Eig R YA 8,844 5,039
Depreciation of property, plant and M BRERBETE (HiE12)

equipment (Note 12) 5,460 3,606
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) £ FHREEEIE (Hit13) 4,103 2,608
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) A E#ESE (AL 14) 1,191 144
Listing expenses EWAX 31,930 10,059
Rental expenses for short-term leases EHEENASHAX (#7E29)

(Note 29) 3,469 1,011
Auditor’s remuneration ZERE & 3,800 =
Others HAith 11,881 8,705

372,830 257,870
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

8

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

& S & #1 B ST

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABRTFIT AREFT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e TENIEA 51,690 37,694
Share-based compensation expenses LA RS 1 45 E 5 9 S BN Bl 2
(Note 25) (H1a£25) 1,058 2,216
Pension costs SO A DN
— defined contribution plans (a) — REH-KETE(a) 6,247 4,486
Other social security costs, housing benefits H it €RFERK A&  (EEBH &
and other employee benefits HiigEE 11,510 7,108
70,505 51,504

Employees in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required
to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme
administrated and operated by the local municipal government.
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are
calculated on certain percentage of the employee salary to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

Also, the Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group’s and
the employees’ contributions were subject to a monthly cap of
HK$1,500 and thereafter contributions are voluntary.

No forfeited contributions is available to reduce the
contributions payable in future years.

(a)

AEEBTEMBRRNEEAZ MBS
MR EE R B REHRFRKE S -
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HESD

AN REEE REFBRELHS HRY
HRABEEFE ((RESE] %8R
BB XEAEENFUERKE S - BRIz
Bertdl AKREREERSREBRHIERTE
SIRPIFFRERNRBEBALS% FHEAHR -
AEBENEEENE A KR ERS1,500/8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group included
3 (2022: 3) directors and their emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented in directors’ emoluments below. The
emoluments payable to the remaining 2 (2022: 2) individuals
among the top five highest paid individuals were as follows:

(b)

EERFAMAX @
TEmesHFMALE)
HZE2023512A31 0I5 E - A&=ENT
HEREEFEMATBEIRES (20224 : 3
B)  HENHHRERN T XEZHH A
2O MA - EERE &S HFMALTHH
BT A (2022F : AB) A2 B8
HBaT

Year ended 31 December
BEX12A31HILLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TFir AREFT
Salaries, wages and bonuses He TENIEA 3,324 2,609
Share-based compensation expenses BARR 17 A E 58 69 5 BN B 2
(Note 25) (Bt7E25) 213 447
Pension costs RIRE AR
— defined contribution plans (a) —REMKETE(a) 120 106
Other social security costs, housing benefits  HE it @RERK A - (EEEF K
and other employee benefits H g BEH 117 129
3,774 3,291

The five highest paid individuals fell within the following bands:

EEESFMALTERATREBEA

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AREFT
Emolument band i E
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000 /& 7T 2 2
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(c)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

No remuneration was paid or payable to the directors of the
Company (including emoluments for services as employee/
directors of the group entities prior to becoming the directors of
the Company) during the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022, except for the follows:

8 ERWFBMAzZ 2

(c) EFEHM

HZE2023F 12 A31HILEE

HE20234F K 2022F 12 A31 HILFE
BECNRENAL2TDESTNHE (BFEK
ABRANRESANEEEEESE EF5
DT RAE A EB) - AT BRI -

Other social
security
Pension costs, housing
costs - henefits
Salaries,  Share-hased defined and other
wages and compensation  contribution employee
Name 24 honuses expenses plans henefits Total
Httit g
RERE
e IR ke HEERIR
Ik HERE RF-RE HfttER
TE4L 62 et El et st
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ANREFIT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Year ended 31 December 2022 #E2022F128318
LEE
Executive directors BTES
Ms. Ma (i) FzL0) 1,119 447 - 35 1,601
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan (i) BRI 1,334 = 15 = 1,349
Mr. Lai (i) RIEAE() 1,497 = 15 = 1,512
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Yang (i) b () = = = = =
Mr. Chen (i) BRI () - - = - =
Year ended 31 December 2023 #E2023F12831H
ILEE
Executive directors RITES
Ms. Ma (i) FzL) 806 213 10 57 1,086
Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan (i) s LEL() 1,181 - 16 - 1,197
Mr. Lai (i) RBAE A (1) 1,181 - 16 - 1,197
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Yang (i) BREN) 101 - - - 101
Mr. Chen (i) BRI () 101 - - - 101
Independent non-executive directors IR TES
Dr. Xue, Jun (i) BEEEHL() 101 - - - 101
Mr. Yang Dave De (i) Yang, Dave De %t 4 (i) 101 - - - 101
Ms. Chung Elizabeth Ching Yee () ~ #FEZ L) 101 - - - 101
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12831 BILFE

(c)
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

120

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The board of directors of the Company comprised:

Ms. Ma, Dr. Qian, Sam Zhongshan and Mr. Lai were appointed
as executive directors of the Company on 13 September 2021.

Mr. Yang and Mr. Chen were appointed as non-executive
directors of the Company on 13 September 2021.

Dr. Xue, Jun, Mr. Yang Dave De and Ms. Chung Elizabeth
Ching Yee were appointed as Independent non-executive
director of the Company on 18 April 2023.

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any director
in respect of their other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries
undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for early
termination of the appointment during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

No payment was made to third parties for making available
directors’ services during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, bodies corporate controlled by, and entities
connected with, such directors

Save as disclosed in Note 36, there were no other loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

FINANCE INCOME, NET 9 MBPA B8

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR TT

Finance income: BB A -

Interest income on bank deposits RITIFE KT B U A 3,590 2,443

Finance costs: MBERE :

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 29) FAE B &EF S (#1:£29) (522) (305)

Interest expense on bank borrowings RITERF B (727) (1,035)
(1,249) (1,340)

Finance income, net MBKA B8 2,341 1,103

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is WA BWMATERFIERCEERAENSRE

earned from financial assets that are held for cash management BERI  AFBWARI AT A -

pUrpoSes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31HIEFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10 FRrMBAS
The income tax expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 AREFEE2023F 12 A31 HIEFERFRE
December 2023 are analysed as follows: BRI SHaoT :

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FIT ARET T

Current income tax BNERFT 1S5
— PRC corporate income tax —HE D EREH 30,264 23,662
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBFNER 1,561 3,088
31,825 29,395
Deferred income tax (Note 31) BEIEFTSR (B 3£31)
— PRC corporate income tax —H B EREH (1,569) (1,158)
— Hong Kong profits tax —EBNER (4,809) 8
(6,378) (1,155)
Income tax expense RS 25,447 28,240
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Cayman Islands

Under the prevailing laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company
is not subject to tax on income or capital gains. In addition, no
Cayman Islands withholding tax will be imposed on dividend
payments by the Company to its shareholders.

Hong Kong

The Group’s entities incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to
Hong Kong profits tax of 8.25% for the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits for one of the Group’s Hong Kong
subsidiaries for the year and 16.5% on the remaining estimated
assessable profits during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: same).

PRC Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT”)

PRC CIT provision was made on the estimated assessable
profits of entities within the Group incorporated in the PRC
and was calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations
of the PRC after considering the available tax benefits from
refunds and allowance. The general PRC CIT rate is 25%
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: same).

PRC withholding tax

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
Implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued on
6 December 2007, dividends distributed from the profits
generated by the PRC companies after 1 January 2008 to their
foreign investors shall be subject to a withholding income tax
of 5% or 10%. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those foreign invested subsidiaries established in
the PRC.

10
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

FSMEAXZ 2

(GE-2 23]

RERSFESRITER  ARREFHKA
HE AW R o UL - RAR R MERR
RNREE B TRRESESENR -

&

REZE2023F 12 A31HIEFE - AEBER
BEAMRL 2 BERARFARNEE KT
BB ARNE 2B 8B LA RRBOER -
128.25% M B R M BB NGB - RIerfhat
JEER )% M| IR 16.5% BT R BUAT (2022 4F
HE) -

hELRBSR(ELERFBR])
PR EMEREEIE RATLESD
EHMRESHNERRE  RIEAEERH
B B 3L 2 B BB A AT R ER B0 B
WiIZBPEEEERAE - REE20235F
12A31BLLFE FEBACEMBRE
A 025% (2022 € : #2[A]) ©

hEFENR

BIER 2007 E 12 A6 B EM(DEREH
SEEMMAY  B2008F 1A 1B #E - @
REIRFEERFAEIIREEENEZ
% 5 B 5% 35 10% KT R BN TEFFTISFL
RAEEME  EAREERI0% - At &
EEEARNPEKINZEINENE QA
DR B BN TEHIEL ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuea) 10 RBRMAXZ 2

(e) The taxation of the Group’s profit before taxation differs () 7<% B 5t & B3 Al i F A0 B & B FH AN 52 &
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the rates KEREREERRITMESEENIER
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates as SREMTRE - FHEHINOT -
follows:

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HILEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%FT ARET T

Profit before income tax bR BT 1S B AT 4 A 66,858 93,138
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate %238 F 7 R B T A9 A b
applicable to profits in PRC (25%) TR (25%) 5T & 2 L IE 16,714 23,285
Tax effects of: UTRBZBBRE
— Effect of different tax rate —FRAMENZE 1,141 (1,789)
— Expenses not deductible for taxation — DA
purposes 982 6,412
— Income not subject to tax —BARBIA (2,543) (280)
— Tax losses not recognised for deferred —RRBELEFTSTERM
income tax FHIEEE 9,359 596
— Temporary differences not recognised —RBELEFTE B R
for deferred income tax T =% (34) 16
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised — N BRI AR 2B
tax losses &5t (450) -
— Reversal of previously recognised — RO AT RN TR ERE
temporary differences (9) =
— Withholding income tax —FEHN PSR 287 -
25,447 28,240
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average numbers of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: same).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used for the
purpose of calculating the basic earning per share for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 have been retrospectively
adjusted for the effects of the capitalisation issue of the ordinary
shares which took place on 19 June 2023 as set out in Note
24(a). The shares were deemed to have been allocated and
issued since 1 January 2022, when computing the basic and
diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

11
(a)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

BERET

BREXET
REZE2023F12A31BIEFE - BRER
BN R BT H ARG R A 3%
TSN B BRI F I EGTH (20224 ¢
HE) -

ARt E#H £20234F ;2022612 A31 8
IFFESRERZF LR NE TS
B KT 5 24(a) FT it 72 202346 A 19 H # 17
T B EANMEBEITH R TR AR -
ST EH E2023F M2022F 12 A31 R IHE
EOESREAREERTE  ROKIEAEH
20224 1 A1 B#EHE 3 K 31T o

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARFiT ARETFT
(Restated)
(geE5)

Profit attributable to equity owners of the KRAREZTEE AEMGGEF
Company (RMB'000) (AR%F) 34,515 60,389

Weighted average number of ordinary BT BRINE T E

shares issued 758,952,130 720,788,659
Basic earnings per share (in RMB/share) ERELRBF(AEE ) 0.05 0.08
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

1"
(b)

126

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the effect of
redemption option, which was anti-dilutive, was not included
in the computation of diluted earnings per share. The effect of
the outstanding share options under 2020 share incentive plan
was included in the computation of diluted earnings per share
as they were dilutive. Diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is the same as the basic earnings
per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

11
(b)

sREHN 2

SREERN
BERESRMNZRBEMEEEEELBR
B3 17 B R T 5 B B 1T A H) I AR D0
BHHE - BE2023F 1231 B IEFEE -
EOEABRBEER BUEGTESREE
B RFTAEFLE - 2020F 10 BB &t
ZIPRARITEEREEFREIER  BuEat
EEREBERNNTALTE - ARFERT
BEBTENZECETLTRAR BHZ
2022F 1231 B IEFE v BRE TR F &
FRELRBFAR -

Year ended 31 December
BEX12A31HILLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR&TFir AERETFr
(Restated)
(geE=5)
Profit used to determine diluted earnings RARETSIRESZF MG
per share (RMB’000) (AREFr) 34,515 60,389
Weighted average number of ordinary BEBITEBARINE I
shares issued 758,952,130 720,788,659
Adjustment for share options under BRI 2020 F B 17 B Eh 5T &1
2020 share incentive plan BB S A S B 12,750,730 =
771,702,860 720,788,659
Diluted earnings per share (in RMB/share) G ESERBF| (A £ HR) 0.04 0.08
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

12 W% - BRI

Furniture,
Land and fixture and Leasehold
buildings Computers equipment improvements Total
RE KB
T RETF B K& HERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AREFT ARETFT AREFT
At 1 January 2022 ®20225£1RA1H
Cost B AR 55,444 638 2,652 2,475 61,209
Accumulated depreciation 5t #r & (400) (188) (537) (1,100) (2,234)
Net book amount REBE 55,035 450 2,115 1,375 58,975
Year ended 31 December & ¥2022%F 128318
2022 LEE

Opening net book value  EA¥IBEE R E 55,035 450 2,115 1,375 58,975
Additions NE 1,695 475 1,380 10,070 13,620
Depreciation & (1,681) (166) (644) (1,115) (3,606)
Exchange difference [EN =5 - - 97 - 97
Closing net book amount HA K BR EE & 55,049 759 2,948 10,330 69,086
At 31 December 2022 ®2022%12A31H
Cost %N 57,139 1,113 4128 12,545 74,925
Accumulated depreciation 2t #r & (2,090) (354) (1,180) (2,215) (5,839)
Net book amount RESE 55,049 759 2,948 10,330 69,086
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e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 12 R -BERRM @)

Furniture,
Land and fixture and Leasehold
buildings Computers equipment  improvements Total
R KE
T REF . b:3:4 ] HAERE #at

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBMTET ARBTT ARBTET ARBTT

Year ended 31 December #ZE2023%F12A31H

2023 LEE
Opening net book value HAWIEREF{E 55,049 759 2,948 10,330 69,086
Additions NE 528 532 1,757 1,081 3,898
Depreciation e (1,709) (343) (1,582) (1,826) (5,460)
Exchange difference N = - (16) 34 - 18
Closing net book amount EAZK BRI R E 53,868 932 3,157 9,585 67,542

At 31 December 2023 720235128 31H

Cost %N 57,667 1,629 5,919 10,790 76,005
Accumulated depreciation 2137 (3,799) (697) (2,762) (1,205) (8,463)
Net book amount BREFE 53,868 932 3,157 9,585 67,542

(i)  Depreciation expenses were charged to the following categories (i) WER St AGZAZEKZERHO TFLER
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

Year ended 31 December
BEX12A31HILLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TFIT ARETT

Selling and marketing expenses SHE R EHAZ 1,034 104
General and administrative expenses —MREITBAX 4,426 3,502
5,460 3,606

128  STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEZEEER AT



13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

13 ERERE

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR TT

Office premises mMomE

Opening net book value HY) AR R E 1,878 3,893
Additions NE 23,850 1,448
Depreciation charge WERX (4,103) (2,608)
Early termination REEIE (114) (855)
Closing net hook amount HXEESE 21,511 1,878
At the end of the year REX

Cost DN 31,029 10,381
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (9,404) (7,648)
Early termination REEIE (114) (855)
Net hook amount REBRE 21,511 1,878
The Group leased office premises in Kunshan, Guangzhou, AEBRERP2EI0FHER L - BM
Shanghai and Beijing under lease term of 2 to 10 years. EERIERMRAYE - FREEENITE
Depreciation expenses of right-of-use assets were charged to At AGRETHKRERNEEREHRA
selling and marketing expenses and general and administrative STAR—MRITHAS (FFE29) °

expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income (Note 29).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14 |MEEE
Licensed
Software and intellectual Music
technology properties copyright Total
BREN®
BHR EiE FEWmE #et
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETFT ARETFT ARETT

At 1 January 2022 $®2022F1A1H

Cost B AR 679 = = 679
Accumulated amortisation - E (54) - - (54)
Net book amount REFE 625 - - 625

Year ended 31 December #E2022% 128318

2022 ILEE

Opening net book value HYIRmFE 625 = = 625
Additions RNE 3,397 - - 3,397
Amortisation i (144) - - (144)
Exchange difference ME 5 =5 - - - -
Closing net book amount HREEEFE 3,878 = = 3,878
At 31 December 2022 #2022 12A31H

Cost %N 4,076 - - 4076
Accumulated amortisation RETEE (198) - - (198)
Net book amount REFE 3,878 = = 3,878

Year ended 31 December B E2023%F12A31H

2023 LFE

Opening net book value R FE 3,878 = = 3,878
Additions NE 14,864 1,959 431 17,254
Amortisation i (727) (414) (50) (1,191)
Exchange difference M E 5 - 28 - 28
Closing net book amount HAREREFE 18,015 1,573 381 19,969
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12A31R

Cost B AR 18,940 1,987 431 21,358
Accumulated amortisation BETE# (925) (414) (50) (1,389)
Net book amount REEE 18,015 1,573 381 19,969
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 14 BB E&E 2
Amortisation expenses were charged to the following categories HERNYERGEE2ERERANUTE
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: BIFIBR -

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARRETT

Cost of revenue SHE KA 1,096 =
General and administrative expenses —REITHAX 95 144
1,191 144
15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 15 DR EARHERSE
QUITY METHOD

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
2023% 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARET T

Investment in associates REEATZKRE

At the beginning of the year ) = =
Additions nNE 5,004 -
At the end of the year F£X 5,004 =
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FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 15 DEZREARBKRSE 2
QUITY METHOD (continued)
As at 31 December 2023, the associates of the Group, which M2023F 12 A31 8 AEBFEAEREA
were accounted for using equity method, were as follows: RS AR ¢
Attributable equity
Carrying amount interest of the Group
IEEE TR M EL A2
As at 31 December
Place of Nature of ®12A31H

Company name incorporation relationship 2023 2022 2023 2022
DERE & A% 32 B 58 REEE 20235 2022 F 20234 20225
Star Era Hong Kong China/Hong Kong Associate 4 - 40% -

Limited
B TEABRAR hEEB NG
Billion star Development ~ China/Hong Kong ~ Associate - - 30% -

(HK) Limited
BREER(BB)ARAR RE /B /NG
Kunshan Yixing Cultural China/Kunshan Associate - - 20%

Development Co., Ltd.
BRILWEBEX(ERAER FBE/EWL NG

NG|
Beijing Star Plus Jiahui China/Beijing Associate 5,000 - 25% -

Business Management
Co. Limited (Note 16(b))

ItREAIEERKERE RE JtR =N

BRAR (KL 16(b))
The English names of the associates represent the best effort AT ITEENAYEHE  HAXEHEAH
by the management of the Group in translating their Chinese AEBEEEESNBIEP XEEMK -

names as they do not have official English names.

The Group determined that it does not have controlling interest AEBRE  EH LAWK ESTAGER
in above investees, but rather possesses significant influence. #-EEEEAFE . LEERTBILA
The associates as listed above are private companies and there NE HEROWEMSHRE - WEERER
are no quoted market prices available for their shares. There REEARINEREENSBEAR -

is no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the

associates.
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16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

(a)

(b)

PROFIT OR LOSS

Classification of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

The Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (FVPL):

- debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at
either amortised cost or fair value through OCI;

- equity investments that are held for trading, and

- equity investments for which the entity has not elected to
recognise fair value gains and losses through OCI.

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the

following:

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

16 BAFEHARSNEHEE

(a) BAFEHAARGHEMBEESN

AEBSTReREENBRRATFER
ABSHNERMEE :

—  THARBBKANBRRATET
ARt 2ER 0BG RE

- BFEEREaRRE R

RIEEZEFELBE2E B SER
FEKDSIBERNEDRE -

5 g

(b) BRFERAFEFABZAENEREESR
AT &IA

As at 31 December

W12A31H

2023 2022
2023 5 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TFT ARET T

Non-current assets
Derivatives (1)
— Star Plus Fu'an
— Star Plus Jiahui

Current assets

Investment in Fuzhou concert (i)

Investment in a wealth management
product (i)

JERBEE
PTET ARG
—BEER
—BEIEE

REDEE
BIMEEGIRE (i)

I B EE R AR & (i)

2,231 -
410 -

2,641 =

7,197 =

18,716 =

25,913 =
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

16

(b)
(i)

134

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

(Continued)

Derivatives

On 30 October 2023, the Company completed the investment
of 75% equity interest in Beijing Star Plus Fu'an Business
Management Company Limited (“Star Plus Fu’an”), which
became a subsidiary of the Group. In connection with the
investment, the Company was granted two options to (1)
put the whole 75% equity interest in Star Plus Fu'an to the
non-controlling shareholder by 31 December 2025 at a
consideration of RMB 17,400,000, being the Company’s
original cost of investment plus a premium of 8% per annum
(“Exercise price”), if the retained earnings of Star Plus Fu’an
was negative as at 31 December 2025 (Option 1), or (2) to put
24% of equity interest in Star Plus Fu'an at the Exercise price
if the retained earnings of Star Plus Fu’an was positive as at 31
December 2025 (Option ).

On 30 October 2023, the Company completed another
investment of 25% equity interest in Beijing Star Plus Jiahui
Business Management Company Limited (“Star Plus Jiahui”),
which became an associate of the Group. In connection with
the investment, the Company was granted an option to put
the whole of 25% shares in Star Plus Jiahui to the controlling
shareholder (the same entity of the non-controlling shareholder
in Star Plus Fu'an) by 31 December 2025 at a consideration
comprising the Company’s original cost of investment of
RMB5,000,000 (Note 15) plus a premium of 8% per annum.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

16 BAFEHARRNENEE =)

()

(h) #&)

TETR

M2023F 10308 » R A B ZEREILRE
BleZmGERaRAR([REER])75%
RERIRE ZARKAEAEBANHB AR
MZEEMS ARARERRIERE (1)
HE AT L2025 12 A31 BRE & A
AAE - BRI 2025412 A31 HATARKE
AR # 17,400,000 7T (BIAR & A [RIAIEE
A MSF8% 8 5m &) ([T E]) M3
BlRREEZAIE LN 75% ki (B2
—) HQHWEAIELZR2025412 831 8
NRBEMNALE  ARTFEELERAE
T 24% Maie (R1ED) -

M2023F 10 A30H - R A AT EIERE
ARERBEEEGRAR([EEZEE])25%
AR m —IHIRE - L AR RN B AR
BT RRREME  AREER R
12 - AT 2025 4F 12 A 31 B Al [AEARAR R (2
BIERFER R RERER) KEEAIFRE
2E25% B0 KEBEARRNFRBK
& A 7R A R #5 5,000,000 7T (Kt 3E 15) & 4
8% K (E



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16 BAFEHARSHNEMNEE &)
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(b) (Continued) (b) (#&)
(i)  Derivatives (Continued) (i) FHFEIRE)
Upon initial recognition, these put options were classified as RUITHERE  ZFRHBEDBREAYT
financial asset measured at FVPL. The fair value of the put Bt \NIERsTERNTSREE - B2
options was evaluated as at the date of grant and at each FEDAEEBBAREMBREHARRKA
financial reporting period end, using the Black-Scholes model, 07— &R AR GG - WET RIREER
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the T2 AR R M o TR AT AR A8 A
options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the HUE
model used:
As at
30 October
As at 2023
31 December (date of grant
2023 of put option)
2023
10A30H

#2023 % (4% H 2 3
12A31H R ER)

Unobservable inputs adopted HABN T B R E A BIE

Star Plus Fu’an — Option | EfER—=iE—

Expected volatility & BR R 18 38.17% 40.74%
Dividend yield fi% B =& 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate 12 5 ez 1) & 2.15% 2.44%
Occurrence probability BB R 20.00% 50.00%
Star Plus Fu’an — Option Il EfIER-=iE_

Expected volatility & BA R 18 38.17% 40.74%
Dividend yield SR 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate £ [ ez 1) & 2.15% 2.44%
Occurrence probability BB R 80.00% 50.00%
Star Plus Jiahui EfEE

Expected volatility & BRI 38.17% 40.74%
Dividend yield ISR 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate f2 J5, Be 1) & 2.15% 2.44%
Occurrence probability BAREE 50.00% 20.00%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

16

(b)
(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

136

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(Continued)

Investment in Fuzhou Concert

On 30 October 2023, Star Plus Entertainment (Kunshan)
Company Limited (“SPE Kunshan”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Fujian Zhongshi
Communication Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Zhongshi”), a third party,
entered into a cooperation agreement, pursuant to which
SPE Kunshan and Fujian Zhongshi agreed to jointly invest in
Jay Chou Carnival World Tour 2024 in Fuzhou (the “Fuzhou
Concert”). The Group’s investment in the Fuzhou Concert was
RMB7,197,000 and will be entitled to 5% of the Concert’s
profit or loss. Half of the investment amount had been paid
by the Group before 31 December 2023 and the remaining is
expected to be paid in April 2024.

Investment in a wealth management product

The short-term investment in a wealth management
product was measured at FVPL and included subscription
of participating shares of a fund managed by a commercial
financial institution Pursuant to the agreement entered in July
2023, the initial cost of investments under this agreement was
HK$20,000,000.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the following gains
were recognised in profit or loss:

16

(b)
(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BOFEHARRNERNEE &)

(&)

EMEEERE

720234108308 « AR A ZEE2EH
BRAZAIZE (B XRERAE (2AE
BB XK EF=ZHRBELEPREE
ERAR([BEREATPR] LA ERE - &
it 2AIE (B WREEREEATFRE =L
FHRERANM024 = FEM R KERES
(RMEEE]) - AEERBNERBS MR
BRART 1970007 B EEZHERB
EEBEMN5% - REBE R2023F12 A31
BRI —EEHE & BB R 2024
F4ALM

BEHERRE

BRAFEFABRTENIEMEREHIKR
B BEBREN2023F7 AT L1 # BB
HEXSREBEENESNSEE - &
A TR E® 6 K78 £ 20,000,000 7T °

RIAR R 2T
BE2023F 12 A31AIEFE - KRB
IR FERR

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FIT AREFT
Fair value gains on put options recognised R HE b iz (E518) — FEE R K
in other gains/(losses) — net (Note 6) oA FEWE (HiE6) 2,641 =
Fair value gain on investment in a wealth R HE bl zs  (E18) — FEEERL
management product recognised in B EMEEN AT ERS
other gains/(losses) — net (Note 6) (H1:t6) 592 =
3,233 -
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(b)
)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(Continued)

Risk exposure and fair value measurements

Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk is
provided in note 3.1. For information about the methods and
assumptions used in determining fair value are set out in note
3.3.

16

(b)
)

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

BOFEHARRNERNEE &)

(#)

BEMORLFENE
ERAASEERRRNERENMEIL -
EREEAFEMBAERBRRNERH
RHIEE3.3 °

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 17 HtWE R & E
As at 31 December
®12B31H
2023 2022
2023 ¢ 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR &Fir AREFT
Prepayments for staff quarter and office BIE®E RIFAGENFIE
premises 50,421 50,421
Prepayment for leasehold improvement MERESENFIA 2,220 1,044
Prepayment to a related party ) — %4 BB 5 TR 5k E - 1,376
Prepayment for software development B TR IR = 4,800
Others Ht - 1,997
52,641 59,638

In October 2020, the Group entered into agreements with
Kunshan Jiabao Wangshang Culture Investment Co., Ltd.
(EUEBEH SR EBR QA (“Kunshan Jiabao”),
for the purchase of office premises at considerations of
RMB50,026,000. The office premises are expected to be
delivered in mid 2024.

R20205F 107 AEBEE I FZE M HE X
EREERAA (RBILEED LW
LATR A R # 50,026,000 7T EY (R B HE B A5
PiT o # XI5 PR TR AT #S 10 2024 F R 2 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

18 INVENTORIES 18 &
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR &Fir AREFT
Raw and packaging materials R R B B R 2,415 5,140
Finished goods 2K G 18,264 23,688
20,679 28,828
Less: provision for impairment R ER S (197) -
20,482 28,828
The cost of inventories recognised as cost of goods sold BE2023F12A31BIEFE BREBFE
amounted to approximately RMB81,083,000 (2022: 7 an Ak AR B F B AN £ = A R 81,083,000
RMB76,590,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023. 70 (20224« AR#76,590,0007T) °
Provision for impairment was recognised for the amount by FERAEBRR 2R FENSEBER
which the carrying amount of the inventories exceeds the BERE Uit AGE2AKRERH[H
net realisable value and was recorded in “cost of revenue” in ERAl - B E2023F12A31B EFE -
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The REER A ERNFERERERARE
provision for impairment of inventories recognised in cost of 197,000t (2022 F : AR¥6,725,0007T) °
revenue amounted to RMB197,000 (2022: RMB6,725,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
Movement of the provision for impairment of inventories is GFEREBRENEBBERLNT
follows:
Year ended 31 December
#F12A31ALLEE
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AERETFT
At the beginning of the year F 1) - 9,218
Provision for impairment of inventories BERRHOFERERE
charged to profit or loss (Note 7) (Htat7) 197 6,725
Provision write-off B 5E - (15,943)
At the end of the year FR 197 -

138 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

19 TV PROGRAMME RIGHTS 19 EiRENEH#E
TV programme TV programme
rights under rights
production completed Total
REhm BE5ER
EHRMERIE THEERE #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AE®TT AEETT ARET T

At 1 January 2022 ®20221HA1H 13,594 - 13,594
Additions NE 74,750 - 74,750
Exchange difference fEH =% 1,258 = 1,258
At 31 December 2022 202212831 H 89,602 - 89,602
At 1 January 2023 #2023 1A1H 89,602 - 89,602
Additions NE 49,110 - 49,110
Transfer upon completion 7 T2 A FRF B 5 (61,029) 61,029 —
Recognised in cost of revenue R EHE B A FERR = (30,643) (30,643)
Exchange difference R 218 - 218
At 31 December 2023 72023 12A31H 77,901 30,386 108,287
The TV programme rights as at 31 December 2022 mainly 2022F 12318 - EREEREEEIE
represented the production cost of J-Style Trip Il (J&# 2 2) [BE#Ert 2] & [ SR EEREE | ) BRIVERK AR o
and Yue Lai Yue Kuai Le (%2R %4 1R %), As at 31 December 2023 12A318  REXEHEHAELL
2023, the rights mainly represented the production cost of Bz 2] Wer T 65  [FEARFac3] &[4k
remaining 6 episodes of J-Style Trip 11 (&% E 2) not yet LEIREE | ) BUER A o

broadcasted, J-Style Trip Il (JE#2523) and Yue Lai Yue Kuai
Le (BEIREEIREE).

TV programme rights are stated at the lower of cost and net TARE B MR TR K AN B AT 3R SHE R E Y
realisable value. Cost of the TV programme rights under BEEAR - Z{EFMNERE B REKREE
production includes all direct costs associated with the FRERMEBREN B WIEAEEBR B B -
production of TV programme rights, and are transferred to “TV FERESEREEA D TR ERE B R °
programme rights completed” upon completion of production. AR FERATEBBERNMEEE -
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the WMEBARASIEERT

ordinary course of business, less the applicable variable selling

expense.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —Z==%%3 139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

19 TV PROGRAMME RIGHTS (Continuea)

20

140

The Directors assessed the net realisable amount of the TV
programme rights as at each balance sheet date in order to
determine whether any impairment provision is required to be
made. The net realisable amount is estimated by reference
to the advertising and other related income to be generated
from the broadcast of the TV programme based on confirmed
order and/or letter of intent received by the Group less cost
of completion of the TV programmes. Based on the Directors’
best estimate, as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the TV
programme rights are profit generating with income exceeding
related production cost, indicating that the net realisable
amount should exceed the carrying value of the relevant rights.
Accordingly, no provision for impairment has been made.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

19 EREDEMRE 2
EENSEAEEABRAMIHEREA
BRAE R A IR E U 2 E R A
W - AR FENSRERERSA
EEMBEE R EMARKA (ERAEE
WBIMHERITER,/RBAE) KBS
85 B BB AT T - RIBE B MR -
R2023%F K2022% 12 A31H ' EHRE B
BRAE A M A AR IAAR R B 2R T AE RO -
RO IR A RB AR R M BR EE -
BRIt - AR 4 2 SR (B R o

20 BB EMTR

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFiT ARETFT
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets — amortised cost SR E — SR
— Trade and other receivables —8B 5 KHAMEWIA 327,396 62,066
— Restricted bank deposits —ZRHIRITFHK 28,167 =
— Cash and cash equivalents -ReFREEEY 145,823 182,633
Financial assets — fair value through SRMEE - BAFEFAEBR
profit or loss 28,554 -
529,940 244,699
Financial liabilities — amortised cost eMAR - HMERF
— Trade and other payables (excluding — 85 RHEAMENRIE
salaries and staff welfare payable and (TEREENFERET
other taxes payable) 18 7 DA R B At JE S5 18 ) 97,611 45,952
— Lease liabilities —-HEAaE 5,877 2,092
— Financial liability with redemption rights ~ —Fi#& Al lE R F W B A EF - 178,654
— Borrowings — &5 10,000 15,000
113,488 241,698
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21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

21 BESRHEMEKZRIEA

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ABRTFIT ARBFr
Current assets: MBEE :
Trade receivables (a) B 5 EWGIE (a)
— related parties (Note 36) — A5 (B72#36) 1,750 38
—third parties —$=%5 177,627 39,166
179,377 39,204
Less: provision for impairment of trade B BB EWGIE R ERE
receivables (3,635) (1,134)
Trade receivables — net B S EWGIE—F58 175,742 38,070
Bills receivables B R & - 1,000
Other receivables H b W RIE
— Amount held in a licensed financial —REFEERBEEREDN
institution (b) FRIE (b) 73,859 =
— Amount due from third parties (c) —EWRE=HFKIHE () 34,026 =
— Deposits (d) —1%Z % (d) 26,080 12,443
— Other receivables in respect of the —HEHAEIPEREBBBY
celebrity IP management business (e) E 4th fE W FRTE (e) 12,048 10,145
— Amounts due from related parties — PR Uk FE B 5 ZR B (A i 36)
(Note 36) 6,132 3
— Others —HAth 397 602
152,542 23,193
Less: provision for impairment of other R B RE R IE R B B
receivables (888) (197)
Other receivables — net H i fE WG IEH BR 151,654 22,996
327,396 62,066
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 21 BSRHEMBIRIE 2

(a) Trade receivables (a) BHEWKRIE
Trade receivables mainly arise from the Group’s new retail fé%ﬁ’ﬁlﬁz REFTEREAEEEEEET
business products directly sold to distributors and IP DEHENNTEEBRERRIPERER - &
management business. The normal credit period granted to FRZERFHNEFEEH BN FLREID
these customers are generally ranging from 5 to 30 days. APE o

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based ESRBFBBERNK=ERB HNERR D
on revenue recognition date: T -

As at 31 December

®12831H
2023 2022
2023 5 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARTFiT AREFr
Within 30 days 30BN 143,811 27,802
31-90 days 31HE90H 25,688 10,161
91 -120 days 91H%E120H 3,765 768
121 -365 days 121 H&365H 4,018 473
Over 365 days 3658 E 2,095 =
179,377 39,204

AEEEAGILERBESHHEREERLE
O REMTEREEEBIREE - NEZE
2023F 12 A31 AL FE - B 5B IAR
ERENESRHEI IO HE -

The Group applied the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. Movements
in the provision for impairment of trade receivables during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).
The carrying amounts of trade receivables are denominated in O RWHRIENREEN NI EEEE :
the following currencies:

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FiT AEBFr
RMB AR 178,269 39,204
Us$ ETT 709 =
TW$ B 399 =
179,377 39,204
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21
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, a deposit of HK$80,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB72,496,000) was transferred
to the brokerage account opened in a licensed financial
institution for subscribing certain wealth management products.
The wealth management products which carry an interest rate
of 5.5% per annum were subscribed in January 2024.

The amounts due from third parties mainly represented
receivables in relation to products purchased or services paid
by the Group on behalf of other third parties for promotion and
production of TV programme rights.

Deposits mainly included a deposit of RMB11,200,000 (2022:
RMB11,200,000) paid to a service provider in relation to the
commencement of the production of a music talk show, Yue Lai
Yue Kuai Le (2434410 4%) and a deposit of HK$13,300,000
(equivalent to RMB12,100,000) (2022: nil) paid to a third
party for a planned investment cooperation. The deposit for
investment cooperation had been repaid in March 2024 due to
the cancellation of the cooperation.

This mainly represented other receivables from a multi-
channel networking company and other brand owners for the
live broadcasting activities performed by Mr. Liu Keng-hung
and W&V Limited, the artiste management company of Mr. Liu
Keng-hung, in relation to the celebrity IP management business
of the Group. The Group has the obligation to collect payments
from the multi-channel networking company and the brand
owners on behalf of Mr. Liu Keng-hung and W&V Limited.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying values of the trade
and other receivables approximated to their fair values (2022:
same).

21
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

BORHEMEBEWKKIE &)

720234 12 A 31 B - 77 £80,000,000 # 7T
(HERDOAR®ET72,496,0007T) 28 ATE
FESREBERYNELERS  ARREE
TEVEM FHNRS55%NEHMEMRN
2024 F 1 AR -

RRF=ZTHFRIERAEERKREME
=R ERMREERHERENEEE
n 3 AR 765 P S A B9 FE MR IR

BRI EOEMMAREE—ESZEHEOS
BiE [4RERE mREREAI MR
& AR #11,200,0007T (20224F : AR
11,200,0007T) ' U EFETHEIP IR EA1E
A58 = 7 X 9 3% € 13,300,000 7T (18E
WA R#12,100,0007T) (20224 : #£) - i
RATEEUE R EAEIRE B R 202443 A

V= som

RAR o

% 5K IB £ BAE T BB R S A R W&V Limited
BIMEREBALLAR) THENE
AEEFEIPEREBNIRSERETHE
W RERB AT NEMREEE ANE
tRE - AEEBEEETRRIMELER
W&V Limited M Z REBPE A L REHER
AUREFZR

M2023F 12 A31 B » B 5 & H fth f& W 518
MRREEEE A FERE (20224F  HE) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12831 BILFE

22 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

22 WAMRIAEEMRESE

As at 31 December

®12A318
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARK¥TFT AR TT

Prepayment to related parties (Note 36) 0] BA B 5 TR 5R0E (A7 22 36) 9,411 1,501
Prepayment to suppliers ) 4 FE P TR A R IR 54,215 40,216
Prepaid listing expenses TERT LR - 8,260
Value-added tax recoverable Al Y Bl A HE{E RS 3,008 3,093

66,634 53,070

23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

23 BekBTHE

As at 31 December

®12A 318
2023 2022
2023 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%®TFT ARET T

Cash and cash equivalents RekREeEED
Restricted bank deposits ZBR B ERITIF K

The balance of restricted cash represents the security deposit
for issuance of notes payables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

23 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued) 23 BeRBTHEER
Cash and banks balances (including restricted bank deposits) AEERIRS RIBTES (BIEZRGIRT
of the Group are denominated in the following currencies: ER) AT EBEE :

As at 31 December

®12A 318
2023 2022
2023 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARRETT

RMB ARE 100,807 174,614
HK$ BT 69,955 2,858
Us$ = 1,305 599
TW$ B 1,923 4,562

173,990 182,633
The carrying amounts of cash on hand and at banks FHERRITHESNREERELATERES -

approximated their fair values.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign UARETENEH IR ABINE R EING
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies out of B AP B 78 38 <F AP B AT AR A A FE BB M IE
the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign B HIFR B KRR -

exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —E==%%3% 145



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

24 SHARE CAPITAL

Number
of ordinary
shares

BaERuME

24 B&E
Nominal value
of ordinary Share Share
shares capital premium Total
EEREE 3 BirER it
us$ RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000

ET  ARETT ARETT @ ARETT

Authorised: HBE:
At 31 December 2022 and 2023 12022 R

2023%12A 318 5,000,000,000 50,000

Issued: BRT:
At 1 January and R2022FE1A1HR

31 December 2022 12B 318 542,914,624 5,429 33 175,887 175,925
Capitalisation issuance (a) BRI ET(a) 178,445,376 1,784 13 (13) =
Global offering (b) FHRBEE (D) 80,527,500 805 6 288,701 2838 707
Dividends paid BERRE - - - (54,029) (54,029)
At 31 December 2023 $2023%£12A31H 801,887,500 8,018 57 410,546 410,603

(a) Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders of the Company
dated 19 June 2023, the directors of the Company were
authorised to allot and issue a total of 178,445,376 shares,
credited as fully paid at par (US$0.00001 per share), to the
holders of the shares (the "Capitalisation issuance”) whose
names are on the principal register of members of the Company
maintained in the Cayman Islands prior to the capitalisation
issuance in proportion to their respective shareholdings by way
of capitalisation.
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24 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

(c)

On 13 July 2023, the Company issued 78,640,000 ordinary
shares at a price of HK$4.25 per share for gross proceeds
of HK$334,220,000 upon Listing. These shares rank pari
passu in all respects with the shares in issue. The transaction
costs directly attributable to issue of shares amounting to
HK$16,711,000 was treated as a deduction from share
premium. On 7 August 2023, the Company issued and allotted
1,887,500 ordinary shares pursuant to partial exercise of the
over-allotment option, at a price of HK$4.25 per share for gross
proceeds of HK$8,022,000. The transaction costs directly
attributable to issue of shares amounting to HK$401,000 which
was treated as a deduction from share premium. Up to the
date of Global offering, the Group incurred listing expenses
of RMB7,834,000 for those newly issued shares, which were
capitalised and charged against equity. The net proceeds from
the Global offering amounted to HK$316,530,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB288,707,000).

Pursuant to Section 34 of the Cayman Companies Act (2021
Revision) and the Articles of Association of the Company,
share premium of the Company is available for distribution to
shareholders subject to a solvency test on the Company and
the provision of the Articles of Association of the Company.
Details of the dividend declared are set out in Note 33.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

24 BR*E ()

(b)

(c)

202347 A 138 - AR RIABRKRERA.25
7 T0 8577 78,640,000 f E @AY - ETIEFTIS
FXIE 4858 /5334,220,00078 7T © 3% M)
BRITRONRMEFNEZERFHAL -
TROEZEEMLHNRZHKA16,711,0007%8
TR BB RO EEINR - K2023F8 A
78 AQRBRIBBRELERENIDITER
B 4.2578 L 817 M Bc % 1,887,500 %
T3 % 0 BT1S FRIE 4258 5 8,022,000 T ©
BT D B A5 MR 5 A AN 401,000 7%
TWEEERDERENR BHE2HRBE
B AEBRZEHBEITROEELD
FIsk AR#7,8340007T ' ZE#H BTN
EEARCL AR - 2B EMB KA
H %8 5316,530,0008 7T (HHERH AR
288,707,0007T) ©

RIBF 2 2 ADE (2021 FEEThR) 55 34 15 &
ARAHAMERAY  MARFAEBEE
BENARRBIABERMRNERAE - BIF]
UARR B RDBEERRREL DK - B
EERRE M FIEEHTINHIEESS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 25 BEREELRMHMSERBMAR
TRANSACTION Z5
The share-based compensation expenses recognised are as EHERURDAERNOMSHZOT -
follows:

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARRETT

Share options BB AR 1,058 2,216
In 2020, the Company adopted a 2020 share incentive plan (the R 20204 + N A &) B 412020 F §% 17 2B
“2020 Plan”), which allows selected employees, directors of &I ([20205 51 8l)) - AR EETHE
the Company, and consultants with certain vesting conditions FHENKEEREES AR ESRERR
being fulfilled, to acquire ordinary shares of the Company BRENBREKBERARLTER BE&
pursuant to options granted. The maximum number of ordinary 2020 F T EI R RN EBREAEE A
shares that subject to the awards granted under the 2020 25,000,000 % » 202048 A 3 H X% 20204
Plan was 25,000,000. On 3 August 2020 and 16 November 11 A 168  REE R 2020 F 518 5 5l [
2020, the Group granted 24,800,000 and 200,000 share AEBETEE —REELAETERBET
options under the 2020 Plan to certain employees, a director, 24,800,00017 K% 200,00017 B P& 48 - AT 5 1
and certain consultants of the Group. The exercise price of all HERENTEEASRIIBIT - KTH
options granted was HK$1.9 per share. The options granted BRERENFEIHASERRAEFERE
would vest in equal annual installments over a four-year period BESRUSENTFES>BNRARERT -
or upon an earlier change in control of the Company. The B AR THBAEBMNION -

expiration date is 10 years after the grant date.
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25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

The following table summarises information with respect to
share options outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
and the weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP").

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

25 ERBELRMNSERNSMTR

ZH &)

TR A B A =2023F K 2022412 A
SIHMARITEBRENER R NEFHT
& ([EFHITEE]D -

31 December 2022
2022% 12 A31H

31 December 2023
2023 12A31H

Number WAEP Number WAEP
i ¥ ¥
®E TR &8 T1E(E

25,000,000 HK$1.9#&7L 25,000,000 HK$1.9%ET

Opening at beginning and REFFRE R
outstanding at ending RERBRITE
Exercisable at ending RERAITHE

24,763,132

NATER - NATER

The fair value of share options on the grant dates, being 3
August 2020 and 16 November 2020 were determined by an
external independent valuer using Binomial Option Pricing
Model. The significant inputs into the model are listed below:

BRERKRLBH (202068838 &
202011 A 16 H) R FET R IMNEF B L
HEMRE _AANEEERAEE - 2R
OB ABABBRIIRMT

Granted on

3 August 16 November

2020 2020

®

20205

2020% 11A16H

8A3H B

Expected volatility TEHR R & & 42.86% 42.86%
Risk-free interest rate 1= [ b 1 & 0.241% 0.241%
Forfeiture rate R U R 27% 27%
Dividend yield R 0.00% 0.00%
Exercise price I E HK$1.97% 7T HK$1.978 7T
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 12 A31HILEE

26

150

RESERVES 26 f#fis
Share-
based  Currency
Share Capital ~ Treasury  Statutory  payment translation
premium  reserves  stocks  reserves  reserves  reserves Total
B &%EE
BHBE BFHE EER ZEHE 40 510 st
RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMB0OOO  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARE  ARE  ARE ARE ARE ARE AREK
FIT F FIT Fr FIT Fr FIT
(d) (@) (b)  (Note 25) (c)
(Hiz25)
Balance at 1 January 2022 R202FE1A1AZESE 175887 (6,000) (158,180) 10,057 5408  (2,202) 24970
Currency translation differences ElmEEE = = = = = 1,716 1,716
Equity-settled share-based payment #2548 & AR 1) AR
transactions HRERS = = = = 2216 = 2216
Appropriation to statutory reserves B Z A TE R = = = 4441 = = 4441
Balance at 31 December 2022 2022512831 AZEE 175887  (6,000) (158180) 14,498 7,624 (486) 33,343
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F 1B 1Az &R 175,887 (6,000) (158,180) 14,498 1,624 (486) 33,343
Capitalisation issuance (Note 24(a) A& EAT (M 24(3)) (13) - - - - - (13)
Issuance of ordinary shares upon global 72 & EB T LR
offering (Note 24(b)) (HiaE24()) 288,701 - - - - - 288,701
Derecognition of financial instrument 42 |- F 57 it # B /2] # 7 &)
with redemption rights (Nofe 32) SRIEH#32) - 8,663 158,180 - - - 166,843
Currency translation differences ElnEzEE - - - = - 13578 13,578
Dividends declared and paid by the AR R E R IR HI LS.
Company (Note 33) (H17#33) (54,029) - - - - - (54,029
Equity-settled share-based payment 1B E AR A
transactions (Note 25) HERHRARS
(B1:225) = - - - 1,058 - 1,058
Appropriation to statutory reserves  EEZEETHE - - - 10,256 - - 10,256
Balance at 31 December 2023 B2023E 12831 AZRE 410546 2,663 - 24754 8682 13092 459737
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26 RESERVES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Treasury stocks of the Group were related to the
30,094,112 ordinary shares issued to Bradbury Private
Investment IlI Inc. (“Bradbury”), a pre-IPO investor, with
redemption rights. The details of redemption liability
related to the redemption rights are disclosed in Note 32.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of
the PRC, when distributing the net profit of each year,
the subsidiaries in the PRC shall appropriate 10% of
its profit after income tax (based on the PRC statutory
financial statements and after offsetting accumulated
losses from prior years) to the statutory reserve fund. The
subsidiaries in the PRC can cease appropriation when
the statutory surplus reserve accumulated to more than
50% of the registered capital. Certain subsidiaries have
reached such ceilings.

Statutory reserve can be used to make up the loss or
increase the paid-in capital after approval from the
appropriate authorities.

Foreign currency translation reserve represents the
difference arising from the translation of the financial
statements of companies within the Group that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency of RMB for the financial statements of the
Group.

As part of the Group reorganisation process in
preparation for the listing of the Company, the Company
acquired interests in subsidiaries from the shareholders.
The difference between the consideration paid and the
net book value of all the subsidiaries were recorded by
the Company as capital reserves.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

26 %@ =)

(a)
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27 BHRREMERRR

As at 31 December

®12A31H

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT AR TT

Trade payables (a)
- related parties (Note 36)
— third parties

Notes payables

Other payables

— Amount due to related parties (Note 36)

— Payable relating to celebrity IP
management business (b)

— Payable for investment in Fuzhou concert
(Note 16 (b)(ii))

— Salaries and staff welfare payable

— Other taxes payables

— Accrued listing expenses

— Accrued expenses

— Deposit from customers

— Others

E B EMNRIHE )
—@@8t 5 (B1:£36) 3,993 1,128
—F=% 10,090 8,556
14,083 9,684
JEEE 28,167 -
H b 3B
— BT RAES 75 2 A (A7 72 36) 22,232 15,946
—EHPEIPEREK
JEASHRRIE (b) 19,414 10,176
—JERBINER SR E FUB
(B3 16(b)(ii)) 3,598 =
—-ENHERETEF 4,683 6,083
—H TR IE 15,383 16,975
—fEET EWmRHX = 3,580
— R 3,981 1,200
—REE® 3,908 4,328
—HAh 2,228 1,038
75,427 59,326
117,677 69,010
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27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date at

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

27 B REMESRE =)
(a) MBB/EHF  ERBZAMOBSENX

the end of each reporting periods is as follows: HERERDATAOT ¢
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 5 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR¥TiT AREFr
0 - 60 days 0£60H 10,938 8,190
60 — 120 days 602 120 H 1,027 43
121 — 365 days 1212 365 H 1,330 66
Over 365 days 365 B E 788 1,385
14,083 9,684

This mainly represents the other payables due to celebrities
managed by the Group, and a multi-channel networking
company in relation to the live broadcasting activities performed
by the celebrities to brand owners under the Group’s celebrity
IP management business.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables
were denominated in the following currencies:

(h) ZFBEEXEBEEERNAKEEEAZER—MHZ
REVBARABEZEHEEAKREREIP
ERXB TNAMEEEANETERESH

HoAth & 3RH -

(c) "EEEZREMEMNFENKREEAT

JIE®ETHE

As at 31 December

®12A318
2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FiT AEBFor
RMB AREE 84,259 48,059
HK$ BT 32,868 20,951
TW$ Bk 550 =
117,677 69,010

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of
the trade and other payables of the Group approximated their
fair values.

(d) M2023F K2022% 128310 KEBEE
SREMEMZENEAERE AT ERS

1S

o A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

28 BORROWINGS

28 f&E®

As at 31 December
®12A31H

2023 2022

2023 % 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT

Non-current JEEN

Non-current portion of a long-term bank REJIRITIERAIIERED
borrowings, secured BER

Current E

Current portion of a long-term bank RHEBIRITIE AR
borrowings, secured BER

Total borrowings R

In January 2021, the Group entered into a 5-year mortgage
loan with Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd, Suzhou branch for the
purchase of office premises. The mortgage loan bears a fixed
interest rate at 5.70% per annum and should be repaid on
monthly installments. Such bank borrowings are secured by
the prepaid staff quarter and office premises (Note 17).

The amounts of repayment installments of the borrowings are

o

P/ .

5,000 10,000
5,000 5,000
10,000 15,000

R2021F1 8 > AEBER EFRITRN
BRAREMDITAI LS FHIRBE - A
EMAEYE - RIBERNEENELEE
5.70% » AR A 5 HER - ZRITEFARE
NEIBEERPAYEEM (HE17) -

as follows:
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARTFiT AREFor
Within 1 year 16 R 5,000 5,000
1 year to 2 years 1&E24F 5,000 5,000
2 year to 3 years 2E3F - 5,000
10,000 15,000
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FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

29 LEASE LIABILITIES 29 HE&R
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR&TFir AERETFT
Lease liabilities HEAR
— Current — Bl &R 3,704 1,872
— Non-current —FERNER 2,173 220
5,877 2,092
The Group leases office premises for its operations and lease AEBHEERAEZTMHEUHLE  MHEES
liabilities were measured at the net present value of the lease BEEREHAEHAMARINNBEENKEFR
payments during the lease terms that are not yet paid. The B2 - B AEEED RN XMW
respective right of use assets were recognised and disclosed in I3 -

Note 13 above.
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FEMERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12831 BILFE

29

156

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 29 &\’ »

The amounts of expenses recognised in the consolidated FiRe2ARERTIHREERRANAI S
statement of comprehensive income in respect of leases are set BT -

out below:

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
20234 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TFT ARET T

Depreciation charge of right-of use assets ~ FREEEMNTEER (#/:£13)

(Note 13)

— Selling and marketing expenses —HE REHAX 115 =
— General and administrative expenses —— M RITHRX 3,988 2,608

4,103 2,608
Interest expense (included in finance costs) #| 8% (GFABE R A) (#7729)

(Note 9) 522 305
Short-term lease expenditure for office MAEYE BEMERHED

premises, dormitories and equipment RHRER W (A7)

(Note 7) 3,469 1,011
Cash outflow for lease payments HENZNEE R 20,470 3,122
Cash outflow for short-term lease REEERSR 3,469 1,011

23,939 4,133
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30 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract AEBBER T EKEBENEHNEE

(a)

liabilities:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

30 EMAR

As at 31 December

®12A 318
2023 2022
2023 2022 5
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARET T

Current liabilities aAaR

Sale of goods HESm 25,464 24,414

Provision of IP creation and operation service 121t IP &ll3& % & 18 iR 75 7,683 6,971
33,147 31,385

Non-current liabilities ERBER

Provision of IP creation and operation service 21 1P &l3E & & i IR 7% - 38
33,147 31,423

Significant changes in contract liabilities

(a) EVMARMEXEH

Contract liabilities of the Group refer to the payments made by AEBMNEHNBEREPIERMOMNR - miH
customers while the underlying goods or services are yet to be S e RIS MR - BB ERIG IS
provided. The increase in the contract liabilities is resulted from BN HEET BRI PR

the increase in sales orders.
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12831 BILFE

30 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities.

30
(b)

aeHaR e

EFREVAGRHRERNHIKE
TREREB E2023F k2022912 A31 H
IFFERRNNGEEEANAEERR -

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
20234 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥®TFT ARET T

Revenue recognised that was included in the 5t A& LB EEHED

contract liabilities balance at the beginning B R

of the year
— Sale of goods —HEEm
— Provision of IP creation and operation — IR IPEIE K
service
(c) Unsatisfied performance obligations

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations
resulting from long-term licensing contracts:

E R

(c)

%

24,414 54,863

6,444 4,490

30,858 59,353
ABRITHERHES

TRENERHAFIEGNERARBITHNELD
B

As at 31 December

®12A318
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT AR TT

Aggregate amount of the transaction price ~ DB FH A RKBITREAGFITE L

allocated to long-term licensing contracts MR FEBRE
that are partially unsatisfied

The Group selected to choose a practical expedient and
omitted disclosure of remaining performance obligations as all
other related contracts have a duration of one year or less.

(d) Assets recognised from incremental costs to obtain a
contract
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there

was no significant incremental costs to obtain a contract.

158 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

(d)

16,274 5,023

HRATA RS ORHRA—FIAT
AEBMEREHEHEIEN L UERRE
RIRBOET -

HERSHAELEOIBRAHENEE

B E20234F k2022F 12 A31B L8 -
RESEHNTHELEENEEMAK -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

31 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 31 EEFRFRIR
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as BEFEREERBBEINAT :
follows:
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARET T

Deferred income tax assets: FIEFTISREE
— to be recovered within 12 months —R121E ARG 11,526 4,137
— to be recovered after 12 months — R 12ME A & Uk E 556 457
12,082 4 594
Net off with deferred tax liabilities ERRER IR & B 5 (1,518) (408)
10,564 4186

Deferred income tax liabilities: RIEFTISREE
— to be recovered within 12 months — 1218 A A E 918 377
— to be recovered after 12 months —R12ME A & Uk E 600 31
1,518 408
Net off with deferred income tax assets BURIEFTS I B EE 8 (1,518) (408)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 12 A31HILEE

31

160

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets during the year is

31 SREEFRFR(2)
ERELFMEHEELIHIT -

as follows:
Unused tax
Provision for losses Lease
impairment (a) liabilities Total
XEBAERE
i (B % 0 B HERAR k]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRETFT ARETT ARETFT AREFT
As at 1 January 2022 R2022%F1A1H 2,436 474 890 3,800
Credited/(charged) to the NSRRI e d !
consolidated statement of A (k)
comprehensive income 1,221 3 (430) 794
As at 31 December 2022 2022%12RA31H 3,657 477 460 4,594
As at 1 January 2023 #2023F1A1H 3,657 4717 460 4,594
Credited/(charged) to the REEAZERERA
consolidated statement of A (3N%)
comprehensive income 552 6,601 335 7,488
As at 31 December 2023 #2023% 128318 4,209 7,078 795 12,082
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

31 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 31 EEMRBR 2
The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year FRREEMSHABENZERBRAOT :
is as follows:
Right-of-use
assets FVTPL Total
BATFE
HHiEEE AER #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T AR TFT ARETFT
As at 1 January 2022 ®2022£1A1H 769 - 769
Charged to the consolidated RErE2AEBERNR
statement of comprehensive
income (361) = (361)
As at 31 December 2022 2022128318 408 - 408
As at 1 January 2023 72023 1A1H 408 - 408
Charged to the consolidated RizE 2E KR E RN
statement of comprehensive
income 450 660 1,110
As at 31 December 2023 ®202312H831H 858 660 1,518
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

31 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 31 EEMRBR 2

(a) Deferred income tax assets were recognised for tax losses  (a) IEFEFTSHIE E AR Al s B AR K FEEBH
carry-forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax FIERAEBETRFZOIBTRT - ERAEFUK
benefits through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 B8 458 - PA2023F 12 A31H > AR AT H
December 2023, the Group did not recognise deferred income RILEFRBE B R R ERT R TS EAT
tax assets on tax losses amounting to RMB67,637,000 (2022: AITEAIE - NEE I E R A R #67,637,000
RMB49,297,000), due to the unpredictability of the amount 7T (20225 : A R#49,297,0007T) A Fi 18
of future assessable profit that can be utilised to offset the tax EiEERAELEMESHERE -
losses.
The expiry year of the deductible tax losses that are not RABEEMESHEERRN AT EE A
recognised for deferred income tax assets is analysed below: BHAFEMOWAT -

As at 31 December

®12A31H

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 &
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AEETFT

PRC subsidiaries A B B A A
2023 2023 F N/ARE A 635
2024 2024 F 1,522 1,522
2025 2025 F 4,599 4,599
2026 2026 F 2,189 2,853
2027 2027 2,053 2,053
2028 2028 F 8,968 -
Hong Kong subsidiaries BEABMEB A A
Indefinite fEPR HA 7,584 4,399
26,915 16,061
The loss of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries can be carried AEENFENB AR ZEEA]LEE AT
forward for a period of five years, while the loss of subsidiaries MBS B AR ZEIBR] KA EE o

in Hong Kong can be carried forward perpetually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax liabilities of RMB29,366,000 (2022: RMB
15,624,000) in respect of the withholding income tax on the
unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
since 1 January 2008 amounted to RMB293,661,000 (2022:
RMB156,238,000). No provision has been made in respect of
such withholding tax as the directors have confirmed that the
profits of PRC subsidiaries will be permanently reinvested in
mainland China and have no intention to remit such earnings.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT WITH REDEMPTION
RIGHTS

31
(b)

32

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

RIEFRRIR 2

20234 12 A31 B » A% B 5t & 5 2008
FIAIBRERATEZHMB AT Z REEM
Z FBHI AT 5 A R # 293,661,000 7T (2022
£ AR 156,238,000 7T) I 5K HERIELE FT
BB & AR 29,366,000 (20224 : A
R #15,624,0007T) - HREBEECHRTH
B AR EMBKABRETFHEARM
BEFEEEHZS WS MY ERZSTE
IR VR B4 o

fHEFREEFNEMTR

Total

@t

RMB'000

ARETFT

As at 1 January 2022 ®2022%1A1H 163,520
Exchange differences &N =% 15,134
As at 31 December 2022 202212831 H 178,654
As at 1 January 2023 7202318 1H 178,654
Exchange differences P& =% 4,142
Lapse upon Global Offering REIREERB RN (182,796)
As at 31 December 2023 2023 12A31H -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

32

33

164

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT WITH REDEMPTION
RIGHTS (continued)

Under a pre-IPO investment agreement entered into between
the Company and Bradbury, the Company shall repurchase
all the shares from Bradbury if the shares of the Company
failed to be listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on or before 31 December 2021.
Bradbury would have the right to exercise such redemption
right at an aggregate consideration of HK$200,000,000,
being the amount of pre-IPO investment. In accordance with
the investment agreement, the redemption right would be
suspended immediately prior to the Company’s submission
of the listing application and would be restored automatically
upon the earlier of the withdrawal of the Company’s listing
application, the Company'’s listing application being rejected,
or the Company’s listing process being terminated or listing
application has lapsed for any reason. As the repurchase
option given to Bradbury is an unavoidable obligation of the
Group, the investment from Bradbury was regarded as financial
instrument with redemption rights instead of an equity. The
amount of the financial liability was determined based on the
discounted value of the consideration of HK$200,000,000.
The discount rate applied was 5.7% per annum which was the
Group’s cost of borrowings and the interest rate of the financial
liability. According to the agreement, the financial liability would
have become payable on demand since 1 January 2022. No
interest expenses has been accounted for since 31 December
2021 as the book value of the financial instrument has reached
HK$200,000,000 (equivalent to RMB182,796,000 as at 13
July 2023) since then, which represented the entire amount to
be repaid to Bradbury.

On 13 July 2023, upon the completion of the Global Offering,
the repurchase option derived from the pre-IPO investment
was lapsed and the financial liability and treasury stock were
derecognised. The difference amounting to RMB8,663,000
was recognised in reserve.

DIVIDEND

Pursuant to a resolution passed at the shareholders’ meeting
of the Company on 13 June 2023, special dividends
of HK$60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB
54,029,000) out of the share premium account were declared
and paid to the Company’s shareholders.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT
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HEREEFHEMT R @)

RIE A 7] B Bradbury 5] S FY B X AR &
AT & ek - AR B AR R A8 P 2021 FF
12A31BZAEEABAERIMABRA
AIEMR ™ - ANQRZER Bradbury BB Fr A
fi% 7 ° Bradbury % & # LA 200,000,000 7% 7T
MEREBIEXAARAEENRESR) 1T
FZER M - RIBIREHZE  BEESNE
BEARDNRIRZ EWERBIKIE  WEXRAFA
BE TR« ARQR) LT HBEHEKE A
AR EMBFKIE ETERFEREARE
KM AREEBE)FEHRE - ARE
T Bradbury B [B & 2 12 4 A AN K B S A] 5
R)FE 75 - 2K & Bradbury B 1% & % 1% & M 75 8
EENNERTAMEEZ SRHBESRE
THiR B (& 200,000,000 8T 2 BHIR{EEE ©
FrRAMBIRRAEF57%  BAEEXN
BRRARSRABENFE - RIEZHE
SRIBEEN2022F 1 B 1 BBIRER(EE -
H2021F 12 A31B# A e/ T AEMER
M B 2 # 200,000,000 jT (722023 % 7 A
13HEER ARY182,796,0007T) @ BN A
B8 T Bradbury 2 50 & 58 - AL E\ET AT
BRX -

R2023F7A13H  REREETKIEK
BREBRAHABEAREZEREERED
R RIERSBRABNMEFRD - 8
AR 8,663,000 7T 2 WA 1 3R o

B R

BIEN2023E6 AI3HERRATIREAR
BBRRFEE - AD R AR EEREF R
HE R MR 4 BB 8.60,000,0007% 7t (48
BN AR 54,029,0007T) ©
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 34 eI TERME

FLOWS

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated  (a) PBRETSHHANGEF HELHMBIRS AL -

from operations:

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31HLLEE

2023 2022
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARRETT

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for:

— Finance income (Note 9)

— Fair value changes in financial assets at
FVPL (Note 6)

— Finance costs (Note 9)

— Income from wealth management products

(Note 6)
— Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 12)

— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 13)
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14)

— Net impairment losses on inventories
(Note 18)

— Net impairment losses on financial assets

(Note 3.1(b))
— Share-based payments (Note 25)
— Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets
— Exchange (gain)/loss — net

Operating cash flows before changes in
working capital

Changes in working capital:

— Inventories

— TV programme rights

— Trade and other receivables

— Prepayments and other current assets

— Trade and other payables

— Contract liabilities

— Restricted cash

Cash (used in)/generated from operations

B B 15 %54 AT g 66,858 93,138
AT ZBEELAE
— WA (B1aE9) (3,590) (2,443)
—BATFEFABSENEREEN
NEELE (fiE6) (3,233) -
— TSR (K7 9) 1,249 1,340
—BEHERKRA (HiE6)
(1,363) -
- BERZENTE
(Htat12) 5,460 3,606
—ERREENITE (Kt 13) 4,103 2,608
—EEENEE (K 14) 1,191 144
—~FEMRERIEFE (HE18)
197 6,725
—CREEMNREBEFHE
(H15£3.1(b)) 3,192 745
— AR BERN R (W E25) 1,058 2,216
—HEFREEERS (3) -
—[EX (W) BE—F58 (1,479) 13,706
LEESHPICLERERE
73,640 121,785
BBESE
-FE 8,149 (11,063)
—EREN B e (18,685) (76,008)
— B 5 R H A EUGRIAR (182,615) (11,119)
—BNREREMREEE (12,486) 3,926
—E S REMENTIE 48,132 23,434
—BHAaE 1,724 (27,930)
—ZRHEE (28,167) =
R (A /FEEe (110,308) 23,025
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BHE2023F12 A31 HILFE

34 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

(b)

(c)

166

FLOWS (continued)

Non-cash financing activities

34 FERERERBE 2

(b) FHREMRED

Year ended 31 December
#E12A31AILEE

2023 2022
2023 % 2022 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR&TFir ABRETFr
Financial instrument with redemption rights  Hf %5 a] B R 1€ & T B
(Note 32) (#1a£32) (182,796) =
Additions to right-of-use assets (Note 13) FREEENE (WiF13) (8,850) (1,448)
(191,646) (1,448)
Reconciliation of liahilities generated from financing (c) MBEEFTHRELEEBHHIE
activities
Financial
liability for
redemption Lease
Borrowings rights liabilities Total
R ERE
Eimam
&= ffa HEAE @t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFTT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Net debt as at 1 January 2022 R2022F 1R 1 BRI FER 20,000 163,520 4316 187,836
Cash flows Renhs (6,035) - (3,122) (9,157)
Additions of leases HEARE - = 1,448 1,448
Decreases of leases HERD - - (855) (855)
Interest accrual FEEF B 1,035 = 305 1,340
Exchange differences &5 =% = 15,134 = 15,134
As of 31 December 2022 HE2022%F12A31H 15,000 178,654 2,092 195,746
Net debt as at 1 January 2023 R2023F 11 BEFER 15,000 178,654 2,092 195,746
Cash flows BeRE (5,727) - (5,470) (11,197)
Non-cash changes FREE - (182,796) - (182,796)
Additions of leases HERNE - - 8,850 8,850
Decreases of leases HERD - - (117) (117)
Interest accrual FEATFI & 1217 - 522 1,249
Exchange differences &5 =% - 4,142 - 4,142
As of 31 December 2023 BHE2023F12A31H 10,000 - 5,877 15,877
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTINGENCIES

As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered
to be related if they are subject to common control, common
significant influence or joint control.

As mentioned in note 1, the Company is controlled by the
controlling shareholders, being Ms. Ma, Mr. Yang, Ms. Yeh and
Mr. Chen, who acted in concert pursuant to a concert party
agreement. Each of the controlling shareholder, members of
key management and their close family members, including
companies controlled by them or they can exercise significant
influence, are considered as related parties of the Group.

In the opinion of the directors, the related party transactions
were carried out in normal course of business and at terms
negotiated between the Group and the respective related
parties.

35

36

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

BRAREH

B E2023F k20226 12310 A& H
WEEAERKAEE -

BB X 5 R iEER
W—BRENERKEERES S~ HE
EHM R EERR T EREH S —H1TE
BERFEN  METRAREHT - HET
EARES  KRBAFEHBSES - 75
AR DA T o

AN LPT A - AR R B ERARER (AN
Rt HEE BEotRREL)EH &
FRB-BITHALIHHE —BITH - FIEK
BRR - TEEEREMEORFIENXE (8
RANEEFAATEEAZENNAR)
BRRRAE BB -

EZRR BBROIRZIREREBERES
RN B R BB T R IRBUETT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31HIEFE

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 36 R A X H R #EER )

(Continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HARBAHORS
The following is a summary of the significant transactions HZE2023F12A318IEFE W T AAE
carried out between the Group and its related parties during BIEHEER A ZEETNEARINEE -

the year ended 31 December 2023.

Year ended 31 December
H#E12A31BLLEE

2023 2022
20234 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TFT ARET T

With a shareholder and the spouse: EARR R R RS -
Sales of goods HE B - 128

With a company controlled by shareholders: £ & 55 22 &I ) A &)

Service fee ks & 8,502 9,334

Licensing fee = 2,887 =

Sales of goods HEEMm 35 96

Lease payment or payable HEMREMFAERNK 345 =
With non-controlling shareholders of B3P B A B A FEIE AR AR R

subsidiaries:

Agent services income IR AR HA 1,630 =

Service fee AR5 & 2,328 1,437

Amount received on behalf of R 2R BE S 75 WER /) 30 IE

a related party 18,023 15,946

Lease payment or payable HENFFENHEENRK 15,000 =
With an associate of the Group: EARE BB E QT :

Amount paid on behalf of a related party REBE AN 18 =

168 STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT



36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(b)

(c)

(Continued)
Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive and non-
executive), members of the Executive Committee and
respective department heads. The compensation paid or

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZE2023F 12 A31HILEE

36 FAMARXHEREER 2

(b) EREREFH

payable to key management for employee services is shown

TEEEERRES (TREHRT) - #
TZREEKBREMATE - HEERB X
MEMN THEREEBOFMAOT

below:
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLLEE
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTFIT AREFT
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e A NEHMET 7,026 7,882
Balance with related parties (c) HRBEABEER
Trade in nature: =
As at 31 December
®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTT ARETFT
(i)  Trade receivables iy EHEWFIAE
With a non-controlling shareholder of a E1—FE R B A R 2 FEIERR
subsidiary %R 1,727 -
With an entity controlled by shareholders IRERIE G E 28 23 38
1,750 38
(i) Amount due from related parties (i)  FEUEEEE 5 3R
With a non-controlling shareholder of a B — R B A R 2 FEIE A%
subsidiary %R 6,000 -
With an entity controlled by a shareholder B R BR P i Y B B8 97 =
6,097 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12831 BILFE

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(c)

170

(Continued)
Balance with related parties (Continued)

(c)

BEBLORERE)

36 FAMARXHEREER 2

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FTT ARETFT
(i)  Amount due to related parties (i) FETRAE 5 3R
With an entity controlled by shareholders ARG SRR B B A 4,320 =
With a non-controlling shareholder of a £1—FE P B A R) 2 FEIERR
subsidiary %R 17,912 15,946
22,232 15,946
(iv) Prepayments (iv) FEfFE
With an entity controlled by a RGBT
shareholder or shareholders 7,985 -
With a non-controlling shareholder of a £1 — FEI P B A R) 2 FEIERR
subsidiary f& = 1,426 1,501
9,411 1,501
(v)  Other non-current assets () HMERBEE
With a non-controlling shareholder of a 1 —FE R B A R 2 FEIERR
subsidiary %R = 1,376
(vi) Trade payables i) BZEMKIE
With a non-controlling shareholder of a B — B A R 2 FEIE A%
subsidiary A% =R 423 =
With an entity controlled by shareholders AR TSI E R 3,570 1,128
3,993 1,128
The above balances with related parties are trade in nature, BB SR AR HE 28 EIKE

interest-free and with no collaterals and no fixed settlement

date.
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(Continued)

(c) Balance with related parties (Continued)
Non-trade in nature:

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE

36 FAMARXHEREER 2

(c) EHRBEHMREERE)
FEHMNE

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 5 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FTT ARETFT
Amount due from related parties JE U B Bt 5 s
With an associate ERESE & N ) 35 -
With a non-controlling shareholder of a i — B A &2 FEERAR R
subsidiary - 3
35 3

The amounts due from and due to related parties are non-trade
in nature, interest-free and with no collaterals and no fixed
settlement date.

FEM K e RRBE T R RIER HIEE B
BERAREBEESEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

37 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

&0 ) B RO R B i

As at 31 December

®12A318
2023 2022
2023 2022 5
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

Hiat AR¥®TFT ARET T

ASSETS HE

Non-current assets ERBDIE

Investments in subsidiaries R BRARNIEE
Current assets B EE

Prepayments and other current assets T8/~ 2018 & H ith i 8 & &=
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE UL BT /B A R)5RIB

Financial assets at fair value through 1Z A FEF ABZHN SR E E
profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents RekRESEFED

Total assets HE®E

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BaR&RE

Equity attributable to owners of the  F LT HEBAELES
Company

Share capital A& A<

Reserves R

Accumulated losses RitEE

Total equity BoWE

LIABILITIES &aiE

Current liabilities mENAR

Amounts due to subsidiaries FETB B A B FE

Financial instrument with redemption Bt %5 B o] 4 7| Y & @t T &
rights

Trade and other payables g5 R HEMEMRIE

Total liabilities BEMARE

Total equity and liabilities EERABERE

The financial statements on pages 172 to 174 were approved
by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and were signed
on its behalf:

Qian, Sam Zhongshan
gl
Director
EZ
172  STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED E EEZEEER A=

36,895 23,667

36,895 23,667

7,565 13,867

295,106 99,895

16 18,716 =
64,635 85,950

386,022 199,712

422,917 223,379

24 57 38
(a) 464,236 48,029
(b) (72,044) (39,137)
392,249 8,930

30,313 30,562

32 = 178,654
355 5,288

30,668 214,449

422,917 223,379

FI722 174 BT ERREN2024F3 A
27BEESeIE THTIESREREE:

Lai, Kwok Fai Franki
HEE
Director

EF



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

(a)

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

37

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

FLOFIMBRRARME 2

Reserves of the Company () FLFHIEE
Share-hased Currency
Share Capital Treasury payment translation
Premium reserves stocks reserves reserves Total
Bfaxft R%RE
BREE EFHE E&R 40 40 it
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
ANERBTFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
(Note 26) (Note 25)
(Hr##26) (Hr##25)
Balance at 1 January 2022 BOREIB1AMES 175887 23667 (158180) 5,408 (191 44821
Equity-settled share-based EREE RN BEREN
payment transactions NRZS = = = 2,216 = 2216
Currency translation differences  &EH#HEZR - - = = 992 992
Balance at 31 December 2022 #2022 1231 HZ&B 175857 23667  (158,180) 7,624 (969) 48029
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1B 1Az &R 175,887 23,667 (158,180) 1,624 (969) 48,029
Equity-settled share-based BREE RN BERN
payment transactions FRR S - = = 1,058 = 1,058
Capitalisation issuance BALEST (13) - - - - (13)
Currency translation differences SHHEZR - - - - 13,647 13,647
Issuance of ordinary shares upon A2 IRBER BT L BR
global offering 288,701 - - - - 288,701
Derecognition of financial 1R\ FE SR I AR B B R ) 4
instrument with redemption SBIA
rights - 8,663 158,180 - - 166,843
Dividends declared and ADAERRIKTRRE
paid by the Company (54,029) - - - - (54,029)
Balance at 31 December 2023 W2023% 1231 AAOKEE 410546 32,330 . 8,682 12678 464,236
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

37 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37 ELFIMBERAKRMBTE 2
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(b) Accumulated losses () REIR

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TFIT ARETT

At the beginning of the year k) (39,137) (13,497)

Loss for the year FANEE (32,907) (25,640)

At the end of the year FX (72,044) (39,137)
38 SUBSIDIARIES 38 MELAT

The table below lists out the subsidiaries of the Company as FERA NR2023F 12 A31 HE AEB AR

at 31 December 2023 which, in the opinion of the directors, FTREEEFFEFVESBRNHEEFESE

principally affected the results of the year or formed a AED 2 RN RAFIMBRRHN TR °

substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
FRARFHENESR
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
AEER G R, G TEEBRETNY R12A318
2023 2022
2023% 2022
Directly held:
EERT:
o Star Plus Development Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$1 IP planning, management and 100% 100%
licensing at the offshore
level, Hong Kong (“HK")
EENAIBRERLA KBRS IE IP%23 EEREE &F
(T&B])HE
o Star Plus Action (HK) Limited HK HK$1 Investment holdings, HK 100% 100%
EEAYUL(FE)BRAA BE AT RERK BE
o Star Plus Entertainment (HK) Limited ~ HK HK$1 Investment holdings, HK 100% 100%
EEXAIRE(FE)BRAA BE AT RERK  BE

174  STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED E EEZEEER A=



38 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

38 MEAT @)

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
FREARFNANRER
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
ARER B 3 B ERBE IEREREIHE R12A318
2023 2022
2023% 20226
o Star Plus J Movie (HK) Limited HK HK$1 Investment holdings, HK 100% 100%
ERARYE (BE)ERAR BE 1A RERMR  BE
o Secret Music (HK) Limited HK HK$100 [P planning, management and 50% 50%
music production, HK
WERE%(FR)ERAF Bk 10047 IPRE EBRIEHME
BE
o Star Plus Creative Cultural Company ~ Taiwan TW$20,000,000 IP creation and operation, 100% N/A
Limited® Taiwan NiEF
ERRIE(RAERARD =L 220,000,000 IPEEREE A&
Indirectly held:
MERH:
o  Beijing Secret Music Cultural The PRC RMB10,000,000 Inactive, the PRC 50% 50%
Development Company Limited®
IRURBE U BRERAAY  FH AR¥10,0000007  AER - HE
o Kunshan Secret Music Cultural The PRC RMB10,000,000 IP planning, management and 50% 50%
Development Company Limited” offline music performance,
the PRC
BURBRSELERERAA & AR¥100000007c  IPREI ERRETELRE -
i
*  Beijing Star Plus Legend Cultural The PRC RMB10,000,000 IP creation and operation, 100% 100%
Development Company Limited® the PRC
TREEBFULERBRARY HE AR¥100000007t IPEIEREE  HE
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

38 MEAT @)

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
FRARFHENRR
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
ARER B AR T 1S FERRREENG R12A31A
2023 2022
20235 2020
o Beijing Star Plus Action E-Commerce  The PRC RMB10,000,000 Investment holdings, the PRC 100% 100%
Company Limited®
TREENHEFERERAAY  HE AR®10,000000t HEZK - PE
o Kunshan Star Plus Action E-Commerce The PRC RMB100,000,000 Product development, 100% 100%
Company Limited® customer service and order
fulfilment for new retail
business, the PRC
BIWEENHEFERERARY  HE ARE1000000007T #HEREBHERAE T
FRERITERT +
o StarPlus IP (HK) Limited HK HK$1 P licensing, HK 100% 100%
EEXAIRE(FE)BRLA BE LB IPEFAT - &%
o Talent Planet (HK) Limited HK HK$10,000 Planning of online programmes 70% 70%
and concerts, HK
AEEREBEERAA B 10,0005 7T GBIHAREEERE
B
o Talent Planet (Kunshan) Limited” The PRC RMB10,000,000 IP planning, management, 100% 100%
the PRC
BUWRBERLEEERAR  HE AR¥100000007c  IP5E - EE  +E
o Talent Planet (Hangzhou) Limited®  The PRC RMB3,000,000 IP planning, management, 70% 70%
the PRC
MMRBEERULERERRRY  HE AR®3000000T  IPRE - ERE-HH
o Star Plus IP (Shanghai) Creative The PRC RMB500,000 IP licensing, the PRC 100% 100%
Cultural Company Limited®
FBRRERELAEERRAY HE AR 500,000 7T IPEFA] -~ A E

176
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38 MEBA® (&)
Effective equity interest
held by the Group
FEAREHERES
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
ARER AL B ERRE TEREREENY R12A318
2023 2022
20236 20226
o Kunshan JST One Management Centre The PRC RMB1,000,000 Deregistered, the PRC N/A 99.25%
(Limited Partnership)”
BILARREEERD HE AR®1,000000T  ##E-HE REA
(BREH)0
o Kunshan JST Two Management Centre The PRC RMB1,000,000 Inactive, the PRC 95% 99.25%
(Limited Partnership)”
BILAREEEERD HE AR®1000000c  ERHE
(BREH)0
o Star Plus Cultural (Kunshan) The PRC RMB2,000,000 IP planning, management and 100% 100%
Investment Company Limited® licensing at the onshore
level, the PRC
EZXE(BIL) REBRAA HE ARE20000007c  IPRE - EERAA - FH
BA
o Star Plus JST Cultural Development ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 Inactive, the PRC 100% 100%
Company Limited®
BRI (BRI XLER HE AR®10,000000 FER: HEH
BRAFO
*  Hangzhou Star Plus Excellence The PRC RMB10,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
E-Commerce Company Limited® the PRC
MMNERBESFREBKERARY  HE AR®10,000000 BERHER HH
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38

178

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

38 MEAT @)

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
FRARFHENRR
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
ARER B AR T 1S FERRREENG R12A31A
2023 2022
20235 2020
o Star Plus Aiyou (Kunshan) The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
E-Commerce Company Limited® the PRC
REER(RIL)ETHEK HE AR¥5000000 MERSER HE
BRARO
o Star Plus Entertainment (Kunshan) The PRC RMB1,000,000 IP creation and operation, 100% 100%
Company Limited® the PRC
BEE(BIL) XRERARD HE ARE10000007c  IPRIEREE « HE
o Star Plus Excellence (Kunshan) The PRC RMB1,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
E-Commerce Company Limited® the PRC
REIBE(RIL)EFEK HE AR®1000000r BEXZEE - +EH
BRARO
o Star Plus IP (Kunshan) Creative The PRC RMB1,000,000 IP licensing, the PRC 100% 100%
Cultural Company Limited®
BEIBE(RIL)BIEXL HE AR#1,000000c  IPEFA] - R E
BRARO
o Beijing Star Plus Master Cultural The PRC RMB3,000,000 Planning of television, online 10% 70%
Communication Company Limited® programmes and concerts,
the PRC
IRERREERERAAY  FH AR¥3000000c ER-HLEEREEEN
i

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT



38

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

38 ME2T @)

Effective equity interest

held by the Group
FRARFHENRR
Place of Registered Principal activities and
Company name incorporation capital place of operation As at 31 December
ARER B AR T 1S FERRREENG R12A31A
2023 2022
20235 2022
o Star Plus Meishang (Kunshan) The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
E-Commerce Company Limited® the PRC
BEIZEHN(RIL)ETHEK HE AR#5000000r BEXZEEFEH
BRARO
o Star Plus Meiyou (Kunshan) The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
E-Commerce Company Limited® the PRC
BEZER(RIL)ETHEK HE AR¥5000000 MERSER HE
BRARO
o Star Plus Aijia (Kunshan) E-Commerce The PRC RMB5,000,000 On-line trading management, 100% 100%
Company Limited® the PRC
REER(RIL)ETHEK HE AR¥5000000 MERSER - HE
BRARO
o Beijing Xingchuang Fu'an Business ~ The PRC RMB20,000,000 New retail &IP licensing, the 5% NAT#EA
Management Co., Ltd.? PRC
IREAERXHHERERRAY HE AR#20,000,0007  #EERIPFA - RE

names are for identification purpose only.

) The official names of these subsidiaries are in Chinese. The English

- All of the Group’s companies are limited liability companies.

O ZEMBRARAMNENBWRPX - EXERE

a2l

0 AEBAELAREREREERA -
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39

40

40.1

180

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2024, the Group subscribed certain wealth
management products amounting to HK$80,000,000 and with
fixed interest rate of 5.5%, using the deposit in the brokerage
account opened in the licensed financial institution (Note
21(b)).

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for
business combinations not under common control by the
Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of

subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated financial
statements.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

39

40

40.1

M&FER

R2024F 18 AEBERERSRSR
BERINELESRNERRBEA #
80,000,000 7 & T & & 7| & 73 5.5% &) 12
BHEER (HHEE21(b)) «

Hfhfae E XSt B R B E

P B 22 B
MERREASEERENENAEELR -
MASEER2EERLENAERREE
REFETWAIEBONR - BENEREE
BRERFETNENIZEZSTER  AIAE
EEHZER - WBARBEFEERER
SEZBREZHASA AR BEGEKILR
HIR AR FAR A AR ©

AEBEFEAEWRBERLIELRZEST
MEBEHAR -

RAERS  BHEEERRERZHKRE
B T 4 - RIER B REE BRBRA
EEREECRE BRAKREREBITGHHE -
MEBARMEABRERNLERELENR
FEOR BN 65 [ P SR AN AV BRSR — B e

B A REE R ER AR IEERERE NS
EMBERPEBIR
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

40.3 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights.

Investments in associates

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting in accordance with IAS 28. Under
the equity method, the investments is initially recognised at
cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’s share of profit or loss of the investee
and the share of other comprehensive income of the investee
after the date of acquisition. Dividends received or receivable
from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investments. The Group’s investments in these
associates include goodwill identified on acquisition, net of
any accumulated impairment loss. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income or loss is reclassified to consolidated statements of
comprehensive income or loss where appropriate.

e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31ALFE

40 HfhnfReE XS BREE 2

40.2 HIIMBRE

A Y B A Bl IR B R B AN ORI B FI BR © X
AERERXBEREKRA - HERRNES
TIRAR BHZE WBLE R EYGRIR R E AR -

fi fe SR M B A R EIRALE B 2 E K
SARER - MBI M B RER TR EREER
HEREMBRRATREHREEFE (B
ERE) REE JAR B ZREWRRK
B HIBARMNZEREETRER -

403 BERT]

BERREMAASEHEEEAZED
BT B S IR HIE R ERE - MAKE
WBERFBE20% Z50% 1R EHE °

REELERRE
REERNBNRERRER S ERIE28

SREMRERGHEAR - RIEEDE - RE
TR ATER - W& =LA EREEA
EARNKBARRREEREREERY
BalEERESSNEBE2EKES - 21U
FEWHENRREERRRERAED
HRE - AEERZEHERRNRERR
WisRERNEE - KR EM REFHRERS
B WB-—RKBERRMBEERR %
2R B HY AR B S SR R A B 2 8 ) AT A
BIBERBEFAFEZANEAEEE

MRBMERRNMAEE DR EDEHR
FEEARPE RERUHIBZATEE MBS
ERETHIANBBENIBRERAEA
Bamk (WEE) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
EHZE2023F12A31ALLFE

40

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.3 Associates (Continued)

182

The Group’s share of the associates’ post-acquisition
profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or loss. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate are
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to “Share of losses of investments accounted
for using the equity method” in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are

recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers (“CODMs”). The CODMs, who are responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, have been identified as the Executive
Directors that make strategic decisions.

40.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
companies comprising the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which these
companies operate (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company and the companies outside of PRC
is Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”). The functional currency of
the companies in PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB which is the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at period-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within “other gains/
(losses), net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences
on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss.
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40

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.6 Property, plant and equipment

184

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Land and buildings 30 years

Computers 5 years

Furniture, fixture and 5-10 years
equipment

Leasehold Over the shorter of their expected
improvements useful lives and the lease terms

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 40.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within “Other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

STAR PLUS LEGEND HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHEBER AT

40 HfhnfReE XS BREE 2

40.6 W% - BE R

WE  BERRBHRESLKARRFITE
NZFREREE (WA IR - ELKAR
REBZEHBEREENMX

2B RIE B M RREERN A LR AR
S8 BZAEBHRARER A SEHET B -
TERERKAGABERMENERRS
BYEE (WER) - BERE S M REER
WRIEHERR - TBEEMGEREERNEL
MM BHRERS 2ERERAE

M BERREFTEDABRESE A
REGFAERFHABERAESEHR
RIerBE FEOT

T RETF 304

B 54
RE -BEXKE bHEI0F
S
HEXE BHAERFHLEE
ez 8EE

7 2 ) FI 04 1L R A 48 PR R O B TS R
A HEATRE - R TR % -

HEERAESNEMGATREESE - A%
B B R I B B B O 2 EL AT W 2 R (Rt
7£40.8) °

HEMRERERTEBLEMEREAR
FREEET  YRHEREEERERIEAMK
=/ (B18) - FHEINER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.7 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Software and technologies

Acquired computer software licenses and other technologies
are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised
on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 10
years.

Music copyrights

The Group acquired music copyrights for music contents and
these acquired copyrights are stated at costs less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. These costs are expensed to the
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss based on the
pattern of which their future economic benefit useful life are
expected be consumed by the Group, being straight line over
their license periods, generally 5 years.

Licensed intellectual properties

Acquired licensed intellectual properties is capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to design and produce, and
amortised on a straight-line method over its estimated useful
lives of 4 years.

40.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of
assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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40

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.9 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

186

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or through
profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Subseqguent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the group classifies its debt instruments:

Debt instruments

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in “finance income” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognised in “other losses, net”. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other losses, net” and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement
of profit or loss.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented net in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income within

“other losses, net” in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present
fair value gains and losses on equity instruments in OCI, there
is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses
to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive

payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in “other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported

separately from other changes in fair value.

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
Note 3.1 details how the Group determines whether there has

been a significant increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over

the expected life of the financial assets.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the

assets, see Note 3.1(b) for details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

40.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

40.10

40.11

Impairment (Continued)

In addition, management also reviews the credit risk of
individual debtors by considering the relationship with
customers and their financial position to assess whether further
provision was needed at the end of the reporting period.

Impairment of other receivables are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy
of the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting
rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
applicable variable selling expense.
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40.12

40.13

40.14

190

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. Trade and other receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are classified as current
assets, except for those with maturities greater than twelve
months after the financial position date are classified as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Details about the group’s impairment
policies and the calculation of the loss allowance are provided
in Note 3.1(b).

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand and deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash subjected to restriction, assessment is made on the
economic substance of the restriction and whether they meet
the definition of cash and cash equivalents.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a
financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss as finance costs.
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40.16

40.17

(a)

192

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowings and horrowing costs (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of ti